

Delft University of Technology

Dissemination Of Antibiotic Resistance Via Wastewater And Surface Water

Paulus, G.K.

DOI 10.4233/uuid:70c78e3e-618c-4ede-a0ee-e1379a6e598a

Publication date 2021

Document Version Final published version

Citation (APA)

Paulus, G. K. (2021). *Dissemination Of Antibiotic Resistance Via Wastewater And Surface Water*. [Dissertation (TU Delft), Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:70c78e3e-618c-4edea0ee-e1379a6e598a

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This work is downloaded from Delft University of Technology. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to a maximum of 10.

Propositions

accompanying the dissertation

"Dissemination Of Antibiotic Resistance Via Wastewater And Surface Water"

by

Gabriela Karina PAULUS

- Tackling antibiotic resistance of anthropogenic origin at the source is most efficient [this thesis, Chapter 2]
- Continuous advocacy for qPCR as the "gold standard" in ARG research could well be an example of the sunk-cost fallacy at work [this thesis, Chapter 5]
- Ignoring the point of intersection between high antibiotic and AR concentration anthropogenic environments and aquatic environments increases risk for HGT and ARG propagation [this thesis, Chapter 4]
- More standards and conventions, as well as better proxies for antibiotic resistance of anthropogenic origin are sorely needed in the field of environmental research of antibiotic resistance [this thesis, Chapter 3]
- Continuous above-average efficiency is achievable only with extensive periods of rest in between
- To increase women ratios in STEM we need to stop propagating the stereotype of what a "typical" scientist looks or acts like and how she is supposed to express herself
- Machine learning is the future of all scientific disciplines. It will substantially help the efforts against antibiotic resistance
- Regularly hitting the gym improves academic performance
- While big data could help bring solutions to many issues today, big data centers are ravaging water conservation efforts and might lead to disastrous outcomes if unregulated, especially in arid areas
- Health care and education are not privileges, they are human rights



These propositions are regarded as opposable and defendable, and have been approved as such by promotors Prof. dr. G. J. Medema and Prof. dr. T. Beredonk.

"Dissemination Of Antibiotic Resistance Via Wastewater And Surface Water"

Gabriela Karina Paulus



"Dissemination Of Antibiotic Resistance Via Wastewater And Surface Water"

Dissertation

for the purpose of obtaining the degree of doctor at Delft University ofTechnology, by the authority of the Rector Magnificus, Prof.dr.ir. T.H.J.J. van der Hagen, chair of the Board for Doctorates to be defended publicly on Monday 1 March 2021 at 17:30 o'clock

by

Gabriela Karina PAULUS

Master of Science in Drug Research, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Germany, born in Darmstadt, Germany This dissertation has been approved by the promotors.

Composition of the doctoral committee: Rector Magnificus, Cha Prof. dr. G. J. Medema Prof. dr. rer. habil. T. Berendonk Tea

Chairperson Delft University of Technology, promotor Technische Universität Dresden, copromotor

Independent members: Prof. dr. ir. J. P. Van der Hoek Dr. ir. D. G. Weissbrodt Prof. dr. A. Pruden Prof. dr. T. Schwartz Dr. E. Cytryn V

k Delft University of Technology Delft University of Technology Virginia Tech, USA K.I.T./ Hochschule Mannheim, Germany Volcani Center, Israel

Dr. L. M. Hornstra has contributed greatly to the preparation of this dissertation.









Horizon 2020 European Union Funding for Research & Innovation

Copyright © 2021 by G. K. Paulus

An electronic version of this dissertation is available at

http://repository.tudelft.nl/.

"Aprender a dudar es aprender a pensar"

Octavio Paz

Summary

Antibiotic resistance is one of the biggest threats society is facing around the globe and has been on the rise worldwide. While antibiotic resistances play crucial roles in shaping and coordinating microbial communities in natural environments, they can lead to disastrous results when acquired by pathogens in clinical environments. Effective antibiotics not only enable the functioning and interactions necessary for our highly globalized world, but also drive advances in healthcare and are the deciding factor facilitating life-saving medical intervention such as open-heart surgery, organ transplants and chemotherapy. Increasing resistance antibiotics is threatening the medical status quo, as well as social and economic stability (*Chapter 1*). Water environments, especially anthropogenically impacted environments such as wastewater treatment plants, are suspected to be - not only reservoirs for antibiotic resistance genes but also hotspots for horizontal gene transfer. Knowledge about the impact of anthropogenically impacted aqueous environments is needed in order to be able to uncover the processes, parameters and mechanisms underlying and facilitating the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in order to be able to implement practical, useful and efficient measures in order to reduce the spread of antibiotic resistance and to reduce anthropogenic impact of antibiotic and antibiotic resistance gene pollution in the environment (*Chapter 1*).

Equally important for accurate risk assessment, is the question how persistent anthropogenically sourced antibiotic resistance gene pollution is in the environment. The answer to this question is not solely important from an environmental and ecological point of view. Persistence of antibiotics and resistance genes in natural environment also increase risk for transfer and re-introduction to anthropogenic environments. The results of *Chapter 3* show that anthropogenically introduced antibiotic resistance does not necessarily persist in the aqueous phase of large rivers. They further show that regional environmental and anthropogenic factors can strongly affect antibiotic concentrations and variety locally. High-risk point sources, such as wastewater effluents from the pharmaceutical industry can have an especially pronounced impact. Results also show, that better proxies are needed in order to estimate overall antibiotic resistance gene pollution from anthropogenic sources.

To further investigate the importance of potential high-risk point sources, the lasting impact of highly polluted hospital wastewater on the subsequent communal wastewater system was investigated in Chapter 2. To this end two hospitals and the receiving communal wastewater systems, including influents and effluents from the receiving wastewater treatment plants were monitored. Advanced on-site treatment of hospital wastewater was conducted at only one of these two locations. The results confirm that hospital wastewaters are more hazardous than regular communal wastewater in terms of antibiotic as well as antibiotic resistance genes variety and concentration, with hospital wastewaters harboring 0.4 to 1.8-fold higher relative antibiotic resistance genes concentration. They further show, that untreated wastewater from high-risk point sources have a significant and lasting impact on the entire receiving wastewater system including introduction of hospitalassociated antibiotic resistance genes and antibiotics. This impact extends to the communal wastewater treatment plant effluent, which directly affects the receiving natural water body. On-site treatment of high-risk point sources could thus be shown to have a significant positive impact in term of risk mitigation and effective hazard control. Nine out of thirteen detected antibiotic resistance genes could not be detected anymore after advanced, on-site treatment.

A lot of research has been done to investigate the effect of different antibiotic concentrations on antibiotic resistance. A large part of this research is, however, focused on inhibitory concentrations and isolated bacteria (often pathogens). However, wastewater largely contains guite low antibiotic concentrations in the sub-inhibitory range and bacterial interactions and competition can play a significant role in the propagation of antibiotic resistance genes. *Chapter 4* aims to examine the effect of various tetracycline concentrations, including sub-inhibitory concentrations, on horizontal gene transfer and resistance and growth of complex microbial communities. The results reveal that low subinhibitory tetracycline concentrations can be a significantly stronger driver of antibiotic resistance gene propagation than higher concentrations. Under some conditions, subinhibitory tetracycline conentrations of 0.0015 µg/ml increased resistance-carrying plasmid concentrations up to 2-fold more than tetracycline concentrations of $>10 \mu g/ml$. The results in this chapter further show, that the effect of different antibiotic concentrations on horizontal gene transfer are strongly matrix-dependent. The possession of antibiotic resistance genes may not be sufficiently advantageous for enhanced bacterial growth, even under moderately selective conditions, when resistant bacteria are embedded in a complex bacterial community. A non-native donor bacterium could thus be shown to have no selective advantage over native wastewater community bacteria under inhibitory tetracycline concentrations. An advantage could only be documented under 10-fold elevated inhibitory tetracycline concentrations. The significance of matrix effects should not be underestimated and a lot more research will be necessary in this area. Environments that serve as contact zones for high-resistance, anthropogenically polluted wastewater effluent and low antibiotic concentration natural environments might be of especial interest for risk assessment, as high-resistance bacteria in combination with sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentration may notably increase the risk for horizontal gene transfer.

One peculiarity of environmental biological research is that the largest part of environmental microorganisms cannot be cultured in laboratory environments. This increases the dependency on molecular methods for research. Real-time (quantitive) polymerase chain reaction has long since been the method of choice to obtain insight into the inner workings of non-cultivable environmental microorganisms. With the rise of next generation sequencing as well as steadily decreasing costs hereof, an increasing number of research is being conducted with this newer method. Despite the vastly different molecular mechanisms behind these two technologies, results are frequently compared across the board. *Chapter* 5 concerns itself with the more basic (but deeply relevant) question of method comparability. Further, the status quo of qPCR as the "gold standard" for environmental antibiotic resistance research is challenged. The results in this chapter show, not only that NGS has vast advantageous in antibiotic resistance gene detection (presence of the gene), but is also nearly equally accurate for relative antibiotic resistance gene quantification. 50% of all WGS quantification results were within the range of -50% to + 100% of qPCR results, while 86% was guantified with <1-log difference from gPCR results. Machine-learning models were shown to be especially beneficial to antibiotic resistance gene detection, when compared to gPCR or non-machine-learning bioinformatic pipelines for NGS data analysis. Genes present at very low concentrations were the exception as their concentration was often vastly overestimated by NGS methods. A combination of initial NGS screening of samples with subsequent targeted, informed choice of genes of interest tailored to the research question (based on NGS results), can be recommended as the most advantageous plan of action. Additionally, gPCR results could be analyzed in context and potential selection bias on results and conclusions thus be reduced.

Chapter 6 offers a concluding perspective. This chapter includes a reconciling discussion, taking up the "red threat" of this thesis and unifying the different chapters. It further points out recommendations and implications of the combined thesis results and gives a brief

8

outlook, highlighting the importance of machine learning and wastewater-based epidemiology for the future of antibiotic resistance research.

Samenvatting

Antibioticaresistentie is een van de grootste bedreigingen waarmee de samenleving vandaag de dag wereldwijd wordt geconfronteerd en is wereldwijd in opkomst. Hoewel antibioticaresistentie een cruciale rol speelt bij de vorming en coördinatie van microbiële gemeenschappen in een natuurlijke omgeving, kan het leiden tot desastreuze resultaten wanneer het door ziekteverwekkers in een klinische omgeving wordt verworven. Werkende antibiotica maken niet alleen het functioneren en de interacties mogelijk die nodig zijn voor onze sterk geglobaliseerde wereld, maar stimuleren ook de vooruitgang in de gezondheidszorg en zijn de doorslaggevende factor voor levensreddende medische interventies zoals openhartoperaties, orgaantransplantaties en chemotherapie. De toenemende resistentie-antibiotica bedreigt de medische status quo en de sociale en economische stabiliteit (*hoofdstuk 1*). Watermilieus, met name antropogene omgevingen zoals afvalwaterzuiveringsinstallaties, worden verdacht van - niet alleen - reservoirs voor antibioticaresistentiegenen, maar ook van hotspots voor horizontale genoverdracht. Kennis over de impact van antropogene beïnvloede wateromgevingen is nodig om de processen, parameters en mechanismen die ten grondslag liggen aan en de overdracht van antibioticaresistentiegenen te kunnen blootleggen, zodat praktische, nuttige en efficiënte maatregelen kunnen worden genomen om de verspreiding van antibioticaresistentie te beperken en de antropogene impact van antibiotica- en antibioticaresistentiegenenvervuiling in het milieu te verminderen (*hoofdstuk 1*).

Even belangrijk voor een nauwkeurige risicobeoordeling is de vraag hoe hardnekkig de antropogene genverontreiniging door antibioticaresistentie in het milieu is. Het antwoord op deze vraag is niet alleen van belang vanuit milieu- en ecologisch oogpunt. Persistentie van antibiotica en resistentiegenen in het natuurlijke milieu verhogen ook het risico op overdracht en herintroductie naar een antropogene geïntroduceerde antibioticaresistentie niet noodzakelijkerwijs in de waterige fase van grote rivieren blijft bestaan. Ze tonen verder aan dat regionale milieu- en antropogene factoren lokaal een sterke invloed kunnen hebben op de antibioticaconcentraties en -variatie. Vooral risicovolle puntbronnen, zoals afvalwater van de farmaceutische industrie, kunnen een grote invloed hebben. De resultaten tonen ook aan dat er betere proxies nodig zijn om de totale antibioticaresistentiegenenvervuiling door antropogene bronnen in te schatten.

Om het belang van mogelijke risicovolle puntbronnen verder te onderzoeken, werd in hoofdstuk 2 de blijvende impact van sterk vervuild ziekenhuisafvalwater op het daaropvolgende gemeentelijke afvalwatersysteem onderzocht. Daartoe werden twee ziekenhuizen en de ontvangende gemeentelijke afvalwatersystemen, inclusief de influenten en effluenten van de ontvangende afvalwaterzuiveringsinstallaties, onderzocht. Op slechts één van deze twee locaties werd een geavanceerde behandeling van het ziekenhuisafvalwater plaatse uitgevoerd. De resultaten bevestigen dat ter ziekenhuisafvalwater gevaarlijker is dan gewoon gemeentelijk afvalwater, zowel wat betreft de verscheidenheid aan antibiotica als de antibioticaresistentiegenen en de concentratie. Ze tonen verder aan dat onbehandeld afvalwater van hoogrisicobronnen een significante en blijvende impact heeft op het hele ontvangende afvalwatersysteem, inclusief de introductie van ziekenhuisgerelateerde antibioticaresistentiegenen en antibiotica. Deze impact strekt zich uit tot het effluent van de gemeenschappelijke afvalwaterzuiveringsinstallatie, dat een directe impact heeft op het ontvangende natuurlijke waterlichaam. De behandeling ter plaatse van bronnen met een hoog risico zou dus een significant positief effect kunnen hebben op het gebied van risicobeperking en effectieve risicobeheersing.

Er is veel onderzoek gedaan naar het effect van verschillende antibioticaconcentraties op de antibioticaresistentie. Een groot deel van dit onderzoek is echter gericht op remmende concentraties en geïsoleerde bacteriën (vaak ziekteverwekkers). Afvalwater bevat echter grotendeels vrij lage antibioticaconcentraties in het subremmende bereik en bacteriële interacties en concurrentie kunnen een belangrijke rol spelen bij de verspreiding van antibioticaresistentiegenen. In *hoofdstuk* 4 wordt het effect van verschillende tetracyclineconcentraties, waaronder subremmende concentraties, op de horizontale genoverdracht en de resistentie en groei van complexe microbiële gemeenschappen onderzocht. De resultaten laten zien dat lage subremmende tetracyclineconcentraties een significant sterkere motor kunnen zijn voor de vermeerdering van antibioticaresistentiegenen dan hogere concentraties. De resultaten in dit hoofdstuk tonen verder aan, dat het effect van verschillende antibioticaconcentraties op horizontale genoverdracht sterk matrixafhankelijk is. Het bezit van antibioticaresistentiegenen is mogelijk niet voldoende voordelig om de groei van bacteriën te bevorderen, zelfs onder matig selectieve omstandigheden, wanneer resistente bacteriën ingebed zijn in een complexe bacteriële gemeenschap. Een niet-inheemse donorbacterie zou dus aantoonbaar geen selectief voordeel hebben ten opzichte van inheemse bacteriën uit de afvalwatergemeenschap onder remmende tetracyclineconcentraties. Een voordeel kon alleen worden gedocumenteerd onder 10voudige verhoogde remmende tetracyclineconcentraties. Het belang van matrixeffecten mag niet worden onderschat en er zal veel meer onderzoek nodig zijn op dit gebied. Omgevingen die dienen als contactzones voor hoge resistentie, antropogeen verontreinigd afvalwater en lage antibioticaconcentratie natuurlijke omgevingen, kunnen van bijzonder belang zijn voor de risicobeoordeling, aangezien bacteriën met hoge resistentie in combinatie met subremmende antibioticaconcentratie met name het risico op horizontale genoverdracht kunnen verhogen.

Een bijzonderheid van milieubiologisch onderzoek is dat het grootste deel van de microorganismen in het milieu niet in een laboratoriumomgeving kan worden gekweekt. Dit vergroot de afhankelijkheid van moleculaire methoden voor onderzoek. Realtime (kwantitatieve) polymerasekettingreactie is allang de methode bij uitstek om inzicht te krijgen in de innerlijke werking van niet-kweekbare micro-organismen in het milieu. Met de opkomst van next generation seguencing en de gestaag afnemende kosten hiervan, wordt steeds meer onderzoek gedaan met deze nieuwere methode. Ondanks de sterk verschillende moleculaire mechanismen achter deze twee technologieën worden de resultaten vaak over de hele linie met elkaar vergeleken. Hoofdstuk 5 gaat over de meer fundamentele (maar zeer relevante) kwestie van de vergelijkbaarheid van de methode. Verder wordt de status quo van gPCR als "gouden standaard" voor onderzoek naar antibioticaresistentie in het milieu op de proef gesteld. De resultaten in dit hoofdstuk laten NGS niet alleen een groot voordeel heeft zien dat bij de detectie van antibioticaresistentiegenen (aanwezigheid van het gen), maar ook bijna even nauwkeurig is voor de relatieve kwantificering van antibioticaresistentiegenen. Machine-learning model bleek vooral gunstig te zijn voor antibioticaresistentie gen detectie, in vergelijking met gPCR of niet-machine-learning bioinformaticapijplijnen voor NGS data analyse. Genen die bij zeer lage concentraties aanwezig waren, waren de uitzondering, omdat hun concentratie vaak enorm werd overschat door NGS-methoden. Een combinatie van de eerste NGS screening van monsters met de daaropvolgende gerichte, geïnformeerde keuze van interessante genen, afgestemd op de onderzoeksvraag (op basis van NGS resultaten), kan worden aanbevolen als het meest accurate plan van aanpak. Bovendien kunnen de gPCR-resultaten in de context worden geanalyseerd en kunnen potentiële selectievooroordelen op de resultaten en conclusies zo worden gereduceerd.

Hoofdstuk 6 biedt een sluitend perspectief. Dit hoofdstuk bevat een samenvattende discussie, de verschillende hoofdstukken worden samengevoegd, en wijst op de aanbeveling

11

en implicatie van de resultaten van het proefschrift en geeft een kort toekomstperspectief, waarbij het belang van machinaal leren en op afvalwater gebaseerde epidemiologie voor de toekomst van het onderzoek naar antibioticaresistentie wordt benadrukt.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	7
SAMENVATTING	10
1. INTRODUCTION	15
1.1. MOTIVATION FOR THIS RESEARCH OR "THE POST-ANTIBIOTIC ERA – A DYSTOPIAN FUTURE?"	15
1.2. BACKGROUND	15
1.3. THE PROBLEM AT HAND	24
2. THE IMPACT OF ON-SITE HOSPITAL WASTEWATER TREATMENT ON THE DOWNS COMMUNAL WASTEWATER SYSTEM IN TERMS OF ANTIBIOTICS AND ANTIBIOTIC R	<u>TREAM</u> RESISTANCE
GENES	28
21 Αρετραστ	20
	30
2.3. METHODS AND MATERIALS	30
2.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	34
2.5. Conclusion	42
2.6. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	43
3. INTERNATIONAL TEMPO-SPATIAL STUDY OF ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE ACROSS T	HE RHINE RIVER
USING NEWLY DEVELOPED MULTIPLEX QPCR ASSAYS	55
3.1. Abstract	56
3.2. INTRODUCTION	57
3.3. METHODS AND MATERIALS	58
3.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	61
3.5. CONCLUSION	69
3.6. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	70
4. THE IMPACT OF SUB-INHIBITORY AND INHIBITORY TETRACYCLINE CONCENTRAT	IONS ON
HORIZONTAL GENE TRANSFER AND BACTERIAL WASTEWATER EFFLUENT COMMUN	<u>NITY</u>
COMPOSITION	79
4.1. Abstract	80
4.2. INTRODUCTION	81
4.3. METHODS AND MATERIALS	82
4.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	85
4.5. CONCLUSION	94
4.6. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	95

5. COMPARISON OF QPCR AND DIFFERENT NEXT-GENERATION SEQUENCING ANALYSIS METHODSFOR THE ANALYSIS OF ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLES102

5.1. Abstract	103
5.2. INTRODUCTION	104
5.3. METHODS AND MATERIALS	106
5.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	109
5.5. CONCLUSION	115
5.6. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	116
6. CONCLUDING CHAPTER: "WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE?"	124
6.1. CONCLUDING DISCUSSION	125
6.2. IMPLICATIONS FOR SOCIETY AND RECOMMENDATIONS	128
6.3. QUESTIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	130
6.4. PERSPECTIVES	132
7. BIBLIOGRAPHY	133
8. SCIENTIFIC ACHIEVEMENTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS	151
8.1. LIST OF PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS	151
8.2. LIST OF AWARDS AND FELLOWSHIPS	151
8.3. INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTIONS	151
9. ABOUT THE AUTHOR	152
10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	153

1. Introduction

1.1. Motivation for this research or "The post-antibiotic era – a dystopian future?"

Antibiotic resistance is on the rise globally. Bacterial microorganisms have proven to be formidable adversaries. Up to date, they have been able to render every single one of our antimicrobial weapons useless. Steadily increasing hygienic standards have been able to keep humanity a step ahead in the majority of cases. However, even today people are dying from infections caused by resistant microorganisms. The most recent viral pandemic has shown the global community its limits; it has demonstrated the fragility of societal structures and the pitfalls of a globalized world in the face of nature's scourges unleashed.

Fortunately, COVID-19 is but <u>one</u> virus and the collaborative efforts for a vaccine started strong and fast. In the cases of bacterial microbes, we are even more fortunate, as most bacteria are still susceptible to at least a portion of antibiotics in our arsenal. Scientists are intensely researching antibiotic resistance to avoid a future in which humanity does not have any safeguard against bacteria left. Such a future would be appallingly worse than the latest pandemic crisis and the probability to be able to design effective, safe vaccines for the myriad of bacterial pathogens would be slim to none.

The general public has recently had a peek into what a post-antibiotic era could look like. Similar to the current pandemic, a large majority of the world's population would be at risk in case of infection and the potential for a collapse of the health care systems would once again become tangible, due to missing effective treatments. Society and the global economy could suffer the consequences of constant on-alert health policies. Critical and selective medical procedures could be compromised due to the increased risk for infection (e.g. openheart surgery) or the danger to compromise patients' immune systems (e.g. chemotherapy treatment) without the safety blankets of effective treatment against infections.

The work in this thesis was conducted in order to generate knowledge about antibiotic resistance, its spread and the importance of its reduction, and thus contribute to the global fight against antibiotic resistance.

1.2. Background

1.2.1 A SHORT HISTORY OF ANTIBIOTIC DISCOVERY

Penicillin, the first commercially produced antibiotic, was first discovered by Alexander Fleming in 1928¹. After a lagging period during which Penicillin was largely ignored, US American officials brought into life a large-scale collaboration to overcome corporate reluctance to spend resources investigating this little-known compound. The aim of this collaboration was to provide large-scale production of Penicillin for military efforts, based on successful early human trials and the development of methods to mass-produce Penicillin at

Oxford. During World War II, Penicillin was seen as a tool that would play "a critical role in the recovery of manpower"².

After the war, pharmaceutical companies rapidly developed an interest in antimicrobial research and advanced antibiotic discovery based on a method introduced by Selman Waksman that systematically screens soil antibiotic-producing soil microbes. From the 1940s to the 1960s a "golden era" for antibiotic research emerged, during which a large number of antibiotic classes with different modes of action were discovered ³. The discovery of followed bv chloramphenicol (1949), was auickly tetracyclines (1950), macrolides/lincosamides/streptogramins (1952), glycopeptides (1956), rifamycins (1957), nitroimidazoles (1959), quinolones (1962) and trimethoprim (1968)⁴. Antibiotic compounds were further designed by (semi-) synthesis in order to increase efficacy and the scale of production or to reduce side-effects and toxicity for otherwise efficient antibiotics ⁵. In the last few decades advanced sequencing technologies have additionally enabled new opportunities for antibiotic discovery by taking advantage of the enormous wealth of microbial genomes 5.

Nevertheless, discovery of new antibiotics has drastically decreased since the 1970s and has come to a near halt in the last three decades ^{3–8}. This pronounced decline is clearly apparent in the low number of new antibiotics that have made it to market for clinical use in the last decades, for example: only one antibiotic from a newly discovered antibiotic class has been marketed for clinical use within the last 50 years ^{7,9}. Recently, a research team from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University has discovered a new antibiotic class with promising pharmacokinetic properties ¹⁰, however investigations into clinical potential and safety are in the early stage at best.

1.2.2 The emergence of antibiotic resistance

Parallel to the new abundance of clinical antibiotics in the 20th century, came the increasing resistance of bacterial pathogens ^{11,12}. However, before clinical resistance was natural resistance. As commercial antibiotics largely originated from (soil) microorganisms, it will not come as a surprise that natural antibiotic resistance is ubiquitous in nature. Apart from "antibiotic warfare" and the use of antibiotics for selective advantages against competitors, environmental bacterial communities use antibiotics for a large array of tasks, including signaling, metabolic diversification and community forming ^{13–22}. Resistance can occur due to different reasons ²³: (1) some bacteria are intrinsically resistant to certain antibiotic, e.g. gram-negative bacteria are resistant to a number of antibiotics that attach the cell wall owing to their outer cell wall which prevents certain compounds from passing through it (2) spontaneous mutation can lead to resistance (3) horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements can propagate resistance from resistant to susceptible microorganisms.

Natural resistance had, however, not been a problem before the introduction of commercial antibiotics. The larger problem was the appearance of clinical resistance. Shortly after the large-scale introduction of antibiotics, euphoria ensued and the general public as well as some experts believed that a total triumph over infectious diseases was in grasping distance ⁴. Mortality from infectious diseases dropped drastically^{5,8,24}, a 20-fold decrease of death rates from infectious disease could be recorded from 1900 to 1980 ²⁴. And while a large part of that decrease is a result of better hygienic standard and vaccinations ²⁵, calculations from the U.S. government estimate that the use of antibiotic might have added as much as 10 years to life expectancy in the United States ²⁶.

The euphoria regarding a victory over pathogens was premature. As early as 1945, Alexander Fleming had warned against the dangers of antibiotic resistance. During his Nobel Prize lecture he stated that: "[...]*It is not difficult to make microbes resistant to penicillin in the laboratory by exposing them to concentrations not sufficient to kill them, and the same thing has occasionally happened in the body. The time may come when penicillin can be bought by anyone in the shops. Then there is the danger that the ignorant man may easily underdose himself and by exposing his microbes to non-lethal quantities of the drug make them resistant.[...]"²⁷. Looking back at the development of antibiotic resistance over the last few decades, Fleming's words have a prophetic sound to them. In fact, the first cases of antibiotic resistance were published in 1940, even before the commercial introduction of penicillin ²⁸. Penicillin resistance threatened to throw society back to the pre-antibiotic era, but new antibiotics and antibiotic classes were discovered and disaster postponed ²⁹.*

At the same time antibiotic overuse, misuse, inappropriate prescriptions, non-essential agricultural use as well as inadequate disposal and insufficient guidelines intensified issues regarding antibiotic resistance ²⁹. The race between science and bacteria started, and resistances to most newly introduced antibiotics developed in clinically relevant strains years or sometimes mere months after their introduction ²⁹. One example of the speed and ease with which resistances can form is P.*aeruginosa*. The first ceftazidime resistant strain was discovered in 1991, only 5 years after its introduction into the markets. The reason was the mutation of the β -lactamase resistance gene bla_{OXA10}, two mutations on this gene were enough to result in bla_{OXA11} and confer resistance to ceftazidime ³⁰. Society has been in this race against microorganisms for decades and in the last few years, the sharply decreased number of new antibiotics has tilted the board in favor of the microorganisms.

1.2.3 CURRENT SITUATION AND SOCIETAL IMPACT

Antibiotic resistance has been on the rise. It has reached a level at which it is a peril to human life, public health, society and the economy ³¹. Multidrug resistance is a widespread issue and the cause of a large number of nosocomial infections ^{32–36}.In the United States more than 35.000 people die from infections with antibiotic resistant organisms per year ³⁷, in the European Union that number is approximately 33.000 ³⁸. This translates into nearly one death every 15 minutes in each of the two regions. Additionally, current estimated expenses caused by antibiotic resistance range as high as 1.5 Billion Euros per year, in Europe alone ³⁹. Globally, some estimations predict that, by 2050, as many as 10 million people will die from antibiotic resistance annually and global GDP could be lowered by up to 3.5% from direct and indirect causes associated with antibiotic resistance ⁴⁰.

The damage to human well-being and risk to society cannot easily be monetarily captured but can be said to be one of the most devastating effects of antibiotic resistance. Antibiotic resistance pathogens are further not solely a threat in and of themselves, they have also been shown to be able aggravate patients health as secondary infections, which could be especially perilous during situations such as the current COVID-19 pandemic ⁴¹. Apart from being therapeutics against infections, antibiotics have long since become the backbone of modern medicine. They are extensively used for prophylactic purposes and essential medical interventions, such as chemotherapy, invasive surgery or neonatal care (to just name a few), would in many cases become unacceptably more dangerous without efficient antibiotics ^{29,42}.

Globalization and increased global mobility are rapidly increasing the spread and advance of antibiotic resistance, across regions and ignoring national borders ^{43–46}. However, the

medical, societal and economic damage is not and will not be equally distributed. Poor countries are disproportionately more at risk ⁴⁷. In India, 58.000 newborns died from infections with antibiotic resistant bacteria, passed on by their mothers, within one year in 2013 ⁴⁸. Of the estimated 10 million annual deaths from antimicrobial resistance by 2050, nearly 90% are calculated to occur in Africa and Asia ⁴⁹. Among the many reasons to be found for this misbalance are often underdeveloped national antibiotic stewardship programs ⁵⁰ and frequent antibiotic misuse and abuse ⁵¹. Many of these countries further have a scarcity of clean water or access to it. Introducing water and sanitation infrastructure was shown to decrease the cases of water-borne diarrhea and associated antibiotic use and have a decrease potential of up to 60% ⁴⁰. More generally, a report by the world bank states that "putting resources into AMR containment now is one of the highest-yield investments countries can make", with low and middle income countries obtaining the largest benefit from such investments ⁴⁷.

Tackling antibiotic resistance therefore requires a global "One Health"-approach with combined efforts from governments, legislators, medical personnel, researchers, the general public and commercial pharmaceutical companies. Large pharmaceutical companies have, however, steadily been withdrawing from antibiotic research and development, as profitability from new antibiotics does not economically justify development and regulatory costs ⁵². The subsequent depletion of the antibiotic pipeline ^{52–57}, has caused the WHO to issue a new warning in January 2020 ⁵⁸. As of December 2019 only 41 antibiotics are in clinical development of which none are potentially active against WHO "critical threat pathogens" ^{59–61}.

Unfortunately, even with full collaboration for antibiotic development, creating an infinite stream of new antibiotics seems unsustainable ⁵². Awareness of hygiene and antibiotic stewardship are crucial parts to tackle antibiotic resistance. But finally, the most effective weapon against antibiotic resistance organisms will be a better knowledge of the development, propagation and efficient reduction of antibiotic resistance genes. This will create a scenario that enables us to actively reduce transfer and minimize spread and infection.

1.2.4 The role of water and the environment

One major field that has long been overlooked by researchers investigating antibiotic resistance, is the natural environment $^{42,62-66}$. The reasons for this are manifold, including comparatively low antibiotic and pathogen concentrations 67 . Nevertheless, increased urgency due to growing levels of antibiotic resistance have driven academic research, public awareness and political interest in the last years 65,68,69 . Antibiotic resistance genes have become compounds of emerging concern (CECs), especially with regard to the environment 70 .

Aquatic environments should be of special interest, as they provide optimal conditions for horizontal gene transfer, ARG propagation and mobilization. Water bodies are substantially and directly impacted by anthropogenic pollution via wastewater effluents and manure runoff; they can be dynamic and widespread and often connect across many different regions and they provide easily accessible dissolved nutrients to microorganisms ^{66,71–73}. Lakes, rivers and oceans are further often used for recreational and religious purposes, and as domestic or drinking water supply, creating ideal contact and exchange zones for environmental bacteria and pathogens.

ENVIRONMENTAL SOURCES

Antibiotic resistance and antibiotic resistance genes were detected in "pristine" environments without record of previous anthropogenic contamination ^{74–81}, most of which seem to be efflux pumps encoded chromosomally ^{77,79,81}. It is hypothesized that some environmental microorganisms constitutively produce small amounts of antibiotics in sub-therapeutic concentrations for fighting competitors and thus gaining competitive advantage over them ^{82–84}. However, recent research suggests that the main reason environmental microorganisms produce antibiotics, is to use them as signal molecules which help to organize and shape the structure of and interactions in natural bacterial communities ^{13–22,62,85,86}. It was shown that ARG are further naturally present on mobile genetic elements (MGE), including plasmids, transposons and integrons. Relative abundances of MGEs can reach up to 30% ⁷⁸, which is problematic as these are structures that enable horizontal gene transfer between microorganisms ⁸⁷.

Challenges regarding natural antibiotic resistance arise from distinct issues, including substantial gaps in knowledge. Antibiotic resistance genes on MGEs harbor the risk to be transferred to (potential) human pathogens. The environmental resistome is frequently referred to as a "reservoir" of antibiotic resistance genes ^{88–92} and harbors an tremendously large number of antibiotic resistance genes, especially compared to clinical pathogens ⁹³. Fitness cost of non-essential antibiotic resistance genes can be overcome, even in absence of antibiotics, so that resistances can persist over time ⁸³ Indigenous bacterial communities regularly exchange genetic material (including antibiotic resistance genes) by horizontal gene transfer via conjugation, transformation and transduction ^{94–97,66,98}. While transfer of antibiotic resistance genes between environmental and clinical microorganisms has been investigated, studies directly showing transfer are missing ^{98–100}. This knowledge gap is exacerbated by the unpredictability of risk associated with different environmental antibiotic resistance genes. While rifampicin resistance is abundant in environmental strains, clinical resistances are all but nonexistent ¹⁰¹. Genes that do not confer resistance in natural habitats, may confer resistance in clinical strains ¹⁰² or may be significantly up-regulated in clinical or pathogenic strains ¹⁰³.

ANTHROPOGENIC SOURCES

With increasing use of antibiotics, anthropogenic sources of antibiotics and ARGs have been expanding. There are three major sources and pathways of anthropogenic antibiotic and ARG pollution into the environment: (urban) WWTP effluents, pharmaceutical manufacturing plants and farming (which includes agriculture, animal husbandry and aquacultures) ¹⁰⁴. Out of these three, (urban) WWTP effluents is the largest contributor in volume and has been shown to have significant impact on levels of antibiotic resistant genes and bacteria ^{105–112}. Hospital WW could be shown to contribute the most to antibiotic resistance in urban WW systems due to high numbers and elevated concentrations of antibiotics and antibiotic resistant bacteria ¹¹³. Therefore unsurprisingly, urban wastewater from combined veterinary, urban, clinical and environmental sources is a good measure for antibiotic resistance in communities ¹¹⁴. It has been suggested, that source control of antibiotics and ARGs via pretreatment of urban wastewaters and manures is an efficient way to diminish the impact of antibiotics in ecosystems ¹¹⁵.

Urban wastewaters are, however, not our only problem. Two other crucial sources for antibiotics and ARGs in the environment are pharmaceutical manufacturing sites and combined sewer overflow (CSO). CSO can cause serious environmental problems, as it can lead to contamination of environmental water bodies with untreated manure and sewage. Combined sewer sediments contain high ARG diversity, including clinically relevant ARGs and high concentrations of heavy metals ¹¹⁶. Heavy metals have been known to have

significant impact on microbial diversity ¹¹⁷ and to benefit antibiotic resistance ^{118–121}, not least through mechanisms of co-conjugation and co-selection ^{122,123,120,124}. One solution might be de-centralized, local treatment ¹²⁵

Although much less impacting in volume, antibiotic concentrations discharged in industrial wastewaters are globally disproportionately higher ¹²⁶⁻¹³⁰ than in urban wastewaters. Antibiotic pollution can increase relative and absolute ARG abundances, induce the emergence of novel ARGs and proliferate ARG diversity. It has also been shown to promote genetic mobility and potential for HGT ^{128,131–133}. The resulting pollution of receiving environments has detrimental effects ^{134–136}. High antibiotic pollution from manufacturers is high-risk ¹³² and recipient environments can become reservoirs for ARGs ¹³¹, it can also change microbial community structure in a way that reflects the changes necessitated by strongly elevated antibiotic concentrations, such as elevated HGT and modified microbial interactions ^{137,131}(Huerta et al., 2013; Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2014). A large number of novel MGEs and ARGs (most of which were associated with MGEs) have first been identified in highly polluted waters ^{138–142}. The question that arises is if there are local differences in risk potential due to high antibiotic concentrations globally. And indeed, unusually high antibiotic concentrations in surface waters were found in Asia, up to 484 µg/L over 20km downstream from the nearest WWTP while Europe and the Americas usually had one-digit or low two-digit concentrations and Africa showed antibiotic concentrations in the mid-two-digit range ¹⁰⁴. Another crucial question that remains unanswered is, how very high antibiotic and ARG concentrations might affect the health and gut microbiome of people living in the area ¹³¹.

For both, wastewater from communes and from pharmaceutical producers, it can thus be said that adequate (preferably de-centralized local to account for CSO) wastewater treatment is of utmost importance and that inadequate treatment reflects in poor regional water quality and increases in AR ¹⁴³. (Un-)Treated wastewater effluents are the biggest contributor of antibiotics and other pollutants in the aquatic environment ^{73,144}. More than the main source for anthropogenic pollution, wastewater treatment plants can also act as a "hot spot" for horizontal gene transfer ^{145–148} and they can break antibiotics into uncountable degradation products with unknown and potentially increased potency ^{149–151}. A vicious circle of antibiotic resistance transfer and propagation is thus created, its risk potential can be demonstrated by environmentally derived antibiotic resistance gene classes such as qnr, conferring resistance to fluorquinolones ¹⁵². This cycle needs to be broken and risk associated with wastewater-derived pollution reduced to be able to control and decrease the clinical and economic burden of antibiotic resistance ²⁹.

THE EFFECTS OF WASTEWATER TREATMENT ON ANTIBIOTICS AND RESISTANCE GENES

Secondary wastewater treatment

While traditional wastewater treatment using sludge digestion can significantly reduce the total concentration of ARGs in sewage to a certain extent ¹⁵³, it has been proven to be subpar for sufficiently removing ARGs from wastewaters with relative abundances often increased in the WWTP effluent ^{154,104,155,113}. Moreover, it could be shown that ARGs can be enriched during certain phases of WWT and that the usage of high levels of activated sludge favour ARGs and ARB proliferation ^{156,157}. Further, biotransformation rates and mechanisms varied for different antibiotics and across different WWTPs resulting in unpredictable antibiotic potential after treatment ¹⁵⁸. Overall, it can be said, that there is ambiguity about the effect of regular WWT ¹⁵⁹. Tertiary or advanced wastewater treatment methods have therefore extensively been studied in recent years.

Advanced Wastewater Treatment

Chlorination, granulated activated carbon (GAC), membrane bioreactors (MBR), Ozonation and treatment with ultraviolet light (UV) have been utilized to treat wastewaters. Ambiguous effectiveness was reported for different methods in different studies. GAC has been shown to increase relative ARG abundance ^{160,161}. Chlorination has been reported to promote ARG increase ^{154,160} or to have no effectiveness regarding AR ¹⁶². Similarly, UV treatment did not adequately/ sufficiently degrade ARGs in one study ¹⁵⁴, but could be shown to be efficient depending on the parameters used in another study ¹⁶³. However, a combination of UV treatment with different catalysts (including chlorine) was able to achieve improved antibiotic and ARG removal results and worked best in alkaline environments ^{163,164} and increased doses of UV and chlorine enhanced efficiency ¹⁶⁵. Ozonation was shown to be less effective in reducing antibiotic resistance genes than UV and chlorine ¹⁶⁶ and MBR showed good removal of antibiotic resistance genes ¹⁵⁹. Ozone and UV-treatment could be shown to release ARGs from cells due to apoptosis ¹⁶⁵. Treatment types which were used with lower frequency were pre-flocculation/sediment/sand filtration which reduced ARGs by reducing total the biomass ¹⁶⁰ and constructed wetlands which were shown to remove antibiotics and ARGs "efficiently" ¹⁶⁷.

Comparability between different studies and treatment methods was partly hindered by widely varying experimental conditions and, more importantly, by the vaguely or undefined state of the term "removal efficiency". Some studies used the term to indicate that antibiotic resistant genes and bacteria were significantly decreased in number, while others used it to express if antibiotic resistance was still detectable after treatment. The optimal method for ARG and ARB removal does therefore see to strongly depend on the type of wastewater and the conditions used during treatment. More studies that are comparable are most definitely needed.

Wastewater Treatment Plant Selectors of ARGs?

Wastewater treatment plants have been described as the optimal place for ARG dissemination between microorganism, a paradise for resistant bugs, so to speak ¹⁶⁸. WWTPs have high number of potential co-selectors and often sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations ¹⁶⁹. While it is not sure if concentrations found in WWTPs are always sufficient to serve as selectors ¹⁷⁰, it has been shown that sub-clinical antibiotic concentration can promote antibiotic resistance ¹⁷¹. Further, non-antibiotic pollutants with the potential to co-select for ARGs (such as heavy metals) are widely present in wastewater and WWTPs. High amounts of ARG are likely to persist in the environment, which may have consequences ^{120,122–124}. To add insult to injury, microplastics, which can serve as vehicle for antibiotics and ARGs in the environment, are often present in wastewaters ^{172–174}. MGEs are major drivers for shifting ARG patterns ¹⁷⁵, they are abundant in wastewater and treatment plants and not all MGEs are easily removed by treatment ¹⁶⁰. Co-selection can occur due to location on same MGE ^{176,131}, as frequently happens when heavy metals are involved ^{122,123,120,124}. Chlorination has been shown to increase AR during waste water treatment ¹⁷⁷ likely due to stress-mediated molecular mechanisms ¹⁷⁸. Both UV and chlorine have been shown to incompletely degrade ARGs after relatively fast inactivation of bacterial cells, thus creating additional potential for HGT ¹⁷⁹.

While WWTPs do remove ARBs and ARGs to a certain extent, they have been shown to do so insufficiently and in addition release tremendous volumes of effluent into the environment thus potentially converting the environment to another AR hotspot ¹⁸⁰. Activated sludge in traditional WWTPs benefits antibiotic resistance selection and propagation and could thus be utilized as a model for the "worst case" scenario possible in the environment ¹³². In general it can be said that processes of AR selection and propagation in activated sludge need to be further studied ¹³².

PERSISTENCE AND DISSEMINATION OF ANTHROPOGENICALLY INTRODUCED ARGS IN THE ENVIRONMENT

Elevated levels of ARG in the environment can largely be explained by fecal pollution. One exception to this rule are highly polluted environments impacted for example by the pharmaceutical industry ¹⁸⁰. This source tracking of ARGs in aqueous environments is crucial in order to classify and mitigate risk. qPCR methods are often not sensitive enough to detect fecal marker bacteria ¹⁸¹. Using specific bateriophages for source tracking have therefore recently been suggested ^{181,182,180,183}. The most promising is crAssphage a bacteriophage first identified from human fecal substance, not physically linked to antibiotic resistance genes, so that the risk for correlation from co-selection is small ¹⁸⁴. crAssphage has been successfully used for source tracking ^{181,185}, thus facilitating an important step in investigations regarding the origin, dissemination and fate of anthropogenic ARGs in the environment.

Equally important are investigations into the fate of antibiotic and ARGs after their introduction into the environment. Even in water environments, there are vast differences in the dynamics of pollutants depending on the type of water body, indicating that the potential risk from AR differ across different water bodies. Pollutant circulation in lakes is slower than for example in rivers thus providing conditions for cumulative pollutant build-up ¹⁸⁶ which can in turn lead to ARG accumulation, especially in combination with increased input from WWTPs ¹⁰⁶. One study did not find tempo-spatial differences of AR in a Chinese lake ¹⁸⁷. Rivers transport pollutants away from the source of pollution but also disseminate pollution more widely ^{188–191}, however pollution levels decreased with distance from the pollution input location ^{191,192}. Elevated ARG levels caused by WWTP effluent discharge do not stay elevated and increased antibiotic levels do not seem to have a an impact on selection despite sorption to sediments (in bioreactor experiments modelling natural environments)¹⁹³. Maintaining elevated ARG levels after WWTPs in rivers requires continuous pollutant input, but might persist in biofilms ¹⁰⁷, as other studies identified aquatic environments as reservoir for AR¹⁵⁹. Presence and concentration of different ARGs is also distinct in water and sediments ¹⁹⁴.

RISK FROM ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE IN AQUEOUS ENVIRONMENTS

The dissemination, propagation and potential persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in aqueous environments raises a number of questions, the most important of which is: So what? – Or, to phrase it more eloquently: "What is the risk to the environment and human health from ARGs in water environments?".

ARGs can transfer between environmental bacteria and human pathogens ^{115,195} and water environments create a number of different pathways for contact between the two. Surface water bodies (even those with increased levels of AR) are often used as source for drinking water ^{108,109,111,160,187,196}. Antibiotic resistance can enter the food (supply) chain via water as it is a connection between the environment, animals and humans (e.g. in aquaculture, vegetable farming etc.) ^{197,198,194}.

Rainfall events can lead to strongly (up to 100-fold) elevated ARG levels, which can persist up to 2 weeks. These astounding increases and associated presence of potential pathogens can stem (at least partly) from sewer overflow ¹⁹⁹. ARGs can then transfer from environmental bacteria over intermediaries to human pathogens, which can persist in recreational water body habitats ²⁰⁰. A particularly high risk can be identified at locations where humans or animals interact with polluted water ¹⁰⁴.

Ingestion of water from recreational water bodies represents a direct, quantifiable risk as it leads to direct exposure with predictions of up to 345.09 cfu of antibiotic resistant E.*coli* ingested 100 ml swallowed water ^{201,202}, certain water sports, such as wakeboarding may therefore be particularly risky due to the characteristic high quantities of water ingested. More research is needed to investigate concrete health implication and for complete risk assessment and quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) has been suggested as "a suitable method to evaluate and quantify this health risk." ²⁰³. Nevertheless, uncertainty about HOW exactly to quantify the risk from ARG and ARB remains, as the risk of both antibiotic concentrations and ARGs is strongly context dependent ^{146,159}. In regards to antibiotics, more information on minimum inhibitory concentrations, predicted effect concentrations and the effect of sub-inhibitory concentrations under realistic conditions is required ^{104,204} as regular lab conditions are not necessarily meaningful to build models regarding the environmental setting ¹⁰⁴.

Better monitoring of recreational water bodies (regarding AMR and pathogens) ^{201,205} and location choice ²⁰⁶ have been called for and are imperative.

TECHNOLOGIES USED IN ENVIRONMENTAL AR RESEARCH

Culture-based Methods

Another concern is the difficulty to study and evaluate resistance in environmental bacteria, as approximately 99% of environmental strains cannot be cultured ²⁰⁷. However, phenotypic expression of genetic sequences and important parameters for risk assessment, such as the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC), can be investigated. Unfortunately, the small portion of environmental bacteria that can be cultured are non-representative of the phylogenetic diversity for the entirety of indigenous bacterial communities ^{103,106}. These complications can be partly remedied by employing culture-independent metagenomic methods for investigations of these uncultured microorganisms ^{80,96,208–210}. Nevertheless, these methods come with their own limitations.

<u>qPCR</u>

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)-based methods introduce a bias by utilizing gene-specific probes and primers and thus selecting for a subset of genes to investigate, they are further prone to potential PCR inhibitors ²¹¹. Regular qPCR is further not a high-throughput method, strongly limiting the potential of information that can be gained from samples in a timely manner. Higher-throughput qPCR-based methods, such as microarrays exhibit batch-to-batch variability and are considered less sensitive and specific ²¹². HT-qPCR suffers from instrumental sensitivity and analytical differences which can significantly impact results and individual assays tested cannot effectively be optimized during the experimental run ²¹². All qPCR-based technologies require the creation of sequences; they further have the attribute that they are independent of gene expression, which can be seen as an advantage or a disadvantage ²¹³ which could lead to an overestimation of the real risk from present ARGs ²¹⁴.

Next-generation Sequencing

Next-generation shotgun sequencing is not fully quantitative and is strongly impacted by sequencing depths, database integrity and varying bioinformatic pipelines ^{215–217,181}. A multitude of analysis methods ²¹⁸ and potential parameters for those methods ¹⁸¹ exist and not all suitable for ARG research or for assessment of human risk from ARGs, ¹⁸¹. Single-cell sequencing allows for capturing the host of genes of interest, but is not sufficiently high-throughput ^{219,220}. However, NGS is high-throughput (at rapidly declining cost) and is able to capture, detect and identify novel hitherto unknown genes ¹⁸¹. Further, both qPCR and NGS allow for retrospective data analysis ¹⁸¹, which can be deciding for some research questions as well as for collaboration and comparability as results can be used and analyzed by colleagues and other researchers if made available.

To adequately investigate antibiotic resistance in co-cultivable environmental microorganisms, a combination of different culture-independent methods would therefore be most appropriate. Similar to qPCR, NGS is independent of gene expression and gives no information about important parameters for risk assessment.

1.2.5 RESEARCH METHODS

Due to the limitations imposed by working with mainly uncultivable microorganisms ^{7,221}, the main research methods used in this thesis are qPCR, next-generation sequencing and metagenomic data analysis as well as the application of microcosms experiments.

1.3. The Problem at Hand

Reigning antibiotic resistance in, will require a joint global effort. Such an effort, in turn, requires clear policies, regulation and guidelines. One of the main issues is that due to critical gaps in knowledge, such policies are often only available regionally, insufficient or even non-existent in regards to many issues ⁸⁵. Researchers need to make a collective effort to provide the necessary information in order for policy makers to start taking the right steps into a future in which antibiotic resistance does not have the potential to threaten the economy, the stability of the medical establishment and human lives. This thesis is aimed at advancing this cause.

1.3.1 KNOWLEDGE GAPS

A number of topics in the field that have not yet adequately addressed by scholars stand out and will be addressed in this work:

The impact of anthropogenic sources on aquatic environments, especially the role of highrisk point sources and associated risk are not well addressed. Further, the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in the environment is not sufficiently investigated, as only a small number of studies exist which trace the origin of antibiotic resistance in and to environmental bacteria and their transfer to clinically relevant bacterial strains ^{42,62,222,223}. Persistence of antibiotic resistance genes that were introduced to natural environments due to anthropogenic pollution is also not sufficiently studied ^{224–226}. Insufficient information also exists on the impact of physico-chemical stressors, such as UV radiation, chlorination, ozonation ^{227–229} but also sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations and their degradation products ^{228,229}. Information on the consequences of different concentrations/doses of such stressors under different conditions (e.g. laboratory versus natural environmental conditions) is even scarcer. Additionally, the benefits of employing more aggressive wastewater treatment technologies on antibiotic resistance and antibiotic concentrations within anthropogenic (waste-) water systems and the subsequent environment have not been comprehensively studied.

Finally yet importantly, potential variation and biases introduced by next-generation data analysis have not been studied in regards to antibiotic resistance gene research. While an increasing number of environmental studies employ NGS and it is known that sequencing depth and bioinformatic analysis pipelines strongly impact NGS results ²¹⁶, studies comparing NGS results to qPCR results (which is currently seen as the gold standard in ARG detection and quantification²³⁰) are missing ^{231,232}. However, such studies are crucial to create data that is comparable and subsequently a reliable knowledge base.

1.3.2 RESEARCH QUESTION

MAIN OBJECTIVE

This thesis will generate information that helps to decrease the knowledge gaps introduced in $\underline{1.3.1}$.

The main objective is to generate knowledge about antibiotic resistance and its propagation, spread and impact in the aquatic environment. Further, conditions and measures that can create or mitigate increased risk will be elucidated.

Four main objectives can be expressed as follows:

- 1. Investigate the impact of anthropogenic pollution on environmental antibiotic resistance levels and the degree of persistence
- 2. Explore the impact of high-risk point sources and the benefits of on-site treatment of high-risk wastewater
- 3. Study horizontal gene transfer of antibiotic resistance under different conditions and evaluate the role of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations and different matrices
- 4. Evaluate the impact of different analysis methods on antibiotic resistance gene detection and quantification and their comparability

SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

To address the main objectives, research questions are introduced that answer the following queries:

• What is the impact of high-risk point sources? Does on-site wastewater treatment of high-risk point sources provide benefits? Are secondary urban wastewater treatment plants efficient enough to significantly decrease antibiotics and antibiotic resistance gene concentrations? How much more efficient is tertiary wastewater treatment?

- Chapter 2 answers these questions by sampling hospital wastewaters at two locations in the Netherlands, the receiving urban wastewater system and the urban wastewater treatment plant effluent released into the environment. Only one of the two locations is treated on-site using advanced tertiary wastewater treatment
- Does large-scale anthropogenic pollution have a significant and lasting impact on large water bodies? Do antibiotic resistance gene concentrations increase with steadily increasing anthropogenic pollution?
 - Chapter 3 answers these questions by monitoring the Rhine river in a tempospatial manner. Additionally, relationships between antibiotic resistance gene concentrations and different proxies for ARG pollution of anthropogenic origin were compared.
- How do different antibiotic concentrations impact horizontal gene transfer of antibiotic resistance between a donor and a potentially pathogenic recipient under laboratory conditions? How do these concentrations impact bacterial communities under environmental conditions? Do sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations play a special role?
 - Chapter 4 answers these questions by transfer experiments between E.coli_{DH5a} carrying a multi-resistance plasmid and a recipient organism or a recipient bacterial wastewater effluent community. Transfer experiments were organized either on filters or as microcosm experiments to investigate the impact of different matrices on the outcome
- Are NGS results (and more specifically whole-genome sequencing results) comparable to qPCR results? What is the impact of different analysis methods and parameters on NGS results? Which bioinformatic pipelines generate results most similar to qPCR?
 - Chapter 5 answers these questions by analysis of 11 DNA extracts by qPCR and NGS and subsequent detection and (semi-)quantification of antibiotic resistance genes. NGS data is subsequently analyzed by a machine learning algorithm, a traditional bioinformatic pipeline or in-silico qPCR scripts. Different parameters are evaluated, including: use of databases, the impact of assembly and levels of abstraction.

The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes



Figure 2-1: Graphical Abstract; Chapter 2

Keywords: Advanced Wastewater Treatment, Contaminants of Emerging Concern, Pharmafilter, Antibiotic Resistance

> Published as original research article in International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health Paulus, G. K., Hornstra, L. M., Alygizakis, N., Slobodnik, J., Thomaidis, N., & Medema, G. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.01.004

2.1. Abstract

This study quantified antibiotic and antibiotic resistance gene (ARG) concentrations in hospital and communal wastewaters as well as the influents and effluents of the receiving urban wastewater treatment plants (UWWTP) in two Dutch cities. In only one city, hospital wastewater was treated on-site using advanced technologies, including membrane bioreactor treatment (MBR), ozonation, granulated activated carbon (GAC) and UV-treatment.

On-site hospital wastewater (HWW) treatment reduced gene presence of hospital-related antibiotic resistance genes and antibiotic concentrations in the receiving urban wastewater treatment plant. These findings support the need for on-site treatment of high-risk point sources of antibiotic resistance genes.

13 antibiotic resistance genes, Integrase Class 1 and 16S rRNA concentrations were quantified using multiplex quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) assays and the presence and/or concentration of 711 antibiotics were analyzed.

Hospital wastewater contained approximately 25% more antibiotics and gene concentrations between 0.4 log to 1.8-fold higher than communal wastewater (CWW). *bla*_{KPC} and *van*A could be identified as hospital-related genes and were reduced to under the limit of detection (LOD) during on-site treatment. Advanced on-site treatment removed between 0.5 and 3.6-fold more genes than conventional biological urban wastewater treatment (activated sludge). Advanced on-site treatment was able to eliminate 12 out of 19 detected antibiotics, while urban wastewater treatment eliminated up to 1 (out of 21 detected). Different advanced treatment technologies were able to target different pollutants to varying extents, making sequential alignment more effective. MBR treatment was most efficient in antibiotic resistance gene reduction and ozonation in antibiotic reduction.

*bla*_{KPC} could only be detected in the influent of the urban wastewater treatment plant receiving untreated hospital wastewater. Similarly, *van*A was only consistently detected in this treatment plant. These results indicate a positive effect of on-site treatment of hospital wastewater on the communal sewage system.

2.2. Introduction

Antibiotic Resistance (AR) is a growing global threat which will require worldwide joint efforts to be conquered ^{39,233}. Hospitals have been in the focus of AR research as one of the high-risk point sources of antibiotics ^{234–236} and ARGs ^{146,236–240}. Although, the release of untreated HWW might be posing a hazard to the environment and human health, there are still few studies investigating the release and direct impact of HWW into the environment or communal sewage system ^{241,242}. Due to this gap in information, regulations for the treatment of HWW are absent in most countries ^{243–245}.

The release of untreated HWW could increase ARG prevalence in environmental water bodies. Antibiotic resistant bacteria were shown to survive in the HWW, in the UWWTPs and, subsequently, the UWWTP effluent ²⁴⁶. The risk potential of HWW is further increased by the fact that hospitals use last-resort antibiotics (e.g. piperacillin and vancomycin) more frequently and thus their ARG profiles might be different when compared to other wastewaters ²⁴⁷. Overall, conventional wastewater treatment renders limited results in terms of antibiotic and ARG removal and might even increase the concentration of certain ARGs ^{146,248–251}.

The present study investigates the impact and efficiency of antibiotic, ARG and bacterial removal of advanced on-site treatment compared to urban wastewater treatment. The effect of different advanced treatment steps and their impact on the downstream urban wastewater system are studied. ARG occurrence and concentrations in HWWs and CWWsin the Netherlands are compared to identify potential differences. To this end genes conferring resistance to aminoglycosides (*aph*(III)a), β -Lactam Antibiotics (*bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{SHV}, *bla*_{OXA}, *med*A), macrolides (*erm*B, *erm*F), quinolones (*qnr*S), sulfonamides (*sul*1), tetracyclines (*tet*B, *tet*M) and vancomycines (*van*A, *van*B) as well as a class 1 Integrase (*IntI1*) were screened for and quantified. A total of 711 antibiotics were investigated, out of which 41 were quantified and 670 were screened for presence in the samples. Further, correlations between antibiotic and ARG concentrations were studied.

2.3. Methods and Materials

2.3.1 SAMPLING

Samples were taken from two cities in the Netherlands, namely from Delft (location 1) and Nieuwegein (location 2). At location 1 HWW was treated on-site. The following samples were taken from each location: hospital wastewater, communal sewage (at a location not impacted by HWW), on-site hospital wastewater treatment plant (Pharmafilter, location 1 only) and samples from the receiving UWWTPs. Two sampling rounds were conducted at all sampling locations with at least 6 months in between sampling rounds. The first sampling round took place in spring and the second in winter.

HOSPITALS

Samples were taken from combined HWW at location 1 (H1) and location 2 (H2). All samples were composite sample (12h-composites -1^{st} sampling round; 8h-composites -2^{nd} sampling round).

Both hospitals contained wards that typically have high antibiotic use.

COMMUNAL WW

CWW samples were taken from the urban sewage system, which was accessed by street manholes. Samples were taken at a location at which the sewage system was not impacted by HWW. Samples were combined grab samples consisting of at least 3 subsamples taken approx. 3 h apart, which were pooled together before analysis.

URBAN WWTPS

Samples were taken from two UWWTPs: 1) W1 (location 1) and 2) W2 (location 2).

W1 (built in 2006): The treatment plant processes a quantity of water, which compares to a population equivalent of 1.260.000 (PE) and has an average in- and outflow of 180.000 m³/d. W1 receives CWW including wastewater from H1. Wastewater treatment consists of primary and secondary treatment, including: influent screening (6 mm bars), primary sedimentation, biological (activated sludge) treatment, final clarification and biological phosphorus removal.

W2 (built in 1975 and renovated in 2010): The treatment plant has a volume capacity, which compares to 144.000 PE and an average in- and outflow of 25.700 m³/d. W2 receives CWW including wastewater from H2. Wastewater treatment consists of primary and secondary, including influent screening, primary sedimentation, biological (activated sludge) treatment and biological Nitrogen and phosphorus removal.

24h-composite samples (taken by automatized composite samplers) were obtained from each UWWTP (influent and effluent wastewater).

PHARMAFILTER

HWW at location 1 was treated on-site by an installation called the Pharmafilter. Pharmafilter treatment consists of four sequentially aligned treatment steps (**Figure 2-2**):

Membrane Bioreactor (Microfiltration) (MBR)

Ozonation (**Ozon.**)

Granulated Activated Carbon (GAC)

UV Treatment (**UV**)



1 Figure 2-2: Pharmafilter Installation and Process Steps; samples taken (1)-(6): (1) Untreated HWW, (2) Sludge, (3) MBR, (4) Ozonation, (5) GAC, (6) UV Treatment/ Effluent

24h-composite samples were taken after each treatment step, as well as from the MBR-Sludge (**Figure 2-2**).

2.3.2 SAMPLE PREPARATION

Samples were processed immediately after arrival to the laboratory.

2.3.3 BIOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

Samples were filtered using 0.22-µm-pore-size polycarbonate track-etch filter membranes (Sartorius). DNA was extracted from the filters using DNeasy PowerSoil Kit (QIAGEN Benelux B.V). Extraction was performed according to manufacturer instructions, with one exception:

An internal control (IC) plasmid was added to the samples (concentration: 2.5×10^4 gene copies/µL) to quantify the DNA loss caused by the extraction process ²⁵².

Extraction blanks yielded negative results. DNA loss was corrected for, based on IC concentrations measured by qPCR.

2.3.4 CHEMICAL ANALYSIS

The sample preparation protocol involved clean-up and 4000x pre-concentration on an Atlantic HLB-M Disk, using a HORIZON SPE-DEX 4790 (USA) with 47 mm disk holder. Conditioning and extraction programs used for the preparation of the wastewater samples

can be found in the *SI Table 2-11*. The extract was evaporated using a gentle stream of nitrogen and was reconstituted with 250 μ l of 50:50 methanol:water mixture for instrumental analysis. Before analysis, extracts were filtered through RC syringe filters of 4 mm diameter and 0.2 μ m pore size (Phenomenex, USA). *See SI (SI 2-10)* for information on chemicals and reagents.

2.3.5 ARG DETECTION AND QUANTIFICATION – BIOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

MULTIPLEX QPCR ASSAYS

DNA extracts were stored at -20 °C prior to qPCR analysis. All qPCR assays were performed at least twice using technical duplicates each time. 16S rRNA was quantified using a SYBR Green qPCR assay. The following genes were quantified by qPCR: *aph*(III)a, *bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{OXA}, *bla*_{SHV}, *erm*B, *erm*F, *intI1*, *mec*A, *qnrS*, *sul*1, *tet*B, *tet*M, *van*A and *van*B. Multiplex qPCR assays were performed under the conditions described in *SI 2-1*, *SI 2.-2 and SI 2-3*. Standards, a positive and a negative control were included in every assay to confirm multiplex qPCR quality. Standards were made up of 5 subsequent dilutions with concentrations ranging from 2.5x10⁴ to 2.5x10⁰ gene copies/µL. Multiplex qPCR assays were performed using the iQTM Multiplex Powermix (Bio Rad, München, DE) and qPCR reactions were performed using a CFX96TM Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio Rad, München, DE). CFX96TM Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio Rad, München, DE).

DATA ANALYSIS

Python 3.6.0 ^{253,254} executed in Jupyter Notebooks was used to clean and analyze raw data, to calculate descriptive statistics and correlations and to create data visualizations. R version 3.5.0 was used to perform inferential statistical analysis. Significant differences between experiments and/or measurements were detected by employing paired or unpaired Student's t-Tests, or Welch's t-Tests for the case that the sample variances were not comparable and data transformation not possible. Two samples/measurements were defined to be significantly different from each other for p<0.05. Correlations between antibiotic and ARG concentrations were calculated using Pearson's rank correlation coefficient. An ARG and antibiotic were considered correlated for R²>0.5 , p<0.05 and if there were \geq 4 common data points available. Relatedness with values of $0.5 < R^2 < 0.7$ was considered a 'moderate correlation', while R²>0.7 was considered a 'strong correlation'.

2.3.6 ANTIBIOTIC DETECTION AND QUANTIFICATION – CHEMICAL ANALYSIS

INSTRUMENTAL ANALYSIS

Instrumental analysis was performed with a Thermo UHPLC Accela system connected to a TSQ Quantum Access triple quadrupole mass spectrometer from Thermo Electron Corporation (San Jose, CA, USA) equipped with an electrospray ionization source (Thermo IonMAX) in positive mode. Chromatographic separation was achieved on an Atlantis T3 C18 (100 mm x 2.1 mm, 3 μ m) column from Waters Corporation (Milford, MS, USA) at a constant flow rate of 100 uL/min. The mobile phase, the gradient elution programs and the

ESI parameters are presented *(SI Table 2-12).* Identification and quantification were performed under selected reaction monitoring (SRM) mode, recording the transitions between the precursor ion and the two most abundant product ions for each target analyte, thus achieving 4 identification points per compound (2002/657/EC). SRM transitions for each compound were optimized by infusion of standard solutions at mean concentration 1 mg/L. The optimized ionization mode, fragmentation voltages, collision energies for each antibiotic (41 in total) are summarized in *(SI 2-13).* To assure that as many antibiotics as possible were captured, extracts were also injected in a UHPLC-QTOF-MS system, equipped with a UHPLC apparatus (Dionex UltiMate 3000 RSLC, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Dreieich, Germany), coupled to the QTOF-MS mass analyzer (Maxis Impact, Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany). Chromatographic separation was performed on an Acclaim RSLC C18 column (2.1 x 100 mm, 2.2 µm) from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Dreieich, Germany) preceded by a guard column of the same packaging material, kept at 30°C. Gradient program, ESI parameters and mobile phases are summarized in *(SI 2-14).* See *SI 2-17* for detailed data analysis.

2.4. Results and Discussion

2.4.1 ANTIBIOTICS AND ARGS IN THE URBAN WW CYCLE

HOSPITAL WASTEWATER HAD HIGHER PREVALENCE AND CONCENTRATIONS OF ANTIBIOTICS AND ARGS THAN COMMUNAL WASTEWATER

HWW samples showed 0.4 to 1.8-fold higher relative ARG concentrations than CWW samples (**Figure 2-3**). No ARGs were observed in significantly higher concentration in CWW samples. Similarly, absolute ARG concentrations (meaning: ARG concentrations per mL sample) which significantly differed from each other between HWW and CWW samples showed between 0.8 and 2.3-fold increase in HWW samples (*SI Figure 2-9*). The higher ARG pollution of HWWs suggests higher incidences of AR and can potentially suggest multi-drug-resistant bacteria, as has been found previously in several studies ^{255–257} or a larger proportion of resistant organisms compared to CWW.

*bla*KPC and *van*A were not found in any of the analyzed CWW samples, suggesting that these genes are hospital-related ARGs and that occurrences at other location of the urban wastewater cycle originate from health care facilities. *Van*A has previously been suggested as an indicator gene to monitor AR of anthropogenic origins in the environment ²⁵⁸. *Van*A and *bla*_{KPC} have repeatedly been detected in HWW ^{259–267}. Occurrences of *bla*_{KPC} in the environment were only recently and rarely shown ²⁶⁸. Some of these occurrences could be traced back to hospital-associated bacterial strains ²⁶⁹. The assumption of association of HWW with *bla*_{KPC} and *van*A is strengthened by previous findings that these genes are more prevalent in hospital sewage release with higher prevalence ²⁶⁵. The potential risks of these specific genes would be exacerbated by the possibility to be transferred horizontally between strains. At least in case of *bla*_{KPC}, transconjugants were detected after horizontal gene transfer (HGT) ²⁶², suggesting a heightened transfer risk potential of this gene.

Ciprofloxacin (2706 ng/L – H1, 3752 ng/L - H2) and sulfamethoxazole (367 ng/L - H1, 269 ng/L - H2) were detected at concentration levels of up to several orders of magnitude higher

than in CWW samples. Metronidazole with a frequency of detection of 92% across all samples, reached concentrations as high as 4 ng/L (H1) and 7500 ng/L (H2) (*SI Table 2-15*). While antibiotic concentrations in HWWs can vary widely ²³⁶, concentrations within the same dimensions have been previously recorded, with ciprofloxacin, sulfamethoxazole and metrondazole frequently being detected ^{236,271–275}

Some antibiotics could only be detected in HWW (Fluconazole, Sulfaclozine, Trimethoprim) or were detected in HWW with disproportionally higher concentration than in CWW (Sulfamethoxazole, Ciprofloxacin; both detected at concentrations over 2-fold higher in HWWs). Ampicillin and Amoxicillin, on the other hand, were only detected in CWW. These findings are consistent with previous reports, that β -lactam antibiotics are largely used inside and outside hospitals with Amoxicillin being one of the most frequently used antibiotics for outpatient prescription ^{276–278}. Quinolones and sulfonamides are more frequently used in hospitals than for outbound patients in the Netherlands ²⁷⁸



Figure 2-3: Relative Gene Concentrations in Hospital and Communal Wastewater Samples; values mean \pm std of all four hospital or communal WW samples combined; * = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.05) lower in CWW, ** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW, *** = ARG concentrations significantly (p \leq 0.01) lower in CWW

2.4.2 REDUCTION OF ANTIBIOTICS AND ARGS DURING COMMUNAL AND ON-SITE TREATMENT

ON-SITE TREATMENT ELIMINATED ANTIBIOTICS AND ARGS EFFICIENTLY

*Bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{SHV}, *mec*A, *qnr*S, *tet*B, *tet*M and *van*A were reduced <LOD from HWW during MBR treatment (**Figure 2-4**). The following genes could not be detected in the MBR permeate but were detected in the MBR sludge: *bla*SHV, *tet*B, *tet*M and *van*A (*SI 2-5*). No genes were consistently eliminated during the ozonation treatment step. GAC treatment showed some variation between the two sampling rounds, with some genes being significantly reduced or

increased. *IntI1* and *sul*1 were consistently detected in the highest and second-highest concentration, respectively.

Overall changes in gene concentrations showed high consistency between the two sampling rounds. All detected genes were significantly reduced in absolute concentration and most also in relative concentration during the Pharmafilter treatment (**Table 2-1**). 9 out of 13 initially detected ARGs in HWW were reduced <LOD during Pharmafilter treatment, including *bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{OXA}, *bla*_{SHV}, *erm*B, *mec*A, *qnr*S, *tet*B, *tet*M and *van*A. *Aph*(III)a, *erm*F, *intI1* and *sul*1 stayed detectable but were significantly reduced.



Figure 2-4: Gene Reduction During Pharmafilter Treatment; left: impact of different treatment steps (1st (top) and 2nd (bottom) sample rounds), dotted black line – 16S rRNA concentration; right : overall impact of Pharmafilter on HWW; red line – LOQ

Notably, the bacterial load increased during ozonation treatment. This can be explained by hydraulic retention times up to 2 hours before ozonation, during which the microbial community has time to adjust to the new conditions and propagate.

Table 2-1: Mean and Standard Deviation for ARG Reduction and Increase (log10) in W1, W2, and Pharmafilter (combined data from two sampling rounds); ¹ – only detected in first sampling round, ² – only detected in second sampling round, ³ – reduced to < LOD, ⁴ –only detected during 2nd sampling round of W2 effluent, ⁵ – non-quantifiable reduction from <LOQ to <LOD, * - Pharmafilter reduction significantly higher than UWWTP reduction, bold: gene concentrations significantly increased

ARG	W1	W2	Pharmafilter
<i>aph</i> (III)a	0.4±0.9	0.5±0.1	> 3.8 *, ³
<i>bla</i> кРС	n.s	1.0±2.6	> 1.7 * ^{, 3}
bla _{OXA}	0.7±0.1	n.s	> 3.6 *, ³
bla _{sнv}	1.0±0.1	0.6±0.1	> 3.1 * ^{, 3}
Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes

ermB	0.8±0.1	n.s	> 4.4 *, 3
<i>erm</i> F	1.1±0.3	n.s	1.7±0.8
intl1	n.s	n.s	0.5±0.9 *
mecA	> 1.7 ³	> 2.0 ^{2, 3}	5
qnrS	1.0 ¹	> 1.3 ³	> 0.9 ³
sul1	n.s	0.5±0.1	1.7±0.4 *
tetB	1.3±0.1	0.9±0.1	> 3.1 * ^{, 3}
<i>tet</i> M	1.2±2.2	0.5±0.2	> 3.1 ³
vanA	n.s ¹	> 2.2 ³	> 2.4 ³
vanB	-	4	-

Pharmafilter treatment reduced ciprofloxacin from 2706 ng/L to 62 ng/L. Sulfamethoxazole was reduced from 367 ng/L to 0.9 ng/L (**Figure 2-6**). Ozonation was the crucial treatment step for the elimination. MBR treatment seems to release cleavage forms of certain types of antibiotics thus increasing concentrations of certain antibiotics such as metronidazole, which is increased from 4 ng/L to 1203 ng/L during this step. The same trend was observed for other compounds: sulfamethoxazole (concentration difference after MBR treatment: +96 %), ofloxacin (+110 %), fluconazole (+289 %) and erythromycin (17-fold difference). In some cases, concentrations of pharmaceutical residues appear to increase through MBR treatment, a documented phenomenon ²⁷⁹, and might be explained by the cleavage of conjugated residues. For example, sulfamethoxazole can be generated during treatment by cleavage of its human metabolite N4-acetylsulfamethoxazole in WWTPs ²⁸⁰. Moreover, it is known that antibiotics are absorbed onto negatively charged surface of sewage sludge through ionic interactions. In case of malfunction of membranes or poor maintenance it is possible that desorption phenomena may happen ²⁸⁰.

URBAN WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANTS SHOW LOW EFFICIENCY IN ANTIBIOTIC REDUCTION AND VARYING EFFICIENCY IN ARG REDUCTION

ARG concentrations did not uniformly show significant decrease during urban wastewater treatment (**Figure 2-5**). Significant gene reductions varied between 0.5 ± 0.1 (*aph*(III)a) to > 2.2-fold (vanA) in UWWTPs (**Table 2-1**). ARG reduction efficiency varied between the two UWWTPs. Significant changes in relative gene concentration were uniformly reductions in W1, while three ARGs significantly increased in concentration in W2. Genes which did not significantly decrease in concentration were intI1 and *bla*_{SHV} (during both sampling rounds), *bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{OXA} and *sul*1 (during the 2nd sampling round). On the other hand only one ARG was reduced <LOD in W1; *mec*A and *tet*M during the 1st and 2nd sampling round, respectively; while 3 ARGs were reduced <LOD in W2; *qnr*S and *van*A (in both sampling rounds) and *mec*A (1st round) or *bla*_{KPC} (2nd round).

In W1 50-67% of present ARGs could be significantly reduced, while only 23-36% of present ARGs were significantly reduced in W2. A large proportion of genes did not show a significant change in relative concentration after treatment at W2. *IntI1* is the only gene that does not show any significant changes in relative concentration in any of the different WWTPs and sampling rounds (**Figure 2-5**).



Figure 2-5: Change in Relative Gene Concentration During Communal Wastewater Treatment in W1 and W2 at Different Times, (a – 1st sampling round in spring, b – 2^{nd} sampling round in winter)

Previous studies showed that secondary wastewater treatment decreased half of 78 detected ARGs by <94% in concentration ²⁸¹, while tertiary treatment has been found to retain 2%-50% of ARG raw influent concentrations ²⁸². Generally UWWTPs were shown to have varying effects on ARG concentrations depending on wastewater treatment conditions and the type of ARG, even for wastewater treatment plants with tertiary treatment steps ^{245,283}.

Conventional urban wastewater treatment was not capable of removing ciprofloxacin effectively (removal efficiency: 41% for W1, 39% for W2). Similarly, sulfamethoxazole could not be eliminated effectively (removal efficiency: 25% for W1, 19% for W2). Both investigated UWWTPs fail to remove most of the detected antibiotics. Other antibiotics with poor removal efficiency were ofloxacin, trimethoprim, clarithromycin, sulfachloropyridazine, fluconazole, azithromycin, erythromycin and lincomycin (**Figure 2-6**). Low biodegradability of many antibiotics might explain the inefficient antibiotic removal²⁸⁴.

Conventional urban wastewater treatment might therefore not be the most efficient method to reduce antibiotic and ARG concentrations from CWW, contaminated with HWW, prior to release into the environment. Due to substantial fluctuations in antibiotic and ARG concentrations and CWW quality, the resulting effluent will be of variable quality with unknown environmental impact.





Figure 2-6: Antibiotic Concentrations Compared During Pharmafilter Process and During Conventional Urban Wastewater Treatment; * - number of antibiotics detected but not quantified; **1 – Azithromycin, Erythromycin, Metronidazole, Ciprofloxacin, Sulfadiazine, Sulfapyridine (72-89 ng/L); **2 – Azithromycin, Sulfapyridine, Sulfadiazine (110-120 ng/L); **3 – Ciprofloxacin, Clarithromycin (51-62 ng/L); **4 – Ciprofloxacin, Ofloxacin (62-62 ng/L)

Advanced On-Site Treatment is More Efficient and Constant Than Regular Urban Wastewater Treatment

While relative ARG concentrations did not uniformly decrease in UWWTPs and increased for approximately 10-30 % of all ARGs detected, all relative ARG concentrations were consistently significantly reduced during the Pharmafilter process (**Figure 2-4**). Only *Intl* was not consistently significantly removed during Pharmafilter treatment. Pharmafilter treatment reduced approx. 70% of all detected ARGs to <LOD, while regular urban wastewater treatment reduced between 10% (W1) and 22% (W2) of detected ARGs to <LOD. Furthermore, the reduction of ARG concentrations, of genes which were still quantifiable after the respective treatments, was 0.5 - 4.4-fold during Pharmafilter treatment and 0.5 - 2.2-fold during UWWT. Pharmafilter reduces individual genes with efficiencies between 0.5-fold (*intl*1) to more than 3.6-fold (*erm*B) higher than that of UWWTPs. This discrepancy in efficiency is further increased considering that UWWTPs could increase certain ARG concentrations more than 1-fold.

The increased ability of the Pharmafilter treatment compared to urban wastewater treatment is, with high probability, due to several interconnected factors: Conventional

wastewater treatment has a limited capacity to remove resistance genes 249,251,285 while advanced wastewater treatment (including MBR, Ozone and UV treatment) has been shown to have a better efficiency ^{286,287}. The sequential set-up of the Pharmafilter treatment steps seems to be of importance, as single treatment steps, seem to have the potential to increase the relative ARG concentrations when applied alone ^{154,282}. This study showed similar findings. While MBR seems to be the single most effective treatment step to eliminate ARGs, only 7 out of 13 detected ARGs were reduced <LOD during this step. Two ARGs (*bla*_{OXA}, *erm*B) were reduced <LOD, aph(III)a was significantly reduced in concentration in the subsequent treatment steps. The subsequent treatment steps therefore accounted for approximately 1/4 of the overall removal efficiency of the Pharmafilter. UV treatment had the least positive impact. Each of these advanced treatment types have their benefits and disadvantages ²⁴³ with ARG removal efficiency strongly depending on the type of ARGs present, the quality of wastewater influent and the applied treatment processes ^{288,289}. The high efficiency of MBR treatment is likely to be due largely to size exclusion, thus filtering out ARG-carrying microorganisms ^{290,291}. MBRs have been shown to develop characteristic communities, which differ from the influent community ²⁹¹. Subsequent partial detachment of microorganisms from this characteristic community might explain why some ARGs are eliminated to a higher extent than others during this treatment step.

Further, antibiotics and other pharmaceutical compounds which might exert selective pressure and increase HGT of ARGs ^{195,292,293} are thoroughly eliminated by the Pharmafilter process. Correlations between antibiotic and ARG concentrations have been shown ^{282,294}. Elevated concentrations of β -lactam antibiotics, glycopeptides and trimethoprim were detected in untreated HWW ²⁵¹. In contrast to the Pharmafilter, UWWTPs were shown to eliminate a much lower percentage of chemicals, including antibiotics. Elimination of antibiotics can be as low as 20 % for sulfamethoxazole, 69 % for trimethoprim and 70 % for ofloxacin ²³⁴.

Correlations between antibiotic and ARG concentrations were detected during the present study. Of the 41 quantified antibiotics, concentrations of two antibiotics correlated strongly with ARG concentration ((rifaximin, metronidazole), two correlated moderately (azithromycin and norfloxacin) and ciprofloxacin correlated moderately to strongly (depending on the ARG). Antibiotics correlated with different numbers of ARG (azithromycin(3), rifaximin(7), metronidazole(6), ciprofloxacin(3), norfloxacin(5) (SI Table 2-8). While most correlations were observed between unrelated antibiotic-ARG pairs, azithromycin (a macrolide) and ermF $(R^2=0.66)$, ciprofloxacin (a fluorquinolone) and *qnr*S ($R^2=0.56$) and norfloxacin (a quinolone) and *qnr*S (R²=0.64) correlated moderately. Interestingly, rifaximin and metronidazole concentrations correlated with ARG concentrations of a large number of unrelated ARGs. This could indicate that selective pressure of antibiotics on unrelated ARGs might be an larger problem than selective pressure on related ARGs. Antibiotics like metronidazole which do not largely cause resistance ^{295,296} might then have a larger impact on AR. Another explanation for these correlations could be co-selection. Co-selection of related and unrelated genes can be caused by co-occurrence on plasmids or other mobile genetic elements ^{294,297-299}. Finally, (non-antibiotic) pharmaceuticals which have not been investigated but are largely present in wastewaters, could be further driving HGT thus increasing AR ^{300,301}. It is to be noted that correlation does not necessarily imply causation and that further research will be needed to conclude if one of the described mechanisms are responsible for the observed correlations. Nevertheless, these observations are of interest, in case future research can find similar relationships between the respective antibiotics and ARGs.

2.4.3 The Impact of Pharmafilter Treatment on ARG Concentration in Hospital Wastewater Effluents and the Urban Wastewater System

On-site wastewater treatment with the Pharmafilter reduces the number of quantified ARG present in hospital wastewater discharge from 13 to 4 and the number of quantified antibiotics from 17 to 7. ARG concentrations of the four genes still detectable after treatment are reduced between 0.5 ± 0.9 to >3.8-fold (**Figure 2-4**). Similarly, relative gene concentrations are reduced for genes detectable after treatment. *Intl*1 has been identified as a measurement of HGT potential and gene acquisition ²⁴⁹ and it has been proposed as an indicator for anthropogenic pollution ³⁰². *Intl*1 was found to show the highest relative concentrations of all genes in all analyzed HWW samples. A study had previously found that high antibiotic concentrations increase intI1 rearrangement, thus increasing the likelihood of HGT ³⁰³. The overall discharge of ARGs concentrations, including intI1, from HWW to the communal sewage system is therefore greatly reduced by Pharmafilter treatment, decreasing the potential for HGT events induced by this otherwise high pollution point source for ARGs.

There are indications of a positive impact of the Pharmafilter treatment on the downstream urban wastewater system and, as a consequence, a benefit in terms of downstream environmental pollution. A lower number of genes was detected in influent samples of W1 (receiving treated HWW) than of W2 (receiving untreated HWW). Interestingly, hospitalrelated genes (not found in CWW) eliminated during Pharmafilter treatment could rarely be detected in W1. *bla*_{KPC} could not be detected in W1 samples and *van*A could only be detected during one of the two sampling rounds (Figure 2-7). Both genes were consistently detected in W2 samples (Figure 2-7). Similar results could be found for hospital-related antibiotics, which were consistently detected at elevated concentrations in W2, with concentrations up to > 5-fold higher (**Figure 2-7**). Antibiotics only detected in W1 influent (amoxicillin, azithromycin clarithromycin, erythromycin, flumequine and sulfamoxole) were not detected in treated HWW (location 1) and must therefore originate from other sources. Antibiotics detected only in W2 influent (marbofloxacin, norfloxacin and sulfathiazole) were similarly only detected in H2, with the exception of norfloxacin, which was also detected in CWW, albeit at low concentrations.

Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes



Figure 2-7: Antibiotic and ARG Presence and Concentration in UWWTP Influents; left - ARG concentrations in Influents; right – antibiotic concentrations in Influents; * - hospital-related antibiotics or ARGs found in HWW of both location (H1 and H2) at comparable concentrations

2.5. Conclusion

On-site treatment was substantially more efficient in reducing antibiotic and ARG concentrations than UWWTPs. On-site treatment of HWW did also reduce UWWTP influent loads with hospital-related pollutants. *IntI*1 concentrations were reduced to a considerably larger extent, which could subsequently reduce HGT potential in wastewaters. Combining these findings with elevated levels of antibiotics and ARGs in HWWs (compared to CWW), on-site treatment of HWWs with sequentially aligned advanced treatment technologies is an important step to decrease the risk potential of HWWs and to decrease the impact of wastewater effluents on the environment and subsequently on human health. Alternatively, upgrading existing UWWTPs to include more advanced treatment technologies could mimic the benefits of on-site wastewater treatment of high-risk point sources.

Pharmafilter treatment results in the reduction of pharmaceuticals, including antibiotics, in the treated wastewaters. Correlations between antibiotic and ARG concentrations, suggest potential interactions between these two factors. This reduction could further decrease HGT events as potential sources of selective pressure are diminished, especially for last-resort antibiotics frequently used in hospitals.

Summarizing it can be said that on-site treatment of high-risk wastewater sources was proven highly advantageous in regard to antibiotic and ARG reduction. Legislative guidelines and requirements would be conducive to create incentives and increase practical implementation of on-site wastewater treatment.

2.6. Supplementary Material

BIOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

Si Table 2-1: qPCR Program Used for Multiplex Assays

1	95.0 C for 5:00	
2	95.0 C for 0:30	
3	[change temp. according to multiplex assay used] for 0:30	
4	72.0 C for 0:45	
	+ Plate Read	10 > Cq > 36 were considered out of range for precise quantification
5	GOTO 2, 40 more times	
	END	
	machine used: CFX96	
	software used: CFX Manager Version : 3.1.1517.0823.	

Si Table 2-2: Triplex Master Mix Preparation

Reagent/Component	%	MM/well
iQ Mix	62.5	25
Water	17.5	1
BSA	12.5	5
3xForward Primer	2.5	3x 1
3xReverse Primer	2.5	3x 1
3xProbe	2.5	3x 1

Volume per well: <u>40µL</u>

Sample Volume per well: 10µL

Si Table 2-3: Multiplex Assay information

Multip lex	Gene	Anneal ing Temp (°C)	FW primer*	RV Primer*	Probe Sequence	Probe Dye
SIQ	sul1*	58	CGCACCGGAAACATCGCT GCAC	TGAAGTTCCGCCGCAA GGCTCG	CGAACCTTCAAAAGCTGAA GTCGGCGT	HEX
	qnrS*		TACGACATTCGTCAACTG CAAGT	GACGTGCTAACTTGCG TG	TACGACATTCGTCAACTGC AAGT	FAM
	IC (optional)		ATGACAGCCACTCCTCCG	GGAACGAACCAAACAG TCTTC	AGCAGAGACCCATTCCCTC AGAGC	Texas Red
TSI	tetB*	60	ACTGCCGTTTTTTCGCC	CCTTATCATGCCAGTC TTGC	TATTCTTCCTGCCACAAAGG CTTGGA	HEX
	bla _{shv*}		TCGCCTGTGTATTATCTC CC	CGCAGATAAATCACCA CAATG	TTGAGCAAATTAAACAAAG CGA	FAM

Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes

	Int1*		CGAACGAGTGGCGGAGG	TACCCGAGAGCTTGGC	TCGTGATGCCTGCTTGTTC	Texas
			GTG	ACCCA	TACGGCA	615
MOA	mecA*	57	CTTCCACATACCATCTTC	GTTGTAGTTGTCGGG	ACGTTGCGATCAATGTTAC	HEX
		_	TTTAAC	TTTGG	CGT	
	bla _{oxa*}		CACTTACAGGAAACTTGG	AGTGTGTTTTAGAATGG	ACATCAAGCATAAAAGCCAA	FAM
			GGTCG	TGATC	GA	
	aph(III)		ACATATCGGATTGTCCCT	TCGGCCAGATCGTTAT	TAGCTTAGACAGCCGCTTA	Tex615
	a*		ATACGAA	TCAGTA		
EEK	ermB*	59	GATACCGTTTACGAAATT	GAATCGAGACTTGAGT	ACAGGTAAAGGGCATTTAA	Texas
			GG	GTGC	CGA	615
	ermF*		CGACACAGCTTTGGTTGA	GGACCTAACTCATAGA	AATTATTTTCTGATGCCCGA	FAM
			AC	CAAG		
	blaкрс*		TCGAACAGGACTTTGGC	GGACAGCTCCGCCACC	CGCTGGTTCCGTGGTCA	HEX
			GGCT	GTCATG		
BAM	vanB*	58	CCGCCATCCTCCTGCAAA	GTGACAAACCGGAGG	ACACGAGCAAGCCCTCTGC	TexRed
			AAA	CGAGGA	A	
	vanA*		TCTGCAATAGAGATAGCC	GGAGTAGCTATCCCAG	ATACGAGCCGTTATACAT	HEX
			GC	CATT		
	tetM*		GCAATTCTACTGATTTCT	CTGTTTGATTACAATT	AAAGATGGCGTACAAGCAC	FAM
			GC	TCCGC		

*primers as suggested by ANSWER-ITN supervisory board (see http://www.answer-itn.eu/ for more information)

Multiplex qPCR Standard Curves

Standard curves were obtained by using gBlocks at increasing concentrations (2.5E00 - 2.5E04 gene copies/µL). The gBlock sequences contained the target sequences (=sequence between FW and RV primers) for all genes quantified within one multiplex assay.

Si Table 2-4: bsolute Gene Concentrations Within Separate Communal WW Samples

	W1-b	W1-a	W2-b	W2-a
Aph3a	9.2E+04±1.3E+05	2.3E+03±3.3E+03	9.0E+05±1.2E+06	1.4E+5±1.9E+5
blaKPC	-	-	-	-
blaOXA	1.4E+05±1.8E+05	5.8E+04±8.2E+04	1.1E+05±1.9E+05	3.9E+4±2.9E+4
blaSHV	1.3E+04±3.1E+03	2.6E+03±2.2E+03	3.0E+03±5.1E+03	2.3E+3±1.9E+3
ermB	7.7E+06±8.0E+06	3.1E+04±3.8E+04	9.1E+04±3.3E+04	2.3E+5±2.4E+5
ermF	3.3E+06±3.3E+06	1.3E+05±1.5E+05	9.6E+05±9.5E+05	4.6E+5±6.3E+5
Int1	5.4E+07±2.6E+07	1.2E+08±1.4E+08	2.4E+07±2.5E+07	2.6E+8±2.4E+8
MecA	5.6E+02±4.8E+02	1.7E+01±1.6E+01	9.0E+02±6.1E+02	3.7E+3±3.6E+3
qnrS	3.2E+03±6.1E+02	-	6.9E+01±4.1E+01	2.1E+2±8.0E+1
Sul1	7.5E+06±2.4E+06	8.2E+06±5.2E+06	3.7E+06±3.6E+06	1.6E+7±1.0E+7
TetB	9.2E+05±3.6E+05	5.2E+04±2.9E+04	1.6E+03±7.2E+02	4.3E+3±2.6E+3
TetM	2.2E+06±2.4E+06	1.2E+06±2.8E+05	9.8E+04±8.3E+04	3.3E+5±3.2E+5
VanA	-	-	-	-
VanB	-	-	-	-

SI Figure 2-5 Absolute Gene Concentration in MBR Sludge Sample (Pharmafilter)

Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes



SI Figure 2-6 Absolute Gene Concentrations including 16S rRNA Concentrations: *in Urban WWTPs (W1, W2) during different sampling rounds (a, b)*





SI Figure 2-7 Relative Gene Reduction during Pharmafilter Processes; top: 1st sampling round, bottom: 2nd sampling round

45

SI Table 2-8 Correlation between A and ARG Concentrations Expressed by the Coefficient of Determination (R^2); significant correlations marked *red:* $R^2 > 0.5$ with p < 0.05 and > 5 common data points; black: $R^2 > 0.5$ and p > 0.05; grey: $R^2 < 0.5$; antibiotics without correlations $R^2 > 0.5$ not shown (Trimethoprim, Amoxicillin, Ofloxacin, Sulfadiazine, Sulfapyridine)

	Azithr o- myci n	Clarit hro- myci n	Eryth ro- myci n	Rifaxi min	Metro - nidaz ole	Fluco - nazol e	Linco - myci n	Ciproflo xacin	Norflo xacin	Sulfach loro- pyridaz ine	Sulfacl ozine	Sulfam etho- xazole	Sulfis o- xazol e
Aph 3a	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	0.998 996	0.971 367	<0.5	<0.5	< 0.5	0.6492 94	<0.5	<0.5	< 0.5	<0.5
IC	0.582 158	<0.5	<0.5	0.699 297	0.645 689	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Int1	0.589 325			0.971 250							0.5845 13		<0.5
Mec A	0.987 371	0.716 079	0.525 182	1	<0.5	0.668 912	0.553 194	<0.5	<0.5	0.9045 70	0.6155 29	<0.5	0.576 693
Sul1	0.599 297			0.977 817									<0.5
Tet B	0.551 858	<0.5	<0.5	0.750 341	0.721 534	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	0.5558 34	<0.5	<0.5
Tet M						0.835 294							<0.5
Van A	0.548 800	<0.5	<0.5	0.999 997	0.899 329	<0.5	<0.5	0.7459 52	0.7291 99	<0.5	0.6409 94	0.5186 14	<0.5
Van B													1
blaK PC	<0.5	1	1	1	0.998 528	<0.5	1	0.5406 91	0.8587 33	<0.5	0.5716 26	<0.5	<0.5
bla OXA				0.971 815	0.814 553				0.6549 45		0.6011 37		<0.5
blaS HV	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	0.999 414	0.884 524	<0.5	<0.5	0.8350 77	0.7150 63	0.7818 65	0.6268 08	<0.5	<0.5
erm B				0.861 844	0.545 556						0.5789 00		<0.5
erm F	0.663 233	<0.5	<0.5	< 0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
qnr S	0.540 792			0.999 841	0.998 023			0.5561 39	0.6425 30				<0.5





I. Chemical Analysis

SI 2-10

Chemicals and reagents

Acetonitrile (ACN) and Methanol (MeOH) LC–MS grade was purchased from Merck (Darmstadt,Germany) and formic acid (FA) 99% was obtained from Sigma–Aldrich, Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland). Distilled water was provided by a Milli-Q purification apparatus (Millipore Direct-Q UV, Bedford, MA, USA). Oasis-HLB disks were purchased from (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) and RC syringe filters (4 mm diameter, 0.2 µm pore size) from Phenomenex (Torrance, CA, USA).

Sample preparation automatic SPE (SPEDEX) program

SI Table 2-11: Conditioning and extraction program used for sample preparation of wastewater samples by HORIZON SPE-DEX 4790.

		Solvent	Soak Time (sec)	AirDry Time (sec)
		Isopropanol	-	5
_	Cycle	Isopropanol	-	5
ioning	reWet	Milli-Q Water	-	5
condit		Methanol	-	5
HLB (Ethyl Acetate	-	5
	Cyde	Methanol	-	5
	Rinse	Ethyl Acetate	-	5
		Ethyl Acetate	120	30
		Ethyl Acetate	120	30
		Ethyl Acetate	90	30
	cle	Methanol	120	30
	Wet Cy	Methanol	120	30
u	Pre	Methanol	60	30
tracti		Milli-Q water	120	30
Ë		Milli-Q water	60	30
		Milli-Q water	60	30
	ycle	Ethyl Acetate	150	60
	rDry C	Ethyl Acetate	90	30
	nple Ai	Ethyl Acetate	90	30
	San	Methanol	150	60

Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wast	:ewater
system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes	

Methanol	90	30
Methanol	90	30

Instrumental analysis parameters

SI Table 2-12: LC-MS/MS conditions in positive ionization mode and gradient elution program.

Positive Ionization Mode

Gradient Program		ESI (+) Parameters		
Time (min)	% B	Spray Voltage	3500V	
0	2	Capillary temperature	270 °C	
3	2	Sheath gas	30 psi	
20	100	Auxiliary (drying) gas	10 a.u.	
29	100	(A) H ₂ O 0.01% v/	V HCOOH	
30	2	(B) MeOH	ł	
45	2			

SI Table 2-13: Selected reaction monitoring transitions of the targeted analytes, precursor ions, product ions, collision energies and tube lens.

Analyte	Precursor Ion	Product Ion 1	CE (eV)	Product Ion 2	CE (eV)	Tube Lens (V)
Cefalexin	348	158	6	106.1	30	113
Cefaclor	368	178	31	106	27	93
Clarithromycin	749	158	30	590.5	20	123
Azithromycin	749	591.1	29	157.9	37	127
Erythromycin	734	158.1	30	576.3	20	130
Metronidazole	172	128	13	82.3	25	69
Trimethoprim	291	230	25	122.9	30	87
Lincomycin	407	126.2	30	359.2	17	99
Tylosin	917	173.9	36	772.2	28	148
Tiamulin	494	192	21	119	33	101
Amoxicillin	366	348.9	8	114	22	68
Ampicillin	350	106	27	160	14	98
Dicloxacillin	468	327	15	424	11	91
Ciprofloxacin	332	288	18	314	22	85
Ofloxacin	362	317.9	19	260.9	27	120
Norfloxacin	320	276	16	233	23	91
Flumequine	262	244	20	201.9	30	85
Oxolinic acid	262	244	18	158	31	79
Sarafloxacin	386	342	18	299	27	85
Difloxacin	400	356	20	299	27	85
Enrofloxacin	360	245	25	316.8	20	85
Marbofloxacin	363	320	15	71.9	20	85
Sulfamethoxazole	254	155.8	16	108	25	87
Sulfadiazine	251	156	15	92.2	27	87
Sulfapyridine	250	156	15	184	17	87
Sulfisoxazole	268	156	13	92.2	27	87
Sulfachloropyridazine	285	92.1	28	155.9	14	87
Sulfaclozine	285	92.1	28	156	15	87
Sulfathiazole	256	155.9	15	92.2	26	87

Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes

Sulfamonomethoxine	281	156	13	92.2	29	87
Sulfamoxole	268	156	13	92.2	28	87
Sulfamerazine	265	156	16	172	16	87
Sulfadimethoxine	311	156	17	108.1	29	87
Sulfadimidine	279	185.9	17	124.1	26	87
Sulfadoxine	311	156	17	108.1	27	87
Sulfamethoxypyridazine	281	156	13	92.2	29	87
Sulfaguanidine	215	156	14	92.2	14	87
Sulfamethizole	271	155.9	14	92.2	28	87
Sulfaquinoxaline	301	156	18	92.2	30	87
Chlortetracycline	479	444	20	462	15	90
Minocycline	458	441	19	352	29	105

SI Table 2-14: LC-MS/MS conditions in positive and negative ionization modes and gradient elution program.

Positive Ionization									
Gradient Elution	Program	ESI (+) Parameters							
Time (min)	% B	Capillary Voltage	2500V						
0	1	End plate offset	500V						
1	1	nebulizer	2 bar						
3	39	Drying gas	8 L min ⁻¹						
14	99.9	Drying temperature	200°C						
16	99.9	(A) Water : Methanol 90:10 5mM HCOON	H4 with 0.01% HCOOH						
16.1	1	(B) Methanol 5mM HCOONH ₄ with	0.01% HCOOH						
20	1								

Negative Ionization									
Gradient Elutior	Program	ESI (-) Parameters							
Time (min)	% B	Capillary Voltage	3500 V						
0	1	End plate offset	500 V						
1	1	nebulizer	2 bar						
3	39	Drying gas	8 L min ⁻¹						
14	99.9	Drying temperature	200°C						
16	99.9	(A) Water : Methanol 90:10 5mM	CH3COONH ₄						
16.1	1	(B) Methanol 5mM CH3COONH ₄							
20	1								

SI Table 2-15. Antibiotics, class of antibiotics, limit of detection (LOD), frequency of detection and concentration of the antibiotics (ng/L) in the wastewater samples

Antibiotics	Class of Antibio tic	L O D	H1 untre ated	H1 trea ted	W1 Infl uen t	W1 Effl uen t	H2	W2 Infl uen t	W2 Effl uen t	Com muna I WW	H1 - stati on1	H1 - stati on2	Pha rma MB R	Pha rma GAC	Pha rma Ozo ne
Ciprofloxacin	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	5. 6	2706	62	86	51	37 52	103	62	16	1843	264	300 6	51	182
Sulfamethox azole	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	0. 1	367	1	29	23	26 9	79	64	1	5	2	721	3	5
Metronidazol e	Antibioti cs (Nitroimi dazole)	1. 1	4	7	74	52	75 67	12	52	5	18	<lo D</lo 	120 3	8	72
Sulfadiazine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	3. 0	24	16	89	122	23 3	421	153	3	<lo D</lo 	3254	15	3	<lo D</lo
Ofloxacin	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	4. 7	260	<lo D</lo 	28	81	30	56	64	7	8	<lo D</lo 	547	9	<lo D</lo
Sulfapyridine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	4. 5	45	<lo D</lo 	84	110	25 3	408	133	5	<lo D</lo 	3215	21	<lo D</lo 	6
Fluconazole	Antibioti cs (Other)	2. 2	206	3	4	9	60	16	23	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>803</th><th>17</th><th>424</th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	803	17	424
Sulfisoxazole	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	2. 4	1117	<lo D</lo 	239	<lo D</lo 	11 47	1292	942	684	1603	689	737	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Trimethopri m	Antibioti cs (Other)	7. 5	59	<lo D</lo 	62	61	25 9	105	112	<lod< th=""><th>412</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>88</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	412	<lo D</lo 	88	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfachlorop yridazine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	5. 1	15	<lo D</lo 	5	7	<l OD</l 	9	8	<lod< th=""><th>15</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>21</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>7</th></lod<>	15	<lo D</lo 	21	<lo D</lo 	7
Clarithromyci n	Antibioti cs (Macroli des)	2. 9	6	<lo D</lo 	46	62	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	97	<lod< th=""><th>7</th><th>264</th><th>4</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	7	264	4	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Azithromycin	Antibioti cs (Macroli des)	4. 6	<lod< th=""><th>9</th><th>85</th><th>117</th><th>40 6</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>240</th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>323</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>14</th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	9	85	117	40 6	<lo D</lo 	240	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>323</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>14</th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	323	<lo D</lo 	14	<lo D</lo
Amoxicillin	Antibioti cs (Penicilli ns)	6. 1	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>129</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>7</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>111</th><th>113</th><th>8</th><th>52</th><th>13</th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	129	<lo D</lo 	7	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	111	113	8	52	13	<lo D</lo
Norfloxacin	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	4. 5	21	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	23	41	20	<lo D</lo 	8	28	18	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Flumequine	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	2. 6	<lod< th=""><th>3</th><th>18</th><th>17</th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>11</th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>18</th><th>4</th><th>3</th></lod<></th></lod<>	3	18	17	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	11	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>18</th><th>4</th><th>3</th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	18	4	3
Erythromycin	Antibioti cs (Macroli des)	9. 0	83	<lo D</lo 	72	99	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	315	<lod< th=""><th>603</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>141 8</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	603	<lo D</lo 	141 8	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Lincomycin	Antibioti cs (Other)	5. 3	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>11</th><th>8</th><th>15</th><th>25</th><th>40</th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>23</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	11	8	15	25	40	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>23</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	23	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Rifaximin	Antibioti cs (Macroli	0. 9	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>3</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>84</th><th>3</th><th>5</th><th>3</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	3	<lo D</lo 	84	3	5	3	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfaclozine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	1. 7	44	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	37	56	9	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th>22</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	22	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo

Ampicillin	Antibioti cs (Penicilli ns)	21 .0	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>45</th><th>60</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>28</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	45	60	<lo D</lo 	28	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfathiazole	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	6. 3	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>14</th><th>9</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>56</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	14	9	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>56</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	56	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfamonom ethoxine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	5. 3	12	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th>6</th><th>7</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	6	7	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfamoxole	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	3. 2	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>10</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>16</th><th>6</th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	10	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>16</th><th>6</th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	16	6	<lo D</lo
Cefalexine	Antibioti cs (Cefalos porines)	4. 2	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>5</th><th>5</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	5	5	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Oxolinic acid	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	2. 6	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>5</th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>21</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	5	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th>21</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	21	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfamerazin e	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	7. 6	11	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	28	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Tylosin	Antibioti cs (Other)	6. 8	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>24</th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	24	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sarafloxacin	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	1. 8	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>2</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	2	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Enrofloxacin	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	14 .1	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>22</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	22	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Marbofloxaci n	Antibioti cs (Quinolo nes)	2. 1	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th>4</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	4	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfadimetho xine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	0. 8	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th>2</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th>2</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	2	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfadimidin e	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	5. 1	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th>5</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th>5</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	5	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfadoxine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	6. 2	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><l OD</l </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>12</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th>12</th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	12	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo
Sulfamethox ypyridazine	Antibioti cs (Sulfona mides)	5. 1	6	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<l OD</l 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lod< th=""><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th><th><lo D</lo </th></lod<>	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo 	<lo D</lo

Chapter 2 - The Impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes

SI Table 2-16. Detected antibiotics by suspect screening, class of antibiotics and level of identification. Compounds positively detected in wastewater samples are marked with "+".

Antibiotics	Class of Antibi otic	Level of Ident ificati on	H1 untr eat ed	H1 tre ate d	W1 Inf lue nt	W1 Effi ue nt	H 2	W2 Inf lue nt	W2 Effi ue nt	Com mun al WW	H1 - sta tio n1	H1 - sta tio n2	Ph ar ma MB R	Ph ar ma GA C	Ph ar ma Oz on e
Rifaximin	Antibio tics (Macro lides)	Confir med struct ure Level 1			+	<l OD</l 	+	+	+	+					
Fluconazole	Antibio tics (Other)	Confir med struct ure Level 1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+	+	+
Nalidixic acid	Antibio tics (Quino lones)	2A					+								
Hydroxy- metronidazole (MNZOH)	Antibio tics (Nitroi midaz ole)	2A	+		+		+	+		+	+		+		
Sulfanilamide	Antibio tics (Sulfo namid es)	2A	+		+			+		+	+	+			
Sulfasalazine	Antibio tics (Sulfo namid es)	2A				+	+		+				+		
8- Hydroxychinol in	Antibio tics (Other)	2A				+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
3- Aminosalicylic acid	Antibio tics (Other)	3								+	+				
Mycophenolic acid	Antibio tics (Other)	3			+	+	+	+	+						

SI 2-17 Chemical Data Analysis

Thermo LCquan 2.7. (CA, USA) was used to analyze the data from LC-QQQ instrument. UHPLC-QTOF-MS data were used for suspect screening of 670 antibiotics, which can be found under the name "S6 ITNANTIBIOTIC" in the website of NORMAN network in Suspect list exchange webpage (https://www.norman-network.com/?q=node/236). Data-independent chromatograms were converted to mzML using msconvert module of Proteowizard software ³⁰⁴ and the collision energy channels were separated using an in-house script ³⁰⁵. Peak picking using centWave algorithm ³⁰⁶ with optimized parameters ³⁰⁷ for chromatography and mass spectrometry (ppm 17.6, min peakwidth 15, max peakwidth 50, snthresh 10, fitgauss TRUE) was used to find peaks in the data. Isotopic peaks and adduct peaks of MS1 full-scan data were grouped (componentization) using nontarget R-package (Loos, 2016). Suspect list used included the experimental fragments for 152 suspected compounds, while for rest predicted fragments were used ³⁰⁸. Tentative identification achieved in cases which molecular ion was detected with mass accuracy below 2 mDa and at least 2 library fragment ions were detected. Cases with in-silico predicted fragments were further investigated manually.

ALYGIZAKIS NA, SAMANIPOUR S, HOLLENDER J, IBÁÑEZ M, KASERZON S, KOKKALI V, VAN LEERDAM JA, MUELLER JF, PIJNAPPELS M, REID MJ (2018) Exploring the Potential of a Global Emerging Contaminant Early Warning Network through the Use of Retrospective Suspect Screening with High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry. *Environmental Science & Technology* **52** (9) 5135–5144. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00365.

CHAMBERS MC, MACLEAN B, BURKE R, AMODEI D, RUDERMAN DL, NEUMANN S, GATTO L, FISCHER B, PRATT B, EGERTSON J, and co-authors (2012) A cross-platform toolkit for mass spectrometry and proteomics. Nature Biotechnology. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2377 (Accessed 1 August 2018).

LIBISELLER G, DVORZAK M, KLEB U, GANDER E, EISENBERG T, MADEO F, NEUMANN S, TRAUSINGER G, SINNER F, PIEBER T, and co-authors (2015) IPO: a tool for automated optimization of XCMS parameters. *BMC Bioinformatics* **16** (1) 118. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-015-0562-8.

TAUTENHAHN R, BÖTTCHER C and NEUMANN S (2008) Highly sensitive feature detection for high resolution LC/MS. *BMC Bioinformatics* **9** (1) 504. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-9-50

{

3. International tempo-spatial study of antibiotic

resistance across the Rhine River using newly

developed multiplex qPCR assays



Figure 3-1: Graphical Abstract; Chapter 3

3.1. Abstract

The aim of this study was to capture and explain trends and changes in antibiotic resistance gene (ARG) presence and concentration internationally across the Rhine River. *Intl* concentrations and national antibiotic usage were investigated as proxies to predict anthropogenic ARG pollution levels. Newly developed multiplex qPCR assays were employed to investigate antibiotic resistance gene profiles across 8 locations (L1-L8) in three countries (Switzerland, Germany and the Netherlands) and to detect potential local or national causes for variation. Two of these locations were further monitored, over the duration of one month. A total of 13 antibiotic resistance genes, as well as *Intl* and 16S rRNA were quantified.

Antibiotic resistance gene presence and concentrations initially increased from L1(Diepoldsau) to L3(Darmstadt). A continuous increase could not be observed at subsequent locations, with the large river volume likely being a major contributing factor for stability. ARG presence and concentrations fluctuated widely across different locations. L2 (Basel) and L3 were the two most polluted locations, coinciding with these locations being well-developed pharmaceutical production locations.

We draw attention to the characteristic, clearly distinct ARG profiles, with gene presence being consistent and gene concentrations varying significantly less over time than across different locations. Five genes were Rhine-typical (*erm*B, *erm*F, *Intl*1, *sul*1 and *tet*M). *Intl*1 and *sul*1 were the genes with highest and second-highest concentration, respectively. *Aph*(III)a and *bla*_{DXA} were permanently introduced downstream of L1, indicating no source of these genes prior to L1.

We also highlight that strong correlations between *Intl*¹ and ARG concentrations ($R^2=0.72$) were mainly driven by correlation to *sul*¹ and disappeared when excluding *sul*¹ from the analysis ($R^2=0.05$). *Intl*¹ therefore seems to be a good proxy for *sul*¹ concentrations but not necessarily for overall (anthropogenic) ARG pollution. Aminoglycoside usage per country correlated with concentrations of *aph*(III)a and several unrelated antibiotic resistance genes (*bla*_{DXA}, *erm*B, *erm*F and *tet*M). This correlation can be explained by co-resistance caused by mobile genetic elements (MGEs), such as Tn1545.

3.2. Introduction

Water Pollution and antibiotic resistance (AR) are on the rise globally and the advancing global emergence calls for better and more extensive monitoring of environmental, urban and medical environments ^{309,310}. While AR has been present since the first microorganisms started producing antibiotics to protect themselves against these toxic compounds ⁷⁵, a recent sharp increase in resistance of clinically relevant bacteria is evident ^{29,311–313}. Reasons for this increase include: overuse and inappropriate prescription of antibiotics, extensive use in agriculture and animal husbandry, severe misinformation about when antibiotics are indicated, the absence of coordinated global AR combat strategies and a low number of new antibiotics ^{29,310,311,314,315}. Global and national action plans to tackle AR are developed in recent years, but they are neither fully coordinated nor incorporated into legislation ³¹⁶, partly due to gaps in knowledge ³¹⁷.

It is widely accepted that AR is largely caused by the increased use and misuse of antibiotics ^{318–320}. However, the exact role of the environment is not well understood ^{321–323}. It is likely that the environment can act as a reservoir for ARGs ³²⁴ and possible that it might facilitate transfer of AR to non-environmental microorganisms, pathogens or human microbiomes ^{131,318}. Where antibiotic pressure is high in the environment, new ARGs may emerge ¹⁹⁵.

A quantitative approach to assess the risk of ARB/ARG in the environment and possible effects on the environment, animals and humans is missing ³¹⁰. Increased exposure to AR via the environment will lead to increased risk; with a growing world population, associated water use, discharge of wastewater ³²⁵ and the increasing reuse of wastewater ^{326–329}, exposure to environmental ARG/ARB will rise.

Notwithstanding the large number of recent monitoring studies, one of the main gaps in knowledge are definite numbers of ARG concentrations and their fluctuation in the environment at different locations over time and under varying conditions ^{317,330}. Tempospatial studies of water bodies are imperative, especially for substances of emerging concern, such as ARGs ³³¹. AR baseline levels in the environment and their increase due to varying levels of anthropogenic pollution have not been extensively studied. These numbers are needed to serve as a baseline for knowledge on environmental dissemination of ARG and to estimate the risk of observed ARG concentrations at, for example, ARG hotspots such as strongly polluted surface water bodies ³³².

ARGs and MGEs, such as *sul*¹ and *Intl*,¹ have been suggested as proxies to monitor ARGs (of anthropogenic origin) in the environment. *Intl*¹, has been suggested as indicator for bacterial capacity for gene transfer and gene acquisition ²⁴⁹ as well as proxy for ARGs of anthropogenic origin ³³³. *Sul*¹ has been suggested as indicator for urban and agricultural pollution of ARG ²¹¹.

Closely meshed monitoring programs using regular qPCR of more than one target gene require large amounts of time, personnel and material resources. While quantitative high-throughput technologies, such as microarray technologies and HT-qPCR (high throughput qPCR) are increasingly used to determine AR in the environment ^{212,330,334–338}, there are a number of challenges and disadvantages associated with these technologies ²¹². Microarray technologies suffer from batch-to-batch variability and are considered less sensitive and specific ²¹². HT-qPCR is prone to instrumental sensitivity and analytical differences which can

significantly impact results and individual assays tested cannot be optimized during the experimental run ²¹². Our aim was to decrease the necessary resources and to maintain the accuracy of regular qPCR approaches while using a method with a higher throughput and avoiding the shortcomings of high throughput technologies. To this end five multiplex qPCR assays were developed to detect and accurately quantify three genes per qPCR assay simultaneously.

The present work is an international study monitoring a large river from the source to the ocean and is, to the best of our knowledge, the first of its kind for large western European rivers. It monitors spatio-temporal changes in ARG presence and concentration regarding the following: genes conferring resistance to aminoglycosides (*aph*(III)a), β -lactam antibiotics (*bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{SHV}, *bla*_{OXA}, *mec*A), macrolides (*erm*B, *erm*F), quinolones (*qnr*S), sulfonamides (*sul*1), tetracyclines (*tet*B, *tet*M) and glycopeptides (*van*A, *van*B) as well as a class 1 Integrase (*Intl*1) and 16s rRNA. The study further aims at gaining more information on ARG levels across the river Rhine at different locations as well as changes over time to identify relationships, trends and co-occurrences of environmental ARGs and their concentrations, which will provide insight needed to detect prospective causes. Potential proxies for ARG pollution of anthropogenic origin were compared.

3.3. Methods and Materials

3.3.1 MULTIPLEX DEVELOPMENT AND QUALITY CONTROL

Five Multiplex qPCR assays were developed and validated. Development steps included: optimal annealing temperature testing for primers and probes, grouping of ARGs into multiplex qPCR assays based on optimal annealing temperatures and functionality tests using SYBR Green II (for comparison of probe-based multiplex qPCR results) as well as Taqman in combination with the iQ^{TM} Supermix (simplex) or iQ^{TM} Multiplex Powermix (multiplex) (Bio Rad, München, DE).

Quality control steps included: computational interaction tests (for interactions between primers and probes of ARGs within the multiplex qPCR assay) using OligoAnalyzer 3.1 ³³⁹, experimental interaction tests and precision tests for accurate quantification (comparing quantification results obtained by SYBR Green II assays to Taqman qPCR assays). Mock samples were prepared in 0.1xTE-buffer or by spiking environmental samples (pond water) with gene concentrations within a specific assay varying up to 1000-fold.

Validation steps included determination of limit of quantification (LoQ) and limit of detection (LoD) ³⁴⁰, calculation of intra- and interassay variation in form of the coefficient of variation (CV) ^{341,342} and multiplex qPCR assay efficiencies for each of the genes within a multiplex assay ³⁴². Validation was conducted and reported according to MIQE (Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments) guidelines ³⁴³. More specifically: serial dilutions of the standard were prepared for the different genes and quantified multiple times to obtain at least 8 data points per dilution.

3.3.2 SAMPLING

SAMPLING SITES

The Rhine is the second-largest river in Central and Western Europe. It originates at Lake Toma in Switzerland and discharges in the Netherlands into the North Sea after 1230 km and has an average flow rate of 2900 m³/s. Sampling was done along the Rhine at 8 locations: L1 – L8. The samples were collected by a cooled courier car and were processed within 24h of sampling at the processing facility.

There are six distinctive Rhine regions with different characteristics (Figure 3-2).



Figure 3-2: Sections and Major Affluents of the Rhine; blues – Alpine Rhine and High Rhine, green - Upper Rhine, yellow – Middle Rhine, Orange – Lower Rhine (up to Dutch-German border) and Rhine Delta; sampling locations indicated by green stars and identified by number; approximate location of the Rhine-Ruhr-region highlighted in red

SAMPLING CONDITIONS

Samples were taken at dedicated river water quality monitoring stations of the International Association of Waterworks of the river Rhine, situated in the streambed of the river. Locations were situated at least 3 km downstream from wastewater treatment plant discharge sites. Samples were taken at a depth of 0-30cm. Four liters (two grab samples of 2 L) of surface water were taken. All samples were stored in identical plastic bottles at 4 °C before, during and after transport to the processing facility. Rainfall data was collected from national weather institutes (see *SIA 3-1*).

Temporal Monitoring

Time-series sampling was performed at the locations Lobith (L6) and Utrecht (L8), approximately six months after the spatial sampling campaign (3.3.3). The following samples were taken (day 1 - 24th of October 2017): day 1 (0h, 5h, 10h), day 7 and day 30. Spatial samples were taken into account for temporal analysis. L6 was chosen for its high number of detected ARGs and L8 due to this being the most downstream location where potential fluctuations were hypothesized to be amplified.

Spatial Monitoring

For spatial monitoring, all samples were taken on May 3, 2017. Samples were taken at the following location (increasingly downstream): Diepoldsau (L1, CH), Basel (L2, CH), close to Darmstadt (L3, DE), Cologne, Düsseldorf and Lobith (L4 – L6), Arnhem (L7, NL) and from the Lek at Utrecht/Nieuwegein (L8, NL). L2 and L3 are locations with extensive, well-developed pharmaceutical industries. L4 and L5 fall into a densely populated German region called the Rhine-Ruhr-region. Meteorological conditions were comparable across sampling locations (see *SI A.3-1*).

3.3.3 FILTRATION AND DNA EXTRACTION

Samples were filtered (300 mL) and DNA extracted from sample duplicates. DNA extract duplicates were then pooled for further analysis and stored at -30 °C. Filtration and DNA extraction were performed as previously described ³⁴⁴.

3.3.4 ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE GENE QUANTIFICATION

13 ARGs, *Intl*¹ and an internal control (IC) were quantified by multiplex qPCR using TaqMan. The IC is a DNA sequence added to the sample before DNA extraction to identify potential DNA loss during/ due to the DNA extraction process, to account for this loss and make data from different samples more comparable 252 . 16S rRNA gene concentrations were quantified using SYBR Green. TaqMan and SYBR Green assays were comparable as previously confirmed by comparison studies conducted using TaqMan and SYBR Green assays for all genes within the multiplex qPCR assays (*chapter 3.3.1*). All qPCR assays were performed on a CFX96 system (Bio-Rad). Each reaction was carried out in a final volume of 50 µL containing 10 µL DNA extract. Primer and probe sequences, as well as cycling conditions, standards and controls used are documented in the supplementary material (*SI Tables 3-1 – 3-3*).

Each sample was analyzed by qPCR at least thrice in separate qPCR runs using duplicate wells.

Primers, standards and probes were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies, BVBA Belgium.

3.3.5 ANTIBIOTIC CONSUMPTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL DATA

ARG concentrations were correlated to national human ²⁷⁸ and veterinary ³⁴⁵ antibiotic usage data as well as to agricultural, farming and environmental data (*SI A.3-3*) obtained from European and national surveillance agency reports and databases.

Numbers from human and veterinary antibiotic usage data were added to obtain the antibiotic load used for correlation analysis. Antibiotic data used was country-specific so that the same national antibiotic average was assigned to the locations within a country.

3.3.6 DATA ANALYSIS

Python 3.6.0 was used to calculate descriptive statistics and correlations and to create data visualizations. R version 3.5.0 was used to perform inferential statistics, including Student's t-test, Welch's F-test and ANOVA.

Mean and standard deviations (std) were calculated using the results from all qPCR replicates for each sampling location for the (a) spatial samples only, and (b) all temporal samples.

Significant differences between experiments and/or measurements were detected by employing paired or unpaired Student's t-Tests and two samples/measurements were defined to be significantly different from each other when the calculated p-value was lower than 0.05. A test of variance between temporal and spatial data was calculated in a one-sided F-test. When necessary, data was log¹⁰-transformed to comply with the assumption of normal distribution of the data.

Regression plots were generated using the .regplot() function in Seaborn 0.9.0 (a Python package for statistical data visualization) ^{346,347}.

Unless otherwise stated, all gene concentrations are relative concentrations normalized to 16S rRNA concentrations.

3.4. Results and Discussion

3.4.1 MULTIPLEX ASSAYS

Gene primers and probes were tested for functionality in SYBR Green II and TaqMan qPCR assays, and for potential incorporation into multiplex qPCR assays (*SI Table 3-1*). Genes were combined into multiplex qPCR assays depending on the optimal annealing temperatures (obtained during annealing temperature tests, *SI Table 3-2*), preliminary computational interaction tests (based on ΔG calculations) and, whenever possible, by amplicon length.

Out of the tested primer-probe combinations, 15 were suitable for multiplex qPCR inclusion and five multiplex assays, quantifying three genes each, were developed (**Table 3-1**).

Multiplex	1	2	3	4	5
ARG 1	sul1	tetB	mecA	vanA	ermB
ARG 2	IC	<i>bla</i> sнv	<i>bla</i> oxa	vanB	<i>erm</i> F
ARG 3	qnrS	Intl1	aph(III)a	<i>tet</i> M	<i>bla</i> крс
Annealing				50.00	
Temperature	58 °C	60 °C	58 °C	56 °C	57 °C
Quantification Limit		2.5E00 g			

Table 3-1: Overview of developed multiplex qPCR assays, including ARGs in assay, optimal annealing temperature and limit of quantification (LOQ)

Quality control tests experimentally verified that no interaction took place between primer pair and probe sequences of different genes within an assay, to ensure an independent quantification of the individual ARGs within each of the multiplex assays. All ARGs could be accurately quantified even under conditions where one of the assay genes was present in concentrations up to 1000-fold higher than the other genes. Finally, quantification results obtained by multiplex qPCR assay were compared to quantification results obtained by simplex and SYBR Green II assay. The same quantification results were obtained for multiplex assays 1, 2, 3 and 5, these assays are accurate up to one decimal number (*SI Figure 3-1*). Multiplex assay 4 showed elevated results outside of the margin of error; gene concentrations were estimated up to 3 times higher than results obtained by SYBR Green II assay. The accuracy of this assay is therefore lower and obtained gene concentrations are order-of-magnitude rather than exact numbers (*SI Figure 3-1*).

VALIDATION OF ACCURACY, EFFICIENCY AND PRECISION

The LoQ is 2.5E+00 gene copies/ μ L DNA extract for all genes, with exception of genes within multiplex assay 4 (semi-quantitative), as this was the lowest concentration at which replicates showed a CV \leq 35%. The LoD is 5E-01 for all genes in the multiplex assays 1 and 3 as well as for *tetB* and *bla_{SHV}*. The LoD is 1.0E+00 for all genes within multiplex assay 5 as well as for *Intl1*. Standard curves for all multiplex assays including the efficiency, R², the slope and the y-intercept can be seen under *SI Figures 3-2 – 3-6*. Concentrations to determine the LoD started from 5.0E-01 and increased by 5.0E-01 steps.

Intra – and interassay variation were determined by calculating the CV based on the ΔC_t for each gene within the five multiplex assays. Intra-assay variation was < 1.5% for all genes (range: 0.26 % – 1.4 %), while inter-assay variation was < 2.5 % (range: 0.49 % – 2.3 %). Amplification efficiencies for the different genes in the multiplex assays ranged from 86 % - 104 %, with genes within individual multiplex assays never differing more than 10 % in their efficiencies during one qPCR experiment (*SI A.3-2*). As efficiencies did not differ more than 10 % between the genes within a multiplex during individual qPCR reactions, amplification of these genes is directly comparable.

3.4.2 TEMPORAL VARIATION OF ARG CONCENTRATIONS

Multiplex qPCR assays were applied to river Rhine samples to monitor temporal variation of ARGs at two sites (L6 and L8).



Figure 3-3: ARG Concentration Variance; Temporal Variance at Sampling Locations L6 (left) and L8 (right), scale: gene copy number per 16S rRNA shown

Intl1, sul1, ermB, ermF, TetM, blaOXA and *apha3* were detected at both sites, while *blaSHV* and *tetB* were detected consistently at L6, and consistently not detected at L8 (**Figure 3-3**). The temporal variance within samples at one location was largely not statistically significant ($p \ge 0.05$). Overall, it can be said that the observed ARG profiles are representative and consistent for both sampling locations (**Figure 3-3**).

3.4.3 SPATIAL VARIATION FOR ARG PRESENCE AND CONCENTRATIONS

Out of 14 target genes, 5 were detected at the most upstream location (L1), 7 genes at L2 and 10 genes at L3. At more downstream locations, the number of detected genes was 7, with exceptions at L6 and L7 (9 and 8 genes, respectively) (**Figure 3-4**).

The sampling location least polluted in regard to gene presence was L1 with only 5 detected genes. Concerning ARG concentrations, L6 was least polluted with total relative concentrations of 8.21E-04 ARG copies/16S rRNA gene. L3 was most polluted in terms of gene presence with 10 detected genes and L2 concerning ARG concentrations with a total relative ARG concentration of 1.47E-02 ARG copies/16S rRNA gene (**Figure 3-4**). Concentrations of 4 (out of 5) genes (*Intl*1, *sul*1, *tet*M and *erm*F) increased between L1 and L2.

Temporal fluctuations were significantly smaller than spatial variances and standard deviations ($p \le 0.05$; *SI Table 3-4* for variances and p-value). Exceptions to this were the *erm*B gene ($p_{L6}=0.053$, $p_{L8}=0.101$) at both locations and *bla*_{SHV} at L6 (p=0.341), where the temporal variances were not significantly smaller than spatial variances. Larger variances of the *bla*_{SHV} gene at L6 can be explained by concentrations around the LoQ. In some samples *bla*_{SHV} was detected but could not be quantified, which led to larger calculated variances.

Overall, gene concentrations fluctuated with no clear trend across sampling locations (**Figure 3-4**). ter Laak et al. ^{348,349} state that anthropogenic pressure increases further downstream and the cumulative upstream population impacting any given location increases with further downstream locations. Due to these reasons, we assume increasing

anthropogenic pollution at more downstream locations. It is to be noted that more complex dynamics are at work, as chemical and genetic anthropogenic pollutants are subjected to decay and/or transformation in aquatic environments and might in- or decrease the impact potential of chemical compounds ^{151,350–353}. The hypothesis that ARG or *Int/*1 concentrations increase with anthropogenic pressure, could not be verified.

ARG *concentrations* do not seem to be an indicator for concentrations of these ARG downstream, as concentrations fluctuate between locations. Upstream gene *presence* seems to be an indicator of downstream gene presence for some genes, as shown for *aph*(III)a and *bla*_{OXA}, but does not necessarily determine downstream gene presence for all genes.

A lack of visible *spatial* trends has been previously observed in large rivers ^{354–356}. Previous studies that detected only partial consistency of ARG profiles were largely conducted on smaller rivers ^{211,357,358}, but *temporal* consistency at individual locations in ARG presence and relative concentration has been shown in larger rivers ³⁵⁴. Similarly, ARG concentrations fluctuated in surface water samples instead of showing a steady increase with increasing downstream locations, in a spatial study of the large Pearl river ³⁵⁴. The large catchment area and volume of the Rhine river (flow average: 2900 m³/s) and differences in local discharges (proximity of discharge to sampling location, presence of hospitals, agricultural practices) are possible explanations for the consistency of ARG profiles at individual sampling locations over time, as well as for the differences between ARG presence and concentration between locations.





Out of all monitored genes, *Intl*¹ and *sul*¹ were consistently detected in the highest and second-highest concentrations, with one exception at the starting location (L1) where *Intl*¹ and *erm*^B were detected at similar concentrations.

Intl and *sul* genes have previously been shown to be frequently found at high concentrations in aquatic environments ^{147,359–361}. In our study, *Intl* concentrations were

surprisingly high, reaching relative levels of >10⁰ gene copies/16S rRNA copy at L2 and L7. Similarly, *sul*1 concentrations were unusually high at L2 when compared to the other locations (**Figure 3-4**) as well as compared to previously published concentrations in river water related samples 211,355,362 , although comparable concentrations have previously been observed in river samples 363 .

Individual Rhine sampling locations had unique and distinctive ARG profiles which varied from each other in gene presence and concentration. Five ARGs were detected at all sampling locations, including (**Figure 3-4**). Two additional ARGs were detected at all locations downstream from L1 (*aph*(III)a, *bla*_{OXA}). Significant sources of these genes seem to be present only downstream from L1, potential contributors include wastewater and agricultural discharges in Lake Constance or the Aare river.

Besides the omnipresent Rhine genes, a second set of ARGs (*bla*_{SHV}, *med*A and *tet*B) were detected sporadically at three sampling locations (L3, L6 and L7). One (L7), two (L6) or three additional genes (L3) were detected (**Figure 3-4**). *bla*_{KPC}, *qnrS*, *van*A and *van*B were not detected in any of the samples. These genes could be of interest as potential indicator genes for specific, emerging sources of pollution within the Rhine. Examples for such specific sources of pollution are: insufficiently treated or untreated wastewater, untreated run-off from agriculture or animal husbandry or impact from hospital wastewater. *bla*_{KPC} and *van*A have only rarely been detected in the environment but have previously been associated with hospital wastewaters

^{259–263,268,269,276,277,344}, which could make them genes of priority for monitoring, to detect potential leakage from insufficiently treated hospital wastewater.

3.4.4 Estimations of ARG Pollution Depend on the Parameter Monitored

ARG pollution in river water can be expressed and compared using different parameters. The number of ARGs detected, the (total) ARG concentration (relative to the 16S rRNA gene), the number of microorganisms carrying resistance genes or *Int/*1 concentrations can all be used as indicators. In this study, the number of ARGs detected, (relative) ARG concentrations, *Int/*1 concentrations and *sul*1 concentrations were investigated (**Table 3-2**)

 Table 3-2: Presence and Relative Concentration of ARGs and Intl1;
 green - least polluted sample based on parameter,

 red – most polluted sample based on parameter;
 gene concentrations values in gene copies/16S rRNA

	L1	L2	L3	L4	L5	L6	L7	L8
Number of genes (incl. <i>Intl</i> 1)	5	7	10	7	7	9	8	7
Gene								
Concentration (incl. <i>Intl1</i>)	1.76E-02	6.90E+00	1.44E+00	7.61E-03	5.39E-02	2.35E+00	2.89E-02	8.59E-01
ARG	6 97E-03	1 47E-02	5 89E-03	8 98F-04	3 42E-03	8 21E-04	3 71E-03	1 14 F- 03
Concentration (excl. <i>Intl</i> 1)	0.07 2-00	1.77 2-02	0.00E-00	0.002-04	0.722-00	0.212-04	5.7 TE-00	1.172-00

Intl1 concentration	6.70E-03	6.90E+00	1.50E+00	6.60E-03	5.00E-02	2.60E-02	2.40E+00	8.40E-01
sul1 concentration	3.35E-04	1.07E-02	4.72E-03	6.69E-04	1.70E-03	1.99E-04	3.38E-03	1.04E-03

The lowest and highest number of ARGs could be detected in L1 and L3, respectively. The lowest and highest ARG concentrations were detected in L6 and L2, respectively. *Intl*1, which has previously been suggested as an indicator for environmental pollution with ARGs of anthropogenic origin ³³³, showed high correlations with total ARG concentrations but low correlations with the number of ARGs detected per sample as well as with ARG concentrations of individual genes (**Figure 3-5**). *Intl*1 concentrations do not continuously increase and fluctuate widely instead. In most samples (with exception of L1), *Intl*1 is present at significantly higher concentrations (usually > 2 log units higher) than the other detected ARGs, which has been previously recorded in river water ³⁵⁴.

Recent developments in next generation sequencing (NGS) and bioinformatics may be used to track the sources of environmental contamination, allowing to differentiate ARG profiles from different ecosystems. This might provide a better indication than the individual parameters discussed above. However, many ARGs appear to be present in multiple sources and it may be difficult to spatially differentiate the individual sources in a large river such as the Rhine ³⁶⁴.

*INTL*1 DOES NOT CORRELATE WITH OVERALL ARG CONCENTRATIONS BUT WITH *SUL*1 CONCENTRATIONS

Indicators and proxies have been suggested to estimate the level of (ARG) pollution of anthropogenic origin. Two examples are *Intl*³³³ and *sul*¹²¹¹. Missing agreements on how to classify and define ARG pollution exactly (e.g through ARG presence, the proportion of resistant bacteria in a sample, relative concentration or absolute concentration) generally reduce the usefulness of such indicators. A high correlation was observed between *Intl*¹ and *sul*¹ (R²=0.93) (**Figure 3-5**, middle). Strong correlations between *Intl*¹ and *sul*¹ have been previously described ^{354,365–367} and are likely, at least partly, a result of the presence of *sul*¹ in the conserved region of *Intl*¹ ³⁵⁴. *Sul*¹ is further often the most abundant (or among the most abundant) resistance genes in environmental samples, including samples in this study.

High correlations of *Intl*¹ with ARG concentrations were observed but could be attributed largely to *sul*¹ concentrations; correlations disappeared when excluding *sul*¹ from the regression (**Figure 3-5**). The results obtained during this study suggest that the strength of *Intl*¹ as an indicator for ARG pollution strongly depends on the parameter used to determine ARG pollution and that it might not be the best indicator or at the very least show that the strength of this indicator is strongly dependent on additional factors. Another such example is a study conducted by Zhang et al. ³⁵⁶ during which *Intl*¹ was found in very low abundance when compared to the *tet*A and *tet*C in samples from a highly polluted lake in China. It is to be noted, that the selection of certain genes of interest for qPCR analysis might represent a slight bias, as other ARGs are not taken into account.



Figure 3-5: Regression Plot Showing Correlation Between Intl1 and Total ARG Concentrations; shown on x-axis: left – total relative ARG concentration; middle – sul1 concentration; right - total relative ARG concentration excluding sul1; linear least-squares regression used for calculation of R2 and p-value

ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE GENE CORRELATIONS WITH OTHER FACTORS

Detected ARG classes coincided with the most used antibiotics in the region [penicillins, tetracyclines, sulfonamides and macrolides] ^{278,345}. Antibiotic sales and usage within a region has previously been shown to influence antibiotic concentrations in aquatic environments ³⁴⁸, so that this data can potentially be used as an estimate for expected variation of antibiotic concentrations between countries.

Antibiotic usage and the preferred class of antibiotic used varied widely between the three countries ^{278,345}. Nevertheless, ARG concentrations in the different countries showed little to no correlation with antibiotic use (SI Table 3-5), as has previously been observed ³⁶⁸ There were two exceptions (SI Table 3-5): sulfonamide concentrations correlated weakly to moderately with *Intl*¹ and *sul*¹ ($R^2=0.25$ and $R^2=0.17$, respectively); and aminoplycoside concentrations did interestingly not only correlate with *aph*(III)a (R²=0.58), but also with *bla*_{OXA} (R²=0.58), *erm*B (R²=0.68), *erm*F (R²=0.42) and *tet*M (R²=0.68). *bla*_{OXA}, *erm*B, *erm*F and *tet*M resistance should not be impacted by aminoglycoside activity as their targets in the cells differ, so we don't see direct causality behind the observed correlation. Further, individual ARG concentrations correlated most with *aph*(III)a gene concentrations. The highest correlations could be observed between aph(III)a and, tetM, bla_{OXA} and ermB (R² = 0.66) (Table 3-3). A possible explanation is co-resistance mediated by transfer on MGEs also carrying aph(III)a, such as the conjugative transposon Tn1545 ³⁶⁹. This would account for correlation with aminoglycoside usage and *aph*(III)a concentrations, both. Co-resistance due to MGEs is well-documented ^{297–299,370,371} and other Tn1545-like transposons (Tn6263 and Tn6331) have previously been found to confer aminoglycoside/macrolide co-resistance 372

For a more in-depth picture, correlation analyses on regional parameters (provincial or municipal level), including non-class-segregated antibiotic sales, farming intensity, nitrate pollution, population density and untreated wastewater discharge, were conducted (see *SI A.3-3*). Only farming intensity (represented by farm animals per km²) positively correlated with all discussed AR parameters ($R^2 = 0.11 - 0.52$; see *SI A.3-4*).

While ARG concentrations do not necessarily correlate with antibiotic concentrations ³⁷³, pharmaceutical pollution, including disinfectant and heavy metal pollution can be an influencing factor, especially in *Intl*¹ selection ^{300,374–378}. L2 and L3 are locations with an extensive pharmaceutical industry (incl. L2 – Novartis, Basilea etc, L3 – Merck, Bayer, Steigerwald etc.).

Discharges from antibiotics manufacturing have previously been shown to be able to increase ARG concentrations locally ³⁷⁴ and have been mentioned as being higher-risk hotspots ¹⁹⁵. It is not known whether pollution from the pharmaceutical industry ³⁷⁹ is responsible for the observed increases in ARG and Intl1 presence (L3) and abundance (L2) at these locations. Other influencing factors are antibiotic use/sales and farming intensity. While L2 is in a region with intense farming, L3 is characterized by low antibiotic sales and little farming (see *SI A.3-3*).

		<i>aph</i> (III)a	Intl1	sul1	<i>tet</i> M	<i>bla</i> _{OXA}	<i>erm</i> B	<i>erm</i> F	
-	<i>aph</i> (III)a	1.00	0.18	0.27	0.66	0.66	0.66	0.27	
	Intl1	-	1.00	0.62	0.33	0.06	0.01	0.13	
	sul1	-	-	1.00	0.41	0.11	0.02	0.33	
	tetM	-	-	-	1.00	0.38	0.25	0.25	
	<i>bla</i> oxa	-	-	-	-	1.00	0.38	0.11	
	ermB	-	-	-	-	-	1.00	0.18	
	<i>erm</i> F	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.00	
_	data	7	8	8	8	7	8	8	
	points								
	mean	0.53	0.33	0.4	0.47	0.39	0.36	0.33	

Table 3-3: Coefficient of Determination (R2) for Correlations between various ARG concentrations and mean correlation per ARG; conditions: ≥5 common quantitative datapoints

3.5. Conclusion

Multiplex qPCR assays are an efficient method to monitor antibiotic resistance genes in the environment. While second- and third generation sequencing are the high-throughput methods of choice for gene detection today, they are not considered quantitative. Other quantitative high-throughput methods like microassays and high-throughput qPCR are prone to issues, including sensitivity issues. Multiplex qPCR assays increase the throughput while maintaining the accuracy and quantitative nature of classic qPCR assays. Higher throughput methods are of special interest in environmental antibiotic resistance research as there is a continuously increasing number of genes of interest.

Antibiotic resistance in the Rhine river may be influenced by anthropogenic pollution to a certain extent as the AR rise between L1 and L3 suggests, but does not continuously increase over the course of the Rhine. Factors influencing local ARG concentrations can be river size, as data suggests that smaller rivers are more directly impacted by anthropogenic pollution, but also proximity and type of discharges of wastewater treatment plants, presence of hospitals, agricultural/farming discharges and run-off. A general link between the most used antibiotics in the Rhine catchment (penicillins, tetracyclines, sulfonamides and macrolides) and presence of ARG classes was observed

*Intl*¹ concentrations are a good indicator for *sul*¹ concentrations but not for overall anthropogenic ARG pollution. It is necessary to determine which factors are most relevant for the quantification of ARG pollution. Investigating correlations between *Intl*¹ concentrations and data of NGS of ARG presence might be of further interest as the selection bias caused by gene selection for qPCR analysis would be minimized. The combined presence of certain ARGs on MGE could explain the observed correlation between those specific ARGs and are also relevant in health risk assessment ³⁸⁰.

3.6. Supplementary Material

SI Table 3-1: Primers, Probe and Target Sequences for ARGs in Multiplex qPCR Assays; greyed out sequences were tested but not used in final assays due to interaction issues or suboptimal efficiency; ***** = SYBR Green II assay not used in multiplex

Gene	Primers	Probe	Dye	Amplicon
			Used	length
				[bp]
16S	FW: CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG	-	SYBR	193
rRNA*	RV: TTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCAC			
Aph(III)a	FW: ACATATCGGATTGTCCCTATACGAA	TAGCTTAGACAGCCGCTTA	Tex615	82
	RV: TCGGCCAGATCGTTATTCAGTA			
Ыа _{крс}	FW: TCGAACAGGACTTTGGCGGCT	CGCTGGTTCCGTGGTCA	HEX	260
	RV: GGACAGCTCCGCCACCGTCATG			
bla _{OXA}	FW: CACTTACAGGAAACTTGGGGTCG	ACATCAAGCATAAAAGCCAAGA	FAM	79
	RV: GATCACCATTCTAAACACACT			
bla _{sHV}	FW: TCGCCTGTGTATTATCTCCC	TTGAGCAAATTAAACAAAGCGA	FAM	768
	RV: CATTGTGGTGATTTATCTGCG			
ermB	FW: GATACCGTTTACGAAATTGG	ACAGGTAAAGGGCATTTAACGA	Tex615	364
	RV: GAATCGAGACTTGAGTGTGC			
ermF	FW: CGACACAGCTTTGGTTGAAC	AATTATTTTCTGATGCCCGA	FAM	309
	RV: GGACCTAACTCATAGACAAG			
IC	FW: ATGACAGCCACTCCTCCG	AGCAGAGACCCATTCCCTCAGAGC	TexRed	149
	RV: GAAGACTGTTTGGTTCGTTCC			
Intl1	FW: CGAACGAGTGGCGGAGGGTG	TCGTGATGCCTGCTTGTTCTACGGCA	Tex615	312
	RV: TGGGTGCCAAGCTCTCGGGTA			
MecA	FW: CTTCCACATACCATCTTCTTTAAC	ACGTTGCGATCAATGTTACCGT	HEX	336
	RV: GTTGTAGTTGTCGGGTTTGG			
qnrS	FW: GACGTGCTAACTTGCGTG	TACGACATTCGTCAACTGCAAGT	FAM	118
	RV: TGGCATTGTTGGAAACTT			
Sul1	FW: CGCACCGGAAACATCGCTGCAC	CGAACCTTCAAAAGCTGAAGTCGGCGT	HEX	162
	RV: TGAAGTTCCGCCGCAAGGCTCG			
TetB	FW: ACTGCCGTTTTTTCGCC	TATTCTTCCTGCCACAAAGGCTTGGA	HEX	774
	RV: CCTTATCATGCCAGTCTTGC			
TetM	FW: GCAATTCTACTGATTTCTGC	AAAGATGGCGTACAAGCACA	FAM	186
	RV: CTGTTTGATTACAATTTCCGC			
VanA	FW: TCTGCAATAGAGATAGCCGC	ATACGAGCCGTTATACAT	HEX	377
	RV: GGAGTAGCTATCCCAGCATT			
VanB			FAM	433
Vanb	RV: GTGACAAACCGGAGGCGAGGA		.,	155
AmpC	FW: TTCTATCAAMACTGGCARCC	-	_	547
, and o	RV: CCYTTTATGTACCCAYGA			
blactx-м15	FW: CTATGGCACCACCAACGATA	TCTGGTCACTTACTTCACCCAGCCT	Cv5	103
DIGCIATIO	RV: ACGGCTTTCTGCCTTAGGTT		0,0	200
blatem-1	FW: GAGTATTCAACATTTTCGT	TATTCCCTTTTTGCGGCAT	Tex615	857
2101LI1-1	RV: TCACTGATTAAGCATTGGT		. 07010	007
VanA	FW: TCTGCAATAGAGAGATAGCCGC	TCGTTGACATACATCGTTGCGA	HFX	377
T GIT I	RV: GGAGTAGCTATCCCAGCATT	ree house monteerreen	112/1	911
VanB	FW: CCGCCATCCTCCTGCAAAAAA	ACACGAGCAAGCCCTCTGCA	Cv5	433
	RV: GTGACAAACCGGAGGCGAGGA		510	

SI Table 3-2: Optimal annealing temperature and temperature range for SYBR Green II and TaqMan assays obtained after gradient temperature qPCR tests

Gene	Optimal Anneal ['	ing Temperature °C]	Optimal Tempe	erature Range [°C]	Tested Temperature Range [°C]
	SYBR	TaqMan	SYBR	TaqMan	
<i>aph</i> (III)a	61	56.4	56 - 61	56.4 - 61.7	55 - 63
<i>Ыа</i> крс	-	60.9	-	55 -62	55 - 62
bla oxa	55	55	55 - 60	55 - 58.5	55 - 63
<i>bla</i> sнv	59.4	59.4	59 - 60.2	59 - 60.2	58 - 65
ermB		56.4		55 -60	55 - 62
<i>erm</i> F		59.5		56.5 – 59.5	55 - 62
IC	58.6	59.80	58 - 60	58 - 60	56 - 60
Int/1	64	64	59.5 - 64	59.5 - 64	59 - 65
mecA	57.2	60.1	55 - 58.4	55 - 60.1	55 - 63
<i>qnr</i> S	56.8	57.6	56 -59	56 -58.6	59 - 60
Sul ¹	59.4	59.4	56 - 60	56 - 60	56 - 60
tetB	-	60.2	-	59 – 61.5	59 - 60
<i>tet</i> M	56	56.4	56 - 58.5	55.5 -59	55 - 63
vanA	56.4	59.8 / 61	56 - 62	56 -62	55 - 63
<i>van</i> B	-	59.8 / 61	-	55.5 -63	55 - 63

SI Table 3-3: Multiplex qPCR Cycling Conditions/Program

Step	Temperature [°C]	Duration [mm:ss]			
1	95	05:00			
2	95	00:30			
3	Optimal Annealing (see SI Table 2)	00:30			
4	72 + Plate Read	00:40			
5	GOTO Step 2, 45 more times END				

SI Table 3-4: Significance of difference between temporal measurements at L6 and L8 (p-val) as well as temporal variance and spatial variance ("all") measured using one-sided F-test; $p \ge 0.05$ highlighted

			Location		
	Lek (Utre	cht)	Lobith	all (spatial data)	
Gene	p-val (F-test)	variance	p-val (F-test)	variance	variance
Int1	<2.2E-16	0.126	<2.2E-16	0.083	2.312
Sul1	1.32E-06	0.105	<2.2E-16	0.03	1.016
ermB	0.101	0.175	0.053	0.276	0.676
ermF	2.53E-14	0.032	3.20E-08	0.055	0.45
TetM	0.03	0.11	6.80E-06	0.07	0.258
blaOXA	1.43E-07	0.13	1.42E-07	0.188	0.755
Aph3a	0.045	0.149	<2.2E-16	0.038	0.577
TetB	-	-	0.047	0.461	0.933
blaSHV	-	-	0.341	0.359	0.178

	L	3	Le	L6		
Gene	p-val	variance	p-val	variance	variance	
Int1	<2.2E-16	0.126	<2.2E-16	0.083	2.312	
<i>sul</i> 1	1.32E-06	0.105	<2.2E-16	0.03	1.016	
erm B	0.101	0.175	0.053	0.276	0.676	
<i>erm</i> F	2.53E-14	0.032	3.20E-08	0.055	0.45	
<i>tet</i> M	0.03	0.11	6.80E-06	0.07	0.258	
bla oxa	1.43E-07	0.13	1.42E-07	0.188	0.755	
<i>aph</i> 3a	0.045	0.149	<2.2E-16	0.038	0.577	
tetB	-	-	0.047	0.461	0.933	
<i>bla</i> sнv	-	-	0.341	0.359	0.178	

SI Table 3-5: Correlation between the concentration of detected antibiotic resistance genes and antibiotics shown as the coefficient of determination (R2), condition: \geq 5 common quantitative data points; genes <u>not</u> meeting the condition criteria in grey; *AMG – Aminoglycosides, ML – Macrolides, PEN – Penicillins, QNL – Quinolones, SUL – Sulfonamides, TET - Tetracyclines*

Location							
	Lek (Utre	cht)	Lobith	า	all (spatial data)		
Gene	p-val (F-test)	variance	p-val (F-test)	variance	variance		
Int1	<2.2E-16	0.126	<2.2E-16	0.083	2.312		
Sul1	1.32E-06	0.105	<2.2E-16	0.03	1.016		
ermB	0.101	0.175	0.053	0.276	0.676		
ermF	2.53E-14	0.032	3.20E-08	0.055	0.45		
TetM	0.03	0.11	6.80E-06	0.07	0.258		
blaOXA	1.43E-07	0.13	1.42E-07	0.188	0.755		
Aph3a	0.045	0.149	<2.2E-16	0.038	0.577		
TetB	-	-	0.047	0.461	0.933		
blaSHV	-	-	0.341	0.359	0.178		

Gene	aph3a	blaoxa	bla _{sнv}	ermB	ermF	Int1	mecA	sul1	tetB	tetM
AMG Use	0.58	0.58		0.68	0.42	-0.25	-1	0		0.68
ML Use	-0.13	-0. 13		-0.30	-0.10	-0.25	-1	-0.12		-0.30
PEN Use	-0.12	-0.12		-0.34	-0.10	-0.25	-1	-0.17		-0.34
QNL Use	-0.10	-0.10		-0.32	-0.10	-0.23	-1	-0.18		-0.32
SUL Use	0.12	0.12		0.34	0.10	0.25	1	0.17		0.34
TET Use	-0.58	-0.58		-0.68	-0.42	0.25	1	0		-0.68

SI A.3-1: Meteorological Conditions

No rain was recorded by sampling collaborators for 03.05.2017 during or before sampling. Sampling was organized for the early – mid-morning at all sampling locations (rain events recorded on references websites might have occurred <u>after</u> sampling). Very light to medium-light rain was recorded the day prior to the sampling event (1.57 mm/day – 8.8 mm/day).

Relevant officially recorded historical meteorological data can be found on the following websites:
https://www.meteoschweiz.admin.ch/product/output/climate-data/climate-time-seriesprocessing/SAE/dailyevol_SAE_2017_G.pdf (L1) https://www.meteoschweiz.admin.ch/home/klima/schweizer-klima-imdetail/jahresverlauf-an-stationen.html?filters=2017_2017 (L2) https://www.wetterkontor.de/de/wetter/deutschland/rueckblick.asp?id=L886&datum=05.05.2017&t=2 (L3) https://www.wetterkontor.de/de/wetter/deutschland/rueckblick.asp?id=103&datum=05.05.2017&t=2 (L4) https://www.wetterkontor.de/de/wetter/deutschland/rueckblick.asp?id=103&datum=05.05.2017&t=2 (L5) https://www.wetterkontor.de/de/wetter/deutschland/rueckblick.asp?id=H203&datum=05.05.2017&t=2 (L6) https://www.worldweatheronline.com/arnhem-weather-history/gelderland/nl.aspx (L7) https://www.worldweatheronline.com/nieuwegein-weather-history/utrecht/nl.aspx (L8)

SI A.3-2: Efficiency ranges per multiplex assay

Over the course of 5 experiments efficiencies in the following ranges were detected: SIQ [99 % - 103 %], TSI [96 % - 105%], MOA [91 % - 102%], EEK [86 % - 99 %], BAM [93 % -104 %]).

SI A.3-3: Agricultural, farming and environmental data

Data was collected either at municipal level ("city") or at province-level ("region"). As data available was largely not stated as normalized data per km², the authors gathered data about the area of the different locations ("Region Area", "City Area") and calculated the values per are (/km²) to make them comparable across different-sized cities and regions, where necessary.

Code	Name	Region name	Region area	City area	Population [region]	Population density region [inhabitants/km2]	Total number of large livestock in	Large livestock per km2 [region]	Manure storage facilities per city	Manure storage facilities / km2 [city]	Nitrate Excess in	Antibiotic sales per region in tons	Total Wastewater generation and discharge by river basin district (RBD)	Total Wastewater generation and discharge by river basin district (RBD) per km2	Total Wastewater discharged without treatment per RBD	Total Wastewater discharged without treatment per RBD / km2 [region]
11	Diepoldsau	Ostschweiz	11521	11.23	1174990	101.99	622270	54.01	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	118.61	0.01	1.56	0.0001
L2	Basel	Nordwestschweiz	1958	23.85	1158508	591.68	1120470	572.25	13	0.55	10	n/a	76.69	0.4	4.4	0.002
L3	Darmstadt	Hessen	21115	122.23	6265809	296.75	1072700	50.80	2735	22.38	15	IJ	809.45	0.04	126.85	0.006

רז	P1	LS	L4
Arnhem	Lobith	DD	Cologne
Gelderland	Gelderland	Nordrheinwestfalen	Nordrheinwestfalen
5137	5137	34110	34110
101.54	80.11	217.41	405.15
2026578	9969356	17912134	17912134
394.51	1940.70	525.13	525.13
2797000	2797000	8467500	8467500
544.48	544.48	248.24	248.24
770	n/a	2955	2838
7.58	n/a	13.59	7.00
n/a	150	45	35
n/a	30	IJ	Σ
1200.655	1200.655	2328.66	2328.66
0.04	0.04	0.07	0.07
220.31	220.305	433.86	433.86
0.006	0.006	0.01	0.01

Chapter 3 - International tempo-spatial study of antibiotic resistance across the Rhine River using newly developed multiplex gPCR assays

Information was obtained from the following sources:

- <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/regions/data/database</u>
- <u>https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=aei_fm_ms&lang=en</u> [manure storage facility by region]
- <u>https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=agr_r_animal&lang=en</u> [farm animal number by region]
- <u>https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=env_wwgen_rb&lang=e</u>
 <u>n</u> [WW (treated and untreated) discharged by region)]
 - <u>https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=env_watpop_rb&lang=e</u>
 <u>n</u> [Pop. connected to public water supply by region]
- <u>https://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/de/home/statistiken/kataloge-</u> <u>datenbanken/daten.assetdetail.8346720.html</u> [farm animals by region Switzerland]
- <u>https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/antibiotika-antibiotikaresistenzen-in-der-umwelt</u> [regional antibiotic sales for Germany and border regions + graphic presentation/maps added to SI material]
- <u>https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/antibiotika-antiparasitika-im-grundwasser-unter</u> [additional background info regarding correlations between farm animals and antibiotic concentrations in groundwater]

SI A.3-4: Correlations between AR pollution parameters and collected regional data; R2 shown

Based on regional data collected (see *SI A.3*) a correlation analysis was conducted between that data and the antibiotic resistance pollution parameters discussed in the present work. Reliable p-values (significance) could not be calculated due to the low number of observations.

	Number	Gene	ARG	Int/1	<i>sul</i> 1
	of	Concentration	Concentration	concentr	concentr
	genes	(incl. <i>Intl</i> 1)	(excl. <i>Intl</i> 1)	ation	ation
population [region]	0.12	-0.34	-0.48	-0.5	-0.38
population density region [inhabitants/km2]	0.38	0.23	-0.4	-0.15	-0.24
total number of large livestock in region	-0.07	-0.37	-0.41	-0.38	-0.31
large livestock per km2 [region]	0.17	0.52	0.11	0.52	0.35
manure facilities per city	0.19	-0.7	-0.7	-0.89	-0.75
manure facilities / km2 [city]	0.53	-0.5	-0.51	-0.6	-0.5
Nitrate Excess in µg/L	0.28	-0.16	-0.59	-0.49	-0.61
Antibiotic sales per region in tons	0.23	0.74	-0.52	-0.42	-0.57
Total Wastewater generation and discharge by river basin district (RBD)	0.17	-0.46	-0.52	-0.46	-0.37
Total Wastewater generation and discharge by river basin district (RBD) per km2	0.16	-0.16	-0.42	-0.16	-0.1
Total Wastewater discharged without treatment per RBD	0.16	-0.45	-0.53	-0.45	-0.37
Total Wastewater discharged without treatment per RBD / km2 [region]	0.22	-0.41	-0.56	-0.41	-0.32

SI Figure 3-1: Difference between gene concentrations obtained by SYBR Green II assay and by multiplex qPCR assays; red line: p = 0.05; black dots = p-value obtained for each precision /quantification experiment per gene (12 total with varying concentrations), 1st row: multiplex 1 (left) and multiplex 2 (right), 2nd row: multiplex 3 (left) and multiplex 4 (right), 3rd row: multiplex 5



Chapter 3 - International tempo-spatial study of antibiotic resistance across the Rhine River using newly developed multiplex qPCR assays

SI Figures 3-2 – 3-6: Multiplex Assay efficiencies, R2, slopes and y-intercepts for standard curves; from top to bottom: multiplex 1 - 5







Chapter 3 - International tempo-spatial study of antibiotic resistance across the Rhine River using newly developed multiplex qPCR assays







4.1. Abstract

The present study investigates the transfer of an antibiotic resistance gene-carrying plasmid under selective pressure and the effect of different compound concentrations on the plasmid and donor within a bacterial wastewater effluent (WWE) community. Different concentrations of tetracycline or Ca²⁺ were used, to test their effect on horizontal gene transfer (HGT) using a donor (*Escherichia coli* DH5a) carrying the plasmid. Experiments were conducted on filters on nutrition medium as well as in microcosms using WWE as medium. *Acinetobacter baylyi* or WWE community bacteria were used as recipients. Subinhibitory tetracycline concentrations were chosen to mimic concentrations found in the environment or wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), while higher concentrations were in the inhibitory range.

We show that very low sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations can be a driving factor of HGT, with ARG concentrations increasing up to over 10-fold more than in controls. We further show that selective and inhibitory concentrations require prior resistance to have an effect on HGT. In filter experiments with A.*baylyi* sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations consistently increase transfer, in contrast to selective and inhibitory concentrations, which inhibited growth of non-resistant recipients to an extent that impeded transfer. Filter experiments with a native WWE community showed distinct effects for different sub-inhibitory concentrations: very low sub-inhibitory concentrations (1.5 ng/ml) had the most pronounced effect while higher sub-inhibitory concentrations (15 ng/ml) did not exhibit an effect. Further, higher donor concentrations could be shown to increase pB10/donor-ratios using selective tetracycline concentrations in these experiments.

Microcosm experiments rendered varying results across experimental replicates, likely due to a more complex matrix with changing parameters, including varying levels of native antibiotic concentrations. The WWE community harbored native pB10 plasmid, which further increased complexity. Sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations did not show any effect, but selective concentrations had a driving impact on plasmid propagation. Donor numbers strongly increased only at high selective concentrations, indicating a selective advantage when compared to a majority of the WWE community. Ca²⁺ counteracted reductions in resistance levels when added at high concentrations (25 mM) and might be conducive to HGT.

On base of these results, we highlight that modern wastewater systems can present a risk factor for increased potential of ARG propagation, beyond the confines of their immediate surrounding. This is the case as they connect high selective pressure, high-resistance wastewaters with sub-inhibitory concentration, low-resistance natural environments, which could be shown to be a potentantial poentiator of propagation of ARG-carrying plamids.

4.2. Introduction

Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are considered one of the major nodes in the spread of substances of emerging concern into the environment , including antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs), pharmaceuticals and microorganisms^{145,324,381–384}. WWTPs may act as "hotspots" for antibiotic resistance (AR) ¹⁴⁵ and induce ARG proliferation due to conditions considered as favorable for AR dissemination, including: an elevated concentration of selective agents, such as antimicrobials and heavy metals ^{123,137,282,297,385,386}; elevated stress levels and accompanying levels of induced horizontal gene transfer (HGT) ^{145,387} and high bacterial densities and nutrient availability ^{145,146}.

HGT can be seen as a major driver of antibiotic resistance ³⁸⁸. Transfer of ARGs between environmental and clinical strains has been observed ³⁸⁹ and research indicates that some clinically relevant ARGs originate in environmental microorganisms ³⁹⁰. Three mechanisms of HGT have been described, free DNA uptake (transformation), DNA transfer by bacteriophages (transduction) and transfer of mobile genetic elements (e.g. plasmids) by pili structures (conjugation) ³⁹¹. While it is known that inhibitory concentrations of selective agents (e.g. antibiotics, heavy metals) can increase AR, less is known about the effect and mechanisms behind sub-inhibitory concentrations under environmental settings. However, there have been studies suggesting that sub-inhibitory concentrations similarly increase AR with underlying mechanisms like the activation of SOS-responses, cross-resistance, increased biofilm formation and elevated conjugation levels ^{392–400}. Nevertheless, minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) driving HGT are unknown for a large number of compounds ⁴⁰¹, a fact that is important as not all compounds have the same effect of AR.

Pollutants can persist in surface waters after being discharged by WWTPs ³²⁴. While pollutant concentrations decrease with increasing distance to WWTPs, antibiotics are frequently present in surface water bodies at sub-inhibitory concentrations, up to the range of ng/ml ⁴⁰². While an increasing amount of research is being done to determine levels of antibiotic resistance in anthropogenic, clinical and environmental settings, these findings alone are not sufficient to estimate the risks for adverse effects on human health associated with these levels ⁴⁰³. A few factors that play a crucial role in determining risk are: the impact of anthropogenic pollution on ARG levels ^{318,404}, antimicrobial source tracking ⁴⁰⁵ and the possibility of reciprocal ARG transfer between environmental bacteria and pathogens/commensals ^{402,403,406}.

Several attempts were made to reveal the main drivers and limitations of ARGs dissemination processes in WWTPs and environmental settings. Bonot and Merlin ²¹³ investigated the dissemination of pB10 multi-resistance plasmid in river sediment microcosms. They observed that pB10 was maintained at a steady-state level while the *E. coli* donor was quickly disappearing, which tends to show that most of the transconjugants formed at an early stage of the experiment. Similar observations were made by Bellanger et al. ⁴⁰⁷, additionally showing that transfer of this plasmid is strongly matrix dependent. The identification of environmental stressors and selective agents driving plasmid transfer in environmental settings would allow taking action to better control plasmid-based dissemination of ARGs.

The present study investigates the transfer of ARGs from a donor to *Acinetobacter baylyi* (*A.baylyi*, *also known as A.calcoaceticus*) or to an effluent wastewater bacterial community

and examines the role of various "stressors" on potential HGT of the pB10 plasmid as well as the role of sub-inhibitory concentrations of tetracycline regarding said transfer. We further show the impact of different tetracycline and Ca^{2+} concentrations on a WWE bacterial community and resistance-carrying plasmids, with or without the influence of an external resistance-carrying microorganism. *A.baylyi* is an environmental organism but has been identified as a "pathogen for opportunistic infection" ⁴⁰⁸. The pB10 plasmid contains antibiotic resistance genes, including tetracycline resistance. Tetracycline ^{393,395,396,409} and $Ca^{2+ 410,411}$ have been shown to increase antibiotic resistance and/or conjugative processes and were selected as "stressors" for our study. An increase in antibiotic resistance and potential HGT was examined under various conditions, including: 1) multiple stressor concentrations ranging from low sub-inhibitory concentrations over selective concentrations to high inhibitory concentration (2) different environments (filter system vs. microcosm system) and (3) different donor – recipient ratios.

4.3. Methods and Materials

4.3.1 BACTERIAL STRAINS

Escherichia coli DH5a (pB10) was used as a donor in all experiments ²¹³. *A.baylyi* was used as a recipient in filter transfer experiments; it did not harbor the pB10-plasmid. Inocula preparation is described in *SI A.4-3*.

4.3.2 PLASMID

The pB10 plasmid was used to investigate transfer. It is an IncP-1 β antibiotic multiresistance plasmid conferring resistance to 4 antibiotics (tetracycline, sulfonamide, amoxicillin and streptomycin) and mercury ⁴¹². Tetracycline resistance in conferred by *tet*(A) which encodes for efflux pumps. 10 µg/ml was used as selective tetracycline concentrations. 0.0015, 0.015 and 0.4 µg/ml (corresponding to 1.5, 15 and 400 ng/mL) were termed subinhibitory concentrations and 40 µg/ml and 100 µg/ml as inhibitory concentration ⁴¹³. To avoid confusion caused by different units, all tetracycline concentrations will be given in µg/ml.

4.3.3 MEDIA

Luria-Bertani broth (Sigma, USA) was used as growth medium.

Wastewater effluent (WWE) after biological treatment was obtained from a full-scale WWTP (located in Burgerland, Austria) with a population equivalent of 7250. Parameters for raw wastewater (influent) and effluent on a day of sampling can be found in *SI Table 4-3*. Bacterial cell numbers were determined by 16S rRNA TaqMan qPCR.

4.3.4 PRE-EXPERIMENTS

To determine conditions and set up controls, pre-experiments were conducted.

GROWTH CURVES

Growth rates and the time necessary to reach the stationary phase, were measured at different temperatures (20 °C and 37 °C; both strains) and tetracycline concentrations (0, 0.015, 10, 40, 100 and 250 μ g/ml; donor strain).

All growth curve experiments were conducted in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (Sigma, USA). OD_{600} was measured with Eppendorf BioSpectrometer® to evaluate growth rates.

GROWTH INHIBITION

To investigate the effect of antibiotic concentrations on donor and recipient growth, both strains were grown on LB-agar plates supplemented with tetracycline and growth inhibition was recorded after 24h and 48h (*SI Table 4-4*). Tetracycline concentrations used: 0, 0.0015, 0.015, 0.15, 1, 10 μ g/ml and 100, 250 μ g/ml (only donor).

PLASMID AMPLIFICATION IN DONOR CELLS

Plasmid concentrations in donor cells were observed over time at different tetracycline concentrations (0, 0.0015, 0.015, 0.4, 10, 40 and 100 μ g/ml). The aim was to exclude the possibility of plasmid amplification in the donor cells and thus biased p/D-ratios due to varying plasmid levels in donor cells. Experiments were conducted in LB broth (Sigma, USA). Gene concentrations were quantified at time point 0 and after 48 h.

FREE PLASMID PERSISTENCE

Free plasmid persistence over time was investigated to obtain a baseline for subsequent free plasmid DNA transfer experiments. Persistence was tested in WWE microcosms spiked with free plasmid DNA. Samples for qPCR analysis were taken at time point 0 and after 22, 27 and 48 hours. Samples were filtered with sterile syringe filters (0.45 μ m, cellulose acetate, VWR) and frozen at - 20 °C.

4.3.5 TRANSFER EXPERIMENTS

Experiments were conducted in duplicates unless otherwise stated. Each experiment was repeated at least once with WWE batches taken in different weeks and using newly-grown inocula. There were 4 replicates per experiment for each experimental condition, unless otherwise stated.

With the exception of free plasmid experiments, no discrimination between conjugation, transformation or transfection was made as the effect on total HGT was observed.

FILTER TRANSFER EXPERIMENTS

Donor and recipient cells (recipient: *A.baylyi* <u>or</u> WWE community bacteria) were pipetted onto a membrane filter (0.45 µm cellulose acetate, Pall Corporation, USA). Donor and A.*baylyi* inocula were pipetted onto the filter, whereas wastewater effluent was filtered to obtain WWE community bacteria. The filter was placed on LB agar containing different tetracycline concentrations and incubated for 48 h at room temperature (RT) or 37 °C. RT was 19°C to 21°C. Tetracycline concentrations were as follows:

Recipient	Tetracycline concentrations used [µg/ml]	Replicates	Temp.	Donor-recipient proportions used [donor : recipient]
A.baylyi	0, 0.015, 10 , 100*	6 (RT); 2 (37°C);	RT, 37°C	1:1, 1:20
WWE	0, 0.0015*, 0.015, 10	4 (RT); 2 (37°C);	RT, 37°C	1:1, 1:20

Table 4-1: Conditions and parameters across filter experiments; * - 2 replicates

MICROCOSM TRANSFER EXPERIMENTS

Donor cells <u>or</u> free plasmid DNA were added to 400-mL batch bioreactors. Tetracycline and Ca²⁺ (Calcium chloride, Sigma-Aldrich, Japan) were added at varying concentrations. Bioreactors were sealed to avoid contamination from external microorganisms but permitted gas exchange. A magnetic stirrer (60 rpm) ensured homogeneity. WWE was used as medium and the bacterial community as potential recipients. Non-donor control experiments were performed to be able to make statements about the role of the donor, as WWE naturally contained pB10-plasmids.

Table 4-2: Conditions and parameters across microcosm experiments; * - 2 replicates

Tetracycline	Ca ²⁺ added Replicates per		Tomp	Donor-recipient proportions	
concentrations used	[µg/ml]	condition	remp.	used	
[µg/ml]				[donor : recipient]	
0, 0.0015*, 0.4, 10, 40*, 100	0	4	RT	0:1 (non-donor control); 1:1	
0	0, 250, 1000	2	RT	0:1 (non-donor control); 1:1	

Additionally, free plasmid DNA experiments were conducted using WWE to investigate contribution of transduction to overall HGT.

Free plasmid DNA (1E+06 pB10 copies/mL) and tetracycline (0, 1 or 10 µg/ml) were added.

4.3.6 GENE QUANTIFICATION – QPCR

Sequence-specific primers and probes for the donor (*E.coli* DH5a) and for the pB10 plasmid were used ²¹³. Both genes as well as 16S rRNA ^{414,415}, were quantified by qPCR. All reactions were performed in the Light-Cycler 480 (Roche Applied Science, Vienna). Primers and cycling conditions are listed in *SI Tables 4-1, 4-2 + 4-5 and SI 4-2* and were previously described ²¹³. qPCR efficiencies ranged between 96 % - 104 % and were therefore directly comparable.

4.3.7 DATA ANALYSIS

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analysis was performed using SciPy v.1.4.1. Dependent t-tests were conducted to assess the significance of differences between time points. P \leq 0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance of parameter de-/increase during the experiment is indicated as follows: * – $p\leq0.05$, ** – $p\leq0.01$; *** – $p\leq0.001$. Additionally, values of 0.05 \leq p \leq 0.06 are shown in figures.

ANALYTICAL PARAMETERS

Based on qPCR results, plasmid-per-donor-ratios (p/D-ratios) and/or relative plasmid concentrations (pB10 copies/16S rRNA copies) were calculated. p/D-ratios were used to capture HGT in filter transfer experiments while relative plasmid concentrations were used to investigate the impact of different compound concentrations on resistance in the bacterial WWE community. Additionally, pB10, *E.coli* DH5a and 16S rRNA concentrations (gene copies/mL) were analyzed for more information on the underlying mechanisms.

4.4. Results and Discussion

4.4.1 PRE-EXPERIMENTS

BACTERIAL GROWTH

Recipients (*A.baylyi*) were more robust to different temperatures (*SI Figure 4-1*) and started growing sooner than donors (*E.coli* DH5a) at lower temperatures, indicating a competitive advantage at those temperatures.

PLASMID AMPLIFICATION UNDER SELECTIVE PRESSURE

Plasmid copy number was reported to increase in bacteria under selective pressure

⁴¹⁶. Therefore, the potential increases of plasmid copy number in donor cells, which could lead to overestimation of plasmid transfer events, was investigated.

Donor cells harbored one to two pB10 copies each at t_{0h} (red line, **Figure 4-2**). Plasmid concentration in donor cells did not significantly change due to selective pressure (or absence hereof) from tetracycline concentrations (within 48h, **Figure 4-2**). Therefore, we account that plasmid amplification within donor cells should not have a significant impact on p/D- ratios in transfer experiments. p/D-ratio increases up to 2 will not be attributed to HGT.



Figure 4-2:Number of plasmids (pB10) per donor cell (DH5a), shown at t=0h (red line) and after 48h (blue crosses) of incubation at different antibiotic concentrations, striped highlighted area=recorded range

FREE PLASMID PERSISTENCE

Free plasmid concentrations sharply decreased within the first 22h, as indicated by qPCR results. The total decrease of free plasmid DNA was > 99% within 48h in WWE (*SI Figure 4-2*). Comparable total degradation of free (pB10) plasmid was recorded 213,417 .

4.4.2 FILTER TRANSFER EXPERIMENTS

DONOR - RECIPIENT EXPERIMENTS

To investigate the general potential of pB10 to transfer to unrelated strains, experiments with A.*baylyi* as recipient were conducted. At t=0 p/D-ratios ranged from 1.25 – 1.75 (*Figures 4-3 – 4-5*) across all experiments. Significant p/D-ratio increases during the

experiment were attributed to HGT, as plasmid amplification/reduction in the donor was ruled out (*chapter 4.4.1*).

IMPACT OF TEMPERATURE ON PB10 TRANSFER

Initial experiments were conducted at 37°C and RT, to investigate if benefitting recipient-growth is conducive to HGT.



Figure 4-3: Changes in pB10/DH5a concentrations after 48h for D:R-ratios of 1:1 depending on temperature, only data from experiment 1 shown for comparison of different temperatures (recipient: A.*baylyi*); at room temperature (top column) and 37°C (bottom column); red highlighted area – p/D ratios found in donor; antibiotic used: tetracycline

For experiments with donor-to-recipient-proportions of 1:1 (D:R_{1:1}, **Figure 4-3**) no significant changes in p/D-ratios could be detected after 48h for tetracycline concentrations of 0 µg/ml (both temperatures) and for tetracycline concentrations of 10 and 100 µg/ml at 37°C. p/D-increases could be detected for Tet₁₀ at RT, as well as for Tet_{0.015} at 37°C. For Tet_{0.015}, p/D-ratios after 48h were further significantly higher than in control experiments (Tet₀) (**Figure 4-3**).

For D:R_{1:20} (*Fig. 4.4*) no significant changes in p/D-ratios were detected at 37 °C. Significant changes were detected for all tetracycline concentrations at RT. Tet₀ and Tet_{0.015} showed the most pronounced increase.

Lower temperatures are likely conducive to HGT under these conditions, because the recipient outgrows the donor. *A.baylyi* shows faster growth at lower temperatures (SI.*Fig.1*) and has previously been shown to grow at a wide range of temperatures ($20^{\circ}C-45^{\circ}C$) ^{418,419}. To more closely investigate and verify that these conditions are conducive to HGT, all subsequent transfer experiments were conducted at RT. Subsequent *A.baylyi* filter experiments were conducted with tetracycline concentrations between 0 – 10 µg/mL.



Figure 4-4: Changes in pB10/DH5a concentrations after 48h for D:R-ratios of 1:20 depending on temperature, only data from experiment 1 shown for comparison of different temperatures (recipient: A.baylyi); at RT (top column) and 37°C; antibiotic used: tetracycline; red highlighted area (column 1) – p/D-ratios natively found in donor

Results could largely be reproduced (**Figure 4-5**). Sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations ($Tet_{0.0015} + Tet_{0.015}$) increased p/D-ratios for both tested D:R-proportions, showing transfer of the pB10 plasmid to *A. Baylyi*. p/D-ratios were also increased at D:R_{1:20} when no antibiotic was added. No other experimental conditions showed an increase (**Figure 4-5**). Further, D:R_{1:1} could effect a decrease in donor concentrations (*SI Table 4-6*), whereas a D:R_{1:20} was always associated with an increase of donor concentrations (**Figure 4-5**).

Certain conditions were beneficial to HGT: (1) conditions with lower concentrations of resistance-carrying donors than of potential recipients and (2) conditions with sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations. Selective concentrations (Tet₁₀) did not provoke an increase in p/D-ratios, this is likely due to a strong and fast inhibition of the recipient organism's growth (*SI Table 4-3*).



Figure 4-5: Changes of pB10/DH5a Concentrations after 48h at RT under different conditions (recipient: A.*baylyi*); experiments with donor-recipient-proportions of 1:1 (top row) and 1:20 (bottom row); red highlighted area (column 1) – p/D-ratios natively found in donor; antibiotic used: tetracycline

88

A larger recipient-ratio confers additional benefits under certain conditions. This is likely due to nutrient limitations leading to exploitative competition which might further lead to inference competition $^{420-422}$. Recipient organisms will subsequently increase their chances for growth and plasmid uptake. Conditions under which resistance-carrying donors are underrepresented make it harder for the donors to thrive when selective pressure is low/null (D:R_{1:20}, Tet_{0.0015}), while higher tetracycline concentrations ameliorate conditions for donors even when underrepresented (D:R_{1:20}, Tet₁₀).

DONOR – WASTEWATER EFFLUENT COMMUNITY EXPERIMENTS

The bacterial WWE community harbored pB10 plasmids (**Figure 4-7**, *top row*). This was expected as this plasmid was originally isolated from wastewater sludge ⁴¹². To capture the impact on the bacterial WWE community, 16S rRNA concentrations were additionally taken into account in these experiments.

It is unclear if the target plasmids in WWE bacteria are located on E.coli cells. As native E.coli DH5a cells were not detected in the WWE, it is clear that the plasmids were located on organisms other than the donor.

At t_{0h} , p/D-ratios were 2E+00±2E-01 and 3E+00±5E-01 and relative pB10 concentrations 4E-01±3E-01 copies/16S rRNA and 5E-02±2E-02 copies/16S rRNA for experiments with donor-to-effluent-bacteria (D:EFF) proportions of 1:1and 1:20, respectively (**Figure 4-5**). p/D-ratios increased for all parameters tested, while relative pB10 concentration increased for DEFF_{1:1}/Tet_{0.0015} and decreased for DEFF_{1:1}/Tet₀ (p=0.051) (**Figure 4-6**).



Figure 4-6: Changes in relative pB10 concentrations and pB10/DH5a ratios over 48h at RT under different conditions (recipient: WWE community bacteria) ; experiments with donor – effluent-bacteria – ratios of 1:1 (top row) and 1:20 (bottom row); red highlighted area (column 3) – p/D-ratios natively found in donor; antibiotic used: tetracycline

Low sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations increased plasmid concentrations under conditions where donor and effluent cells were present at comparable concentrations (**Figure 4-6**, top row). Two mechanisms could explain this observation: 1) selective pressure drove HGT of the pB10 plasmid ^{281,292,393,423}, or 2) benefitted by selective pressure organisms carrying the pB10 plasmid outgrew donor cells carrying the pB10 plasmid ⁴²⁴⁻⁴²⁶.

To investigate which of these two mechanisms drove increase of pB10 concentrations, microcosm experiments were conducted with non-donor controls for each condition.

In experiments without p/D–increase, levels decreased to/stayed at concentrations characteristic within donor cells (*SI Table 4-7*). This might be an indicator that pB10 plasmids do not always confer benefits under selective pressure within the native bacterial WWE community. Bacterial WWE communities vary largely and even small changes within a community might have pronouncedly different reactions to antibiotic compounds. ARGs have differing fitness-costs, ranging from "costly" mutation to mutations with no apparent cost ^{427,428}. Wastewater (effluent) communities harbor a large number of tetracycline genes ^{429–431}, which may be more "cost-effective" compared to the fitness cost of pB10. This hypothesis is strengthened by the large size of pB10, as fitness costs associated with necessary replication increase with plasmid size. Under conditions where effluent bacteria outnumber donor cells, these donor cells might then be at a disadvantage even under tetracycline-induced selective pressure.

Interestingly, very low sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations seem to have the largest effect. Even in experiments where effluent bacteria outnumbered donor cells, a pronounced p/D-increase could be observed (**Figure 4-6**; DR_{1:20}, Tet_{0.0015/0.015}). A potential explanation is, that environmental bacterial communities use sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations (including tetracycline ^{18,20}) to various ends ^{13,19,21}, including signaling that could cause "diverse biological responses in bacteria" ¹⁵ including hormetic effects. Sub-inhibitory concentrations of tetracycline were found to increase HGT ³⁹⁵, further cementing the importance of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations in risk assessment.

4.4.3 MICROCOSM EXPERIMENTS

DONOR – COMMUNITY EXPERIMENTS

In a first experiment, the dynamics between donor cells and WWE bacteria and the (disruptive) impact of tetracycline were explored. In the repetition of the experiment, non-donor controls were employed, to capture potential HGT. In a follow-up experiment, Ca^{2+} was added to Tet₀-microcosms to examine potential effects on HGT.

Donor concentrations significantly decreased for sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations. p/D-ratios significantly decreased for Tet₀ and Tet_{0.0015} (**Figure 4-7**), they increased for Tet_{0.4} and Tet₁₀ only in one replicate (*SI Table 4-8*).

The WWE community harbored pB10-plasmids and had a competitive advantage over the added donor at lower selective pressure between $0 - 10 \mu g/ml$ of tetracycline. Any p/D-ratio-increases, under these conditions, were solely driven by the decrease of donor cells and a proportionally lower decrease of pB10 plasmid (*SI Table 4-8*). The competitive advantage of the native bacterial community was reduced at higher levels of tetracycline (Tet₁₀, Tet₁₀₀), where the selective advantage of the non-native donor seems to outweigh the competitive advantage of the native WWE community. Correspondingly, relative pB10 concentrations after 48h only differed significantly between donor and non-donor control microcosms for Tet₁₀₀, indicating potential HGT between donor cells and the WWE bacterial community.

Chapter 4 - The Impact of Sub-inhibitory and Inhibitory Tetracycline Concentrations on Horizontal Gene Transfer and Bacterial Wastewater Effluent Community Composition



Figure 4-7: Changes of pB10/DH5a Concentrations at t=0h and after 48h at RT under different conditions; experiments with donor – effluent-bacteria – ratios of 0:1 (top row) and 1:1 (bottom row); red highlighted area (column 3) – p/D-ratios natively found in donor

Results could largely be reproduced for relative plasmid concentrations, while results for p/D-ratios varied between replicates (*SI Table 4-8*), indicating that interactions between donors and WWE community bacteria depend largely on community variation and chemical WWE composition. Wastewater quality and compound concentrations, including antibiotic concentrations have large temporal fluctuations, in the short term as well as seasonally ⁴³²⁻⁴³⁴ due to community events ⁴³⁵ and extreme meteorological conditions ⁴³⁶. It is therefore not surprising that the impact of selective agents will vary depending on the WWE composition. Bellanger et al. ⁴⁰⁷ have previously observed strong matrix effects on pB10 plasmid transfer.

Compared to filter assays (**Figures 4-3 – 4-6**), sub-inhibitory concentrations had a lesser effect in microcosm assays (**Figure 4-7**). One reason may be well-known interactions of tetracycline with bivalent cations, which are ubiquitous in WWE ^{437–440}, thus lowering the selective potential of tetracycline, especially in sludge-related environments ⁴⁴¹. Further, pB10 transfer frequencies may differ significantly between (solid surface) filter experiments and (stirred liquid) microcosm experiments, as the increased and prolonged cell-cell contact might be a decisive factor. This is especially true for a large plasmid, like pB10, which needs a longer time of established contact to transfer. Finally, tetracycline concentrations in WWE are usually in the sub-inhibitory range and relatively low (< 4 µg/ml) ^{442–445} when compared to concentrations in untreated wastewater, influent or sludge (up to 48 µg/ml) ^{442,445–447}. It therefore seems likely that the WWE community developed resistances to the relatively high levels of tetracycline, in/before the WWTP, that were retained during the short passage into the effluent.

Inhibitory concentrations, on the other hand, had a larger effect in microcosm assays. Various reasons should be found among the factors introduced to the transfer experiments by the increased complexity of microcosm assays. Some of these factors include a decrease of the relative advantage for bacteria carrying the pB10 plasmid as a large number of other factors and (potentially counter-acting) selective agents come into play, as discussed in

chapter 4.4.2. . To investigate some of the potential factors, follow-up assays at three calcium (Ca^{2+}) concentrations were performed. Further, to investigate the importance of cell-cell interactions, follow-up experiments using solely free pB10-plasmid DNA were conducted.

THE IMPACT OF CALCIUM

Increasing Ca²⁺-concentrations inhibited the decrease of p/D-ratios over 48h (**Figure 4-8**, *bottom row*) and increased relative pB10 concentrations in non-donor microcosms at Ca^{2+}_{25mM} .



Figure 4-8: Impact of different calcium concentrations on WWE community, DH5_{α} and pB10 over 48h (boxplots) at RT under different conditions; no added donor (top row), donor added (bottom row); grey stars indicate significance of de-/increase of p/D ratio during experiment (t0 compared to t48); red stars indicate difference between native-calcium control and according microcosm with added calcium;

 Ca^{2+} concentrations caused p/D-ratios to increase in 3 out of 6 cases for D:EFF_{1:1} microcosms when compared to the non-Ca²⁺ control (**Figure 4-8**, red stars). Ca²⁺ has been shown to be able to increase AR and can act as a regulatory agent for antibiotic activity or bacterial signaling ^{410,411}. For D:EFF_{1:1} microcosms added Ca²⁺ did not show an effect on relative plasmid concentrations(**Figure 4-8**, *central row*). Allelic exchanges might have caused the donor pB10-plasmid to be integrated into the bacterial genome ⁴⁴⁸ and thus not be susceptible to increased HGT influenced by Ca²⁺.

pB10 concentrations were reduced over the course of the experiment. DH5a concentrations were not affected by this decrease. These results could indicate the presence of a compound that selected against the pB10 plasmid in general. As p/D-ratios significantly decreased in D:EFF_{1:1}-microcosms it is possible that a selection against the pB10 plasmid was at work and that the pB10 plasmid was more beneficial in native bacteria when compared to the donor cells. Another possible reason might be strongly elevated tetracycline concentrations in this WWE batch. Increased donor concentrations could be another

indicator for tetracycline concentration elevated to levels above selective concentrations. Consequently neither sub-inhibitory nor inhibitory concentrations (0.4 μ g/ml, 10 μ g/ml) effected increases of p/D-concentrations.

Calcium increased p/D-ratios (and potentially HGT) compared to non-calcium controls. Lower Ca²⁺ concentrations (Ca²⁺_{6mM}) seem to have less impact and their driving effect seems to need additional agents causing selective pressure (e.g. increased tetracycline concentrations). These results indicate that elevated Ca²⁺ concentrations could acerbate the risk mitigated by HGT in environments with strongly increased broad-range plasmid concentration, especially if pathogens are present ^{449–451}.

4.4.4 FREE DNA EXPERIMENTS

For microcosms without added free plasmid (**Figure 4-9**, top row) pB10/16S concentrations stayed unchanged. For microcosms with added free plasmid (**Figure 4-9**, bottom row) pB10/16S concentrations stayed constant. One exception was Tet_{10}^{spiked} where pB10/16S concentrations were significantly reduced.

Native pB10 concentrations declined when no selective pressure is exerted, but stayed the same when selective pressure is exerted by tetracycline. pB10-spiked microcosms on the other hand are able to retain their pB10/16S concentrations even without added selective pressure (**Figure 4-9**, bottom row, Tet₀). Based on free plasmid persistence preexperiments results (*SI Figure 4-2*), free pB10 concentrations are reduced by >99.9 % over the experiment time frame in sterile filtrated WWE flow-through.



Figure 4-9: pB10/16S Concentrations at t=0 and after 48h (boxplots) at RT under different conditions – BIO medium; no free plasmid added (top row), free plasmid added (bottom row); red stars indicate significance of de-/increase of p/D ratio during experiment (t0 compared to t48);

Interestingly, higher concentrations of selective agent reduce pB10/16S concentrations significantly. This might be an indication that free plasmid DNA is susceptible to deterioration/degradation by enzymes or certain chemicals ⁴¹⁷, including tetracycline. As free DNA degrades at a much faster rate (*SI Figure 4-2*), pB10/16S levels after microcosm

experiments indicate that the free pB10 plasmid was taken up by the wastewater bacterial community.

4.5. Conclusion

Sub-inhibitory tetracycline concentrations had an unexpectedly large effect on resistance levels and were shown to drive HGT of an ARG-carrying plasmid. Higher selective tetracycline concentrations, on the other hand, had varying effects in WWEs but had the potential to effect an increase in resistance. Modern urban wastewater systems connect these two conditions, with high antibiotic concentrations in wastewater and WWTPs and drastically reduced concentrations (mostly in the low sub-inhibitory range) in the receiving environment. Additionally, environmental water bodies are characterized by a lower density of bacteria and temperatures that are not optimal for the growth of most pathogens. Our experiments showed that these conditions benefit HGT in the absence of pre-existing resistance in potential recipients.

While the complex, non-homogenous nature of the WWE resulted in varying effects, it is clear that sources with strongly elevated antibiotic concentrations (e.g. antibiotic production locations, highly antibiotic-polluted urban environments and water bodies) pose a threat and can increase the risk, resulting WWEs pose to receiving environments. WWEs can provide (multi-)resistant donors to receiving water bodies with environmental conditions creating a HGT-conducive environment.

Many studies, focus largely on inhibitory antibiotic concentrations, unnaturally high donorratios and, in case of resistance-carrying pathogens, temperatures that do not occur in most natural environments. Such conditions do not necessarily render results transferable to reallife conditions. Sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentration of different compounds and on different bacterial communities will very likely have vastly different effects, with bacterial signaling being one of the mechanism responsible for the induction of HGT. HGT rates in nature might therefore be significantly higher than previously estimated. Even slightly elevated rates of HGT are problematic, in so far that humans and pathogens can concur in natural environments. An increased potential for HGT of ARGs could increase the number of antibiotic resistant pathogens and therefore increase the rate of propagation, infection with ARBs and subsequently the risk for society.

Investigations into HGT in "non-hotspot" natural environments are important. Further, drinking water and its distribution system need to be investigated more closely, as calcium concentrations vary widely at different locations, and communities with high drinking water calcium concentrations could have elevated HGT levels.

Summarizing, it can be said that a larger focus needs to be placed on the effects of (low) sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations, as these concentrations are common in anthropogenic and environmental settings and can act as a driving factor for HGT of ARGs.

4.6. Supplementary Material

SI Table 4-1: Primers, Probe and Target Sequences for gene detection;

Gene	Primers	Probe	Dye Used	Amplicon length [bp]
16S rRNA*	FW: 5'-CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3' RV: 5'-TTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCAC-3'	-	SYBR Green II	193 ⁱ
pB10	FW: 5'-CAATACCGAAGAAAGCATGCG-3'	5' -CCTCCACGGTGCGCGCTG-3'	FAM	135 ⁱⁱ
	RV: 5' - AGATATGGGTATAGAACAGCCGTCC-3'			
DH5a	FW: 5' -ACCGGGTACATCATTTCC-3'	5′- TCTGATTGGTGCGCTGGTGGTCTGG-3′	FAM	140 ⁱⁱⁱ
	RV: 5'-GCCCCGGTAAGAATGAT-3'			

¹ G. Muyzer, E. C. de Waal, and A. G. Uitterlinden, 'Profiling of Complex Microbial Populations by Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis Analysis of Polymerase Chain Reaction-Amplified Genes Coding for 16S RRNA.', Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 59.3 (1993), 695–700; Mangala A. Nadkarni and others, 'Determination of Bacterial Load by Real-Time PCR Using a Broad-Range (Universal) Probe and Primers Set', Microbiology, 148.1 (2002), 257–66 https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-148-1-257>.

^{II} Sébastien Bonot and Christophe Merlin, 'Monitoring the Dissemination of the Broad-Host-Range Plasmid PB10 in Sediment Microcosms by Quantitative PCR', Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 76.1 (2010), 378–82 <https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01125-09>.

^{III} Bonot and Merlin, p. 10.

SI Table 4-2: 16S rRNA qPCR Cycling Conditions;

Step	Temperature [°C]	Time [sec]	Cycles
Pre-denaturation	95	600	1
	95	10	
Amplification	60	60	45
	72	10	
Cooling	40	10	1

SI Table 4-3: Raw Wastewater Influent (IN) and Effluent (EFF) Parameter Values;

	COD, mg/L	DOC, mg/L	P-PO4, mg/L	N-NH4, mg/L	NOx-N, mg/L	N- NO2, mg/L	SS, mg/L	Av. CFU/ml E.coli	Av. CFU/ml coliforms	Av. CFU/ml heterotrophs	Av. 16S copies/ml
IN	238	-	1.9	19.2	2.2	0.2	146.7	1.45E+04	8.35E+04	1.30E+05	5.22E+08
EFF	13	4.8	0.2	0.1	0.6	0.1	2.2	5.00E+01	2.85E+02	1.90E+03	3.68E+06

SI Figure 4-1: Growth curves for donor (blue) and recipient (pink, green) over time at different antibiotic concentrations;



SI Table 4-4: A.bayl	yi (recipient) growth	at different antibiotic	concentrations a	nd temperatures;	+++ =
growth, $++[+] = \text{growth}$	wth (but visibly less th	an at RT), $\cdot =$ no grow	th, ++ = slight grov	wth, + = minimum	growth

Strain	Temperature	Antibiotic Concentration [µg/ml]	Gro	wth
			24 h	48 h
A. <i>baylyi</i>	RT	0	+++	+++
		0.0015	+++	+++
		0.015	+++	+++
		0.15	+++	+++
		1	++	+++
		10	-	-
	37°C	0	++[+]	+++
		0.0015	++[+]	+++
		0.015	++[+]	+++
		0.15	++	++
		1	+	++
		10	-	-

Note: E.coli_{DH5a} (donor) grew at all tested antibiotic concentrations (range 0 μ g/ml - 250 μ g/ml) with inhibited growth only at 250 μ g/ml at RT





SI A.4-2: 16S rRNA qPCR Protocol

16S rRNA copy numbers were quantified by TaqMan assay, designed and optimized by Ingenetix GmbH (Vienna, Austria) in a 10 μ L reaction mixture, containing 1 x LightCycler® 480 Probes Master (Roche, Germany), 1 x TaqMan assay and 2 μ L of a sample, according to the protocol in Table 1. Standard curves were prepared for each run by 10-fold dilution of a standard, ranging from 10⁸ to 10³ copies. The amplification efficiency ranged from 90% to 105%.

SI Table 4-5: Multiplex qPCR Cycling Conditions/Program;

4.7. Step	4.8. Temperature [°C]	4.9. Duration [mm:ss]
1	95	05:00
2	95	00:30
3	Optimal Annealing Temp. (see SI Table 2)	00:30
Δ	72	00.40
4	+ Plate Read	00.40
_	GOTO Step 2, 45 more times	
5	END	

SI A.4-3 Inocula Preparation

Inocula for the donor and recipient strains were freshly prepared prior to experiments . Inocula for donor and recipient cells were prepared 24h after plating cells at 37°C (or 48h after plating cells at RT) to obtain cells in their stationary phase.

24 h prior to inocula preparation, the strains were plated on Luria Bertani (LB) Agar (Sigma, USA) and incubated at 37 °C. Donor cells were grown on LB medium containing 10 μ g/ml tetracycline (tetracycline hydrochloride, Sigma-Aldrich, China).

30 mL of LB medium were inoculated with a sterile loop and the inocula were incubated for 24 h at 37 °C, to ensure that donor and recipient were both in the same growth phase (exponential).

R u	D:R	Ti me	Tempera ture	Tetracyclin e Conc.	Cou nt	DH5 cop./mL	DH5 cop./mL	pB10 copies/mL	pB10 copies/mL	pB10/D H5	pB10/D H5	
						mean	std	mean	std	mean	std	
		0		*	4	3.14E+0 5	8.31E+0 4	4.56E+05	4.39E+04	1.50E+ 00	2.58E- 01	
			RT	0	2	4.37E+0 5	1.11E+0 5	8.58E+05	3.17E+05	1.93E+ 00	2.34E- 01	
			37	0	2	8.83E+0 6	4.76E+0 6	1.24E+07	3.21E+06	1.53E+ 00	4.61E- 01	
			RT	0.015	2	2.59E+0 5	2.49E+0 4	6.16E+05	1.68E+04	2.39E+ 00	1.65E- 01	
	1: 1	48	37	0.015	2	4.85E+0 6	8.04E+0 5	1.09E+07	8.32E+05	2.27E+ 00	2.05E- 01	
			RT	10	2	2.50E+0 5	2.47E+0 4	5.68E+05	2.04E+04	2.28E+ 00	3.07E- 01	
1			37	10	2	6.70E+0 6	1.60E+0 3	9.47E+06	4.64E+05	1.41E+ 00	6.89E- 02	
					RT	100	2	2.41E+0 5	1.27E+0 5	4.89E+05	2.63E+05	2.02E+ 00
							37	100	2	7.90E+0 6	2.26E+0 6	1.02E+07
		0		*	4	4.28E+0 4	5.15E+0 3	6.66E+04	1.15E+04	1.55E+ 00	9.09E- 02	
	1:2 0		RT	0	2	6.53E+0 4	1.16E+0 4	1.89E+05	3.14E+04	2.90E+ 00	3.23E- 02	
		48	37	0	2	5.42E+0 6	2.57E+0 6	9.41E+06	3.65E+06	1.78E+ 00	1.70E- 01	
			RT	0.015	2	7.27E+0	2.72E+0	2.02E+05	1.39E+04	2.78E+	8.65E-	

SI Table 4-6: Overview of Results for different A.baylyi Filter Experimental Replicates (Runs);

						4	3			00	02
			37	0.015	2	8.43E+0 6	4.08E+0 5	1.15E+07	2.97E+05	1.37E+ 00	1.01E- 01
			RT	10	2	1.22E+0 5	1.98E+0 4	2.48E+05	5.70E+04	2.02E+ 00	1.40E- 01
			37	10	2	5.88E+0 6	1.74E+0 6	9.20E+06	1.99E+06	1.58E+ 00	1.30E- 01
			RT	100	2	1.55E+0 5	4.57E+0 3	3.69E+05	4.22E+04	2.38E+ 00	2.02E- 01
			37	100	2	8.44E+0 6	4.61E+0 5	1.08E+07	3.83E+04	1.28E+ 00	7.43E- 02
		0	*		4	3.14E+0 5	8.31E+0 4	4.21E+05	8.08E+03	1.42E+ 00	4.02E- 01
	1: 1		RT	0	2	1.72E+0 7	9.86E+0 6	1.68E+07	6.19E+06	1.22E+ 00	6.79E- 01
		48	RT	0.015	2	6.28E+0 6	1.27E+0 6	1.97E+07	3.60E+06	3.22E+ 00	8.21E- 01
2			RT	10	2	4.27E+0 7	2.62E+0 7	3.76E+07	1.91E+06	1.08E+ 00	4.31E- 01
	1:2 0	0		*	4	4.23E+0 4	4.50E+0 3	6.45E+04	1.15E+02	1.54E+ 00	1.66E- 01
		48	RT	0	4	5.71E+0 5	3.17E+0 5	1.59E+06	5.68E+05	3.09E+ 00	9.21E- 01
			RT	0.015	4	4.97E+0 5	2.96E+0 5	1.75E+06	7.74E+05	3.85E+ 00	7.84E- 01
			RT	10	4	3.78E+0 7	9.21E+0 6	2.93E+07	5.89E+06	7.85E- 01	9.43E- 02
	1: 1	0		*	4	1.15E+0 6	6.34E+0 5	1.61E+06	7.34E+05	1.49E+ 00	2.25E- 01
3		48	RT	0.0015	4	4.40E+0 5	2.59E+0 5	1.46E+06	5.59E+05	3.70E+ 00	9.11E- 01
			RT	10	4	1.52E+0 6	1.02E+0 6	7.86E+05	1.07E+05	6.96E- 01	5.36E- 01
	1:2 0	0		*	4	1.91E+0 5	1.65E+0 4	3.30E+05	5.99E+04	1.73E+ 00	3.00E- 01
		48	RT	0.0015	4	1.83E+0 6	5.74E+0 5	6.72E+06	3.04E+06	3.49E+ 00	8.72E- 01
			RT	10	4	2.21E+0 7	1.20E+0 7	1.62E+07	3.92E+06	8.02E- 01	2.59E- 01

* - batches at t=0 were prepared for each D:R-proportion without initially added tetracycline and four samples for DNA extraction aliquoted onto separately prepared filter \rightarrow t=0 values are similar for experiments with same D:R-proportions across different tetracycline concentrations; homogeneity of batches were insured by shaking before Aliquoting batches by pipetting onto filters (which were then placed on tetracycline-containing media of different tetracycline-concentrations)

R u n	D: EF F	Ti m e	Tetracycline Concentration	Co unt	16S cop./m L	16S cop./m L	DH5 cop./m L	DH5 cop./m L	pB10 cop./m L	pB10 cop./m L	pB10 /16S	pB10 /16S	pB10/ donor	pB10/ donor
					mean	std	mean	std	mean	std	mea n	std	mean	std
1	1:0 1	0 *	0	4	3.65E+ 05	9.19E+ 04	2.87E+0 4	1.32E+0 4	5.50E+0 4	1.84E+0 4	1.49E -01	1.28E -02	1.98E+ 00	2.66E- 01
		48	0	2	1.40E+ 07	8.49E+ 06	1.23E+0 5	3.25E+0 4	4.60E+0 5	5.66E+0 4	3.88E -02	1.94E -02	3.81E+ 00	5.48E- 01
			0.015	2	2.45E+ 06	1.34E+ 06	2.50E+0 5	4.24E+0 4	1.29E+0 6	4.10E+0 5	6.74E -01	5.37E -01	5.09E+ 00	7.76E- 01
			10	2	1.23E+ 06	3.54E+ 04	2.90E+0 5	7.07E+0 4	2.39E+0 6	8.63E+0 5	1.94E +00	6.48E -01	8.12E+ 00	9.95E- 01
	1:2 0	0 *	0	4	4.60E+ 05	1.27E+ 05	5.20E+0 3	2.55E+0 3	1.64E+0 4	1.07E+0 4	4.04E -02	3.46E -02	3.01E+ 00	5.94E- 01
		48	0	2	1.93E+ 07	1.06E+ 06	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	4.50E+0 6	1.84E+0 6	2.37E -01	1.09E -01	inf	
			0.015	2	9.50E+ 06	1.41E+ 06	4.80E+0 5	2.83E+0 5	6.70E+0 5	2.97E+0 5	7.37E -02	4.22E -02	1.47E+ 00	2.47E- 01
			10	2	4.88E+ 06	3.54E+ 04	4.50E+0 4	7.07E+0 3	2.60E+0 5	0.00E+0 0	5.33E -02	3.87E -04	5.85E+ 00	9.19E- 01
2	1:0 1	0 *	0	4	9.55E+ 06	7.07E+ 05	2.54E+0 6	9.97E+0 5	5.28E+0 6	1.81E+0 6	5.61E -01	2.31E -01	2.11E+ 00	1.14E- 01
		48	0	2	9.70E+ 08	6.51E+ 08	3.20E+0 6	9.33E+0 5	5.61E+0 6	9.76E+0 5	7.03E -03	3.71E -03	1.88E+ 00	8.53E- 01
			0.0015**	4	7.33E+ 07	2.59E+ 07	4.62E+0 6	2.00E+0 6	2.38E+0 8	4.95E+0 7	3.74E +00	1.92E +00	5.61E+ 01	1.52E+ 01
			0.015	2	2.19E+ 07	3.89E+ 06	5.90E+0 5	1.41E+0 4	1.70E+0 6	2.11E+0 5	7.97E -02	2.38E -02	2.87E+ 00	2.88E- 01
			10	2	6.28E+ 07	4.60E+ 06	1.31E+0 7	6.14E+0 6	6.71E+0 6	4.67E+0 5	1.07E -01	1.53E -02	5.68E- 01	2.31E- 01
	1:2 0	0 *	0	4	5.88E+ 06	1.17E+ 06	1.59E+0 5	1.02E+0 4	3.82E+0 5	4.24E+0 4	6.56E -02	5.81E -03	2.40E+ 00	1.13E- 01
		48			4.49E+ 06	2.46E+ 06	9.58E+0 4	7.33E+0 4	2.28E+0 5	1.83E+0 5	6.24E -02	4.09E -02	2.26E+ 00	8.78E- 01
			0	2	2.68E+ 08		3.89E+0 5	3.25E+0 4	2.22E+0 6	3.39E+0 5	9.18E -03		5.69E+ 00	3.97E- 01
			0.0015**	4	1.36E+ 08	1.22E+ 08	5.74E+0 5	3.00E+0 5	3.59E+0 6	3.95E+0 5	6.50E -02	5.89E -02	7.47E+ 00	3.45E+ 00
			0.015	2	3.86E+ 08	1.02E+ 08	3.54E+0 5	2.06E+0 5	4.65E+0 5	2.69E+0 4	1.26E -03	4.02E -04	1.56E+ 00	8.32E- 01
			10	2	7.10E+ 06	4.31E+ 06	6.96E+0 5	7.36E+0 5	2.32E+0 5	2.26E+0 4	4.13E -02	2.83E -02	7.16E- 01	7.25E- 01

SI Figure 4-3: Overview of Results for different WWE Filter Experimental Replicates ("Runs");

* - batches at t=0 were prepared for each D:EFF-proportion without initially added tetracycline and four sample for DNA taken from separately prepared filter \rightarrow t=0 values are similar for experiments with same D:EFF-proportions across different tetracycline concentrations; homogeneity of utilized batches were insured by shaking before aliquoting from batches onto filter (which were then placed on tetracycline-containing media of different tetracycline-concentrations)

** - as sub-inhibitory concentrations of 0.0015 μ g/mL were added in second run, these microcosms were conducted in quadruplets instead of duplicates in run2

R u n	D:E FF	Ti m e	Tetracy cline Concent ration	Co unt	16S copies/ mL	16S cop./m L	DH5 cop./m L	DH5 cop./m L	pB10 cop./mL	pB10 cop./mL	pB10 /16S	pB10 /16S	pB10/ donor	pB10/ donor
					mean	std	mean	std	mean	std	mean	std	mean	std
1	0:1	0	*	2	7.02E+04	2.33E+0 4	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	9.61E+02	8.28E+01	1.43E- 02	3.57E- 03	n/a	n/a
		0	*	2	2.85E+05	3.52E+0 4	1.32E+0 5	7.78E+0 3	1.62E+05	6.06E+02	5.72E- 01	7.27E- 02	1.23E+ 00	6.82E- 02
	1:1		0	2	1.54E+04	4.45E+0 3	2.09E+0 4	1.35E+0 4	5.39E+02	3.54E+02	3.30E- 02	1.34E- 02	2.57E- 02	2.85E- 04
			0.4	2	9.63E+03	9.50E+0 2	2.20E+0 4	9.16E+0 3	3.45E+02	1.94E+01	3.61E- 02	5.58E- 03	1.70E- 02	6.22E- 03
		48	10	2	2.03E+05	9.29E+0 4	1.57E+0 5	4.74E+0 4	1.20E+03	3.84E+01	6.67E- 03	3.24E- 03	8.01E- 03	2.18E- 03
			40	2	1.30E+04	8.94E+0 3	1.57E+0 5	4.74E+0 4	1.20E+03	3.84E+01	1.22E- 01	8.66E- 02	8.01E- 03	2.18E- 03
			100	2	7.28E+03	2.71E+0 3	2.59E+0 5	5.09E+0 4	4.34E+03	7.27E+02	6.61E- 01	3.46E- 01	1.68E- 02	4.98E- 04
2	0:1	0	*	2	5.02E+04	9.19E+0 3	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	3.23E+02	5.12E+01	6.64E- 03	2.24E- 03	n/a	n/a
		48	0	2	2.05E+05	7.07E+0 3	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	1.06E+03	3.27E+02	5.21E- 03	1.77E- 03	n/a	n/a
			0.0015	2	4.43E+05	5.37E+0 4	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	1.50E+03	7.99E+02	3.52E- 03	2.23E- 03	n/a	n/a
			0.4	2	2.84E+05	8.49E+0 3	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	1.95E+03	1.34E+03	6.79E- 03	4.53E- 03	n/a	n/a
			10	2	2.22E+05	1.48E+0 4	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	1.28E+03	3.68E+02	5.83E- 03	2.05E- 03	n/a	n/a
			100	2	3.33E+04	5.57E+0 3	0.00E+0 0	0.00E+0 0	5.49E+02	1.58E+02	1.63E- 02	2.01E- 03	n/a	n/a
		0	*	2	1.92E+05	4.24E+0 3	9.37E+0 4	8.91E+0 2	8.23E+04	8.32E+03	4.30E- 01	5.30E- 02	8.78E- 01	8.04E- 02
		48	0	2	1.69E+05	2.05E+0 4	1.83E+0 3	4.53E+0 2	7.21E+02	7.34E+02	4.03E- 03	3.86E- 03	4.59E- 01	5.16E- 01
	1:1		0.0015	2	3.84E+04	2.27E+0 4	5.84E+0 3	3.27E+0 3	8.48E+02	9.28E+02	1.81E- 02	1.35E- 02	1.19E- 01	9.21E- 02
			0.4	2	1.50E+05	1.43E+0 5	4.47E+0 3	1.99E+0 3	6.96E+03	2.38E+03	7.17E- 02	5.27E- 02	1.60E+ 00	1.82E- 01
			10	2	5.55E+05	4.77E+0 5	1.35E+0 4	3.90E+0 2	3.87E+04	2.06E+04	8.53E- 02	3.63E- 02	2.89E+ 00	1.61E+ 00
			100	2	4.68E+04	6.93E+0 3	4.93E+0 4	1.15E+0 4	4.87E+04	4.29E+04	9.83E- 01	7.70E- 01	1.12E+ 00	1.13E+ 00

SI Figure 4-4: Overview of Results for different Microcosm Experimental Runs;

* - batches were prepared for each D:EFF-proportion without initially adding tetracycline and at t=0 two separate samples for DNA extraction taken per batch \rightarrow t=0 values are similar for experiments with same D:EFF-proportions across different tetracycline concentrations; homogeneity of utilized batches were insured by shaking before aliquoting from batches into 400 mL of WWE for the separate microcosms

5. Comparison of qPCR and Different Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Methods for the Analysis of Antibiotic Resistance in Environmental Samples

Keywords: Bioinformatic analysis; Shotgun metagenome sequencing; Method comparison; Whole genome sequencing

Submitted to the journal " Computers in Biology and Medicine "

5.1. Abstract

The present study investigates the impact of different analysis methods as well as various bioinformatic parameters on antibiotic resistance gene (ARG) detection and quantification. qPCR results were compared to Illumina NextSeq shotgun sequencing analysis results . Whole-genome sequencing (WGS) data was analyzed using a machine learning (ML) model (deepARG), a custom non-ML pipeline or custom-made `*in-silico* qPCR' scripts. Parameters evaluated include assembly, databases usage, analysis methods and DNA concentrations.

We show that ML analysis of unassembled WGS data has an advantage over all other methods for ARG detection and results are more similar to qPCR results. Pre-analysis assembly of paired WGS reads had the largest negative impact on results, even surpassing the impact of the analysis method used, an effect that may be most pronounced in results from low to moderate coverage data. The lowest impact parameter, with results compared to qPCR results, was the choice of database. ARG prediction in samples with low DNA concentrations could be shown to be less accurate. Further, WGS analysis was able to predict ARGs that were screened for but not detected by qPCR.

More than half of WGS-measured abundances varied less than 1-fold from qPCR results. Over-quantification and ARG concentrations were inversely correlated and some very lowabundance ARGs were shown to be severely over-quantified across all analysis methods, when copared to qPCR results. A combination of WGS and qPCR can reduce the large selection bias introduced by qPCR and add relevance to qPCR results, as these can be analyzed within a more integrated context. WGS analysis could serve as a basis to select adequate genes of interest for qPCR analysis based on a research question.

5.2. Introduction

The study of microbial communities, in the environment as well as in anthropogenic and clinical settings is crucially important in research fields such as water reuse, antibiotic resistance propagation and pharmaceutical compound discovery and environmental microorganisms are being examined more thoroughly than ever before. However, there are challenges when working with environmental samples. One of the main limitations is that the majority of environmental organisms are non-cultivable ²²¹, leading to the increased reliance on molecular methods, such as real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) or next-generation sequencing (NGS) including whole-genome sequencing.

qPCR has been held as the gold standard in gene detection and quantification in environmental research ²³⁰. DNA is extracted from environmental samples and screened for target genes via qPCR ^{452–454}. Nevertheless, regular qPCR is low-throughput in regard to the number of genes being analyzed simultaneously, even when multiplexed. A selection bias is introduced by the need to select genes and choose probes and primers. Even more importantly: it provides information about a very limited number of targets. High-throughput PCR technologies, e.g. microarrays and HT–qPCR (high-throughput qPCR), increase the number of targets that can be assayed, but come with their own challenges, including high result variability and lower specificity ²¹².

In the past years, next-generation sequencing (NGS) methods have been on the rise and have often completely substituted qPCR in many environmental microbiome studies. NGS without benchmarking to standards or combination with additional methods such a 5' hydrolysis with digital droplet PCR ⁴⁵⁵, is considered to be semi-quantitative ^{216,456}, partly due to its susceptibility to technical bias ²¹⁵. Results from NGS and qPCR studies are being compared with each other in scientific discussions ^{457–461} without fully taking into consideration the impact of the different methods, or biases and differences that can arise from their pronouncedly distinct nature ⁴⁶². There is a growing number of bioinformatic tools for metagenomic analysis ^{463–467}, where two methods that try to solve the same problem might differ remarkably from one another based on the parameters they use.

Traditional NGS data analysis is characterized by three sequential steps: (1) assembly of reads into larger sequences (contigs), (2) gene prediction and (3) annotation or clustering of domains, functions or pathways ⁴⁶⁸. Most tools designed for the accurate prediction of genes from assembled NGS data aim for high sequence identity (cut-off values >80-90%), low evalues and high alignment length ^{468,469}. The prediction of a gene is usually determined by the 'best hit' of a sequence query in a sequence database. However, this traditional data analysis framework has limitations, especially during assembly. While small metagenomes are handled well by most assembly tools, the assembly of larger, complex metagenomes is challenging and requires ultra-deep sequencing and correspondingly higher computational power ^{470,471}. Further, repeated sequences make the localization of relative positions in the genome difficult ⁴⁷⁰. Moreover, the presence of highly conserved genomic regions might cause inter-genomic assembly techniques might not capture the genomic diversity of microbial communities with different species abundance levels, if the tools were developed by using single species data from cultivated samples ⁴⁷².

Machine learning-based pipelines have recently emerged as an alternative approach to mine WGS data for ARG analysis ^{469,473–475}. While traditional pipelines depend on the accurate assembly of reads, machine learning-based methods can predict genes from short WGS reads, allowing to skip the cumbersome and error-prone assembly step. Another advantage of ML-methods over assembly-based approaches is the independence from sequence identity cut-off values which consequently decreases the number of false negatives by not relying solely on the "best hit" for accurate gene prediction ⁴⁶⁹. Furthermore, ML-methods can predict novel genes from metagenomes, since the algorithm can learn and detect unique features of gene categories for unknown gene discovery. Of course, model training is limited to using known gene categories ⁴⁶⁹. The uniqueness of gene categories (SI Table 5-2) is also the reason why ML-methods tend to perform better in filtering out false positives since they take similarities across gene categories into account and can distinguish between random sequence similarities and truly distinct categories ⁴⁶⁹. One drawback of MLapproaches is the dependence on well-curated, large databases. Size and guality of the database are crucial for the model training, as small databases with less information about gene categories will affect prediction accuracy, especially for low-abundance genes ⁴⁶⁹. Another disadvantage is the time required for ML-model training.

The present work compares molecular methods and bioinformatic tools for the analysis of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) in wastewater samples. gPCR results are compared to the results of different metagenomic approaches, including a machine-learning (ML)-based method (deepARG) using raw or assembled reads, an assembly-based non-ML pipeline using different databases to compare their impact, as well as a custom-made "in-silico gPCR" script. This study aims to compare the detection and the abundance characterization of 13 specific ARGs in wastewater samples between qPCR and different WGS methods. It further aims to investigate the impact of various factors, including assembly, database use and low ARG concentrations of different bioinformatic WGS analysis methods, on the accuracy (compared to gPCR results) and relative quantifiability of metagenomic analysis. A number of studies comparing gene detection and quantification methods exist for miRNA analysis platforms ^{476–478}, cancer research ^{479–482}, prenatal screening ^{483,484} and phylogenetic profiling ⁴⁸⁵. However, to date the present study represents, to the best of our knowledge, the first comparison of the performance of analysis methods to detect and quantify antibiotic resistance genes from environmental metagenomes as well as an evaluation of result guality for usage in subsequent models, comparing the outcomes of traditional pipelines, ML-based methods and qPCR to each other.

5.3. Methods and Materials

5.3.1 SAMPLING

Wastewater (WW) samples were taken from various locations along the wastewater infrastructure of two Dutch cities as previously described ³⁴⁴. Samples included communal and hospital wastewater as well as WW treatment plant influent and effluent (secondary or tertiary treatment). A total of 11 samples were used for analysis (*SI Table 5-1*).

5.3.2 DNA EXTRACTION AND QPCR

DNA was extracted within 24 hours of sampling, using the MoBio PowerSoil kit. 13 ARGs were quantified using qPCR. These 13 "target genes" included: *aph*(III)a, *bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{OXA}, *bla*_{SHV}, *erm*B, *erm*F, *mec*A, *qnr*S, *sul*1, *tet*B, *tet*M, *van*A and *van*B; they were selected for their relevance in the environment. DNA extraction, qPCR procedure and qPCR data analysis were previously described ³⁴⁴.The same DNA extracts were used for qPCR and WGS analysis.

Target gene primers for in-vitro and in-silico qPCR analysis were largely universal primers capturing more than one subclass for each ARG. The exact ARGs targeted are listed in *SI Table 5-2*.

The term "target gene" is defined as the 13 genes listed in this chapter, which where quantified by qPCR and will thus be referred to for the remainder of this paper.

5.3.3 WHOLE-GENOME SEQUENCING

Whole-genome sequencing was conducted by Baseclear B.V. (Sylviusweg 74, 2333 BE Leiden) using Nextera XT library preparation and Illumina paired-end NovaSeq sequencing (minimum sample depth of 3 Gbp). To avoid biases due to these varying parameters (such as DNA extraction and qPCR or amplification errors) in this study, WGS analysis was conducted from the same WGS datasets, in order to investigate only the impact of different analysis methods on the output.

5.3.4 ASSEMBLY

Paired reads were assembled into contigs using metaSPAdes v 3.13.1 $^{\rm 472}$ using default parameters.

5.3.5 CUSTOM NON-ML BASED ANALYSIS

Analysis was performed using an in-house pipeline, which included metagenome assembly, gene prediction, clustering and gene annotation using MOCAT2 (PMC4978931) and USEARCH (min alignment 80%, min. query coverage 85%) ⁴⁸⁶. To investigate the impact of

databases on the predicted sequences, two types of analyses were performed: (1) predicted genes were annotated using the CARD database (BC1), and (2) predicted genes were annotated using the deepARG database, including CARD, ARDB and UNIPROT (BC2).

5.3.6 MACHINE LEARNING-BASED ANALYSIS

Analysis was performed using deepARG-ss or deepARG-ls ⁴⁶⁹. Unassembled reads (D1) and assembled reads (contigs) (D2) were analyzed. Detected ARGs were ensured to be individual genes as opposed to ARG-classes by manual inspection via the given accession number.

5.3.7 IN-SILICO QPCR ANALYSIS

A Python script was written to perform "in-silico gPCR"-analysis (I1). This script simulated regular gPCR in silico, in order to be able to investigate the presence of target genes within the raw WGS dataset and help estimate the impact of advanced bioinformatic tools on WGS data analysis results. To this end, paired WGS sequences were iterated over and forward and reverse primer sequences were computationally attached to the sequences of interest. This script is only a rough approximation to in-vitro gPCR, as the assembled DNA fragments used are relatively short and this method will not be able to detect an ARG when primer sequences are located at two different assembled WGS fragments. A Github repository has been created to store, pull and use the in-silico qPCR script: https://github.com/lasupernova/insilico_gPCR.git

For the remainder of this work, the term qPCR will always refer to the regular in-vitro qPCR and only the term "*in-silico* qPCR" will refer to the script described here.

5.3.8 DATA ANALYSIS

Different types of analysis were performed: **1)** WGS data was analyzed for ARG presence and ARG abundance; **2)** information on [a] presence/absence and on [b] relative abundance of 13 target genes was extracted from WGS analysis results and compared to detection and relative abundance results obtained by qPCR analysis.

Unless otherwise stated, the terms lower and higher detection and under-/overquantification of ARGs refers to WGS results compared to qPCR results as a baseline. Unless otherwise stated the term "abundance" refers to relative ARG abundances.

1) WGS analysis

Detected ARGs, as obtained by different WGS analysis methods (D1, D2, BC1, BC2), were added to a list to produce an overview of ARG presence in each of the samples. Genes could be detected more than once from WGS reads so that each ARG was detected with a different abundance or number of hits.

The number of hits per detected ARG was normalized using the total number of reads per sample (WGS) or 16S rRNA concentrations (qPCR) in order to make relative abundance results comparable across samples. ARG abundances, expressed as fractions of different genes from the complete dataset, were then compared to each other to be able to make

statements about which genes were more or less abundant in the samples based on different analysis methods.

2) Analysis of Target Genes

Information on the 13 target genes was extracted from WGS results by their accession number and gene names. Detection of target genes across different WGS analysis methods was compared to detection by qPCR (see *5.4.2*). To measure ARG abundance, the number of hits for every detected target gene was added to a list for each of the 13 target genes.

For a better overview, detection results of the individual samples were combined and the fraction of samples in which individual ARGs with higher or lower detection was shown (see *5.4.2*, **Figure 5-2**).

To compare target relative gene abundance from WGS analysis to gPCR results, the combined number of hits (of the 13 target genes) was added up per sample and defined as 100%. The fraction, of each of the 13 individual target genes, was then calculated (e.g. if the total number of hits adds up to 500 and sul1 contributes to these with 100 hits, sul1 makes up 20% of the abundance of the genes of interests isolated from the WGS dataset). Similarly, gene concentration detected by gPCR were added up and the fraction for each individual gene detected by qPCR was calculated. The fractions obtained by qPCR and by the WGS analysis methods were then compared to each other. The accuracy of each WGS analysis method to quantify ARG abundance (compared to gPCR results) was then determined either by direct comparison of the fractions and by calculating the discrepancy of the WGS results from the results obtained by qPCR (e.g. the sul1 percentage for BC1 was 64% compared to 85% for gPCR • the absolute difference is 21 %, which translates into a 25 % discrepancy of the BC1 result relative to qPCR results). When results for individual samples were combined, the standard deviation of the resulting values was added to the mean (see 5.4.3). This was calculated for each of the 11 wastewater samples (SI Figure 5-1) and sample-individual results were subsequently combined across samples per analysis method, ARG and water treatment type (Figure 5-1).

Computational simulation of varying sequencing depth

Practical analysis of varying sequencing depth was outside of the scope of this work. To be able to make statements about the impact of the sequencing depth on analysis results, sequencing depth was computationally reduced by running Monte-Carlo-simulations as described in *SI Table 5-10*.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SciPy v.1.5.0. Unless otherwise stated hypothesis testing was performed via Student's t-test using Python's scipy.stats library. P \leq 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Hierarchical clustering was performed by calculating cophenetic distances between observations (Ward's linkage method), using the scipy.cluster.hierarchy and scipy.spatial.distance modules (SCIPY.CLUSTER.HIERARCHY.COPHENET(Z, PDIST(SIMARRAY))).
5.4. Results and Discussion

The impact of different analysis methods and bioinformatic parameters on gene detection (5.4.1+5.4.2), relative abundance (5.4.3) and distortion of results due to potential biases were investigated. Additionally, the hypothesis that bioinformatic methods accurately detect ARG from raw WGS data was tested.

5.4.1 ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE GENE PREDICTION IS STRONGLY IMPACTED BY ANALYSIS METHOD AND ASSEMBLY

ARG detection by WGS was measured by analyzing WGS data for the presence of the 13 qPCR target genes in the 11 wastewater samples and comparing WGS prediction to the test results of qPCR (see *SI Table 5-3*). Methods differed widely in their ability to detect ARGs in these samples (**Figure 5-1**, left). D1 (ML-method, no assembly) prediction results were most similar to qPCR results (**Figure 5-1**, right – hierarchical clustering). D2 (ML-method, assembly), which methodologically only differed from D1 by using contigs as opposed to unassembled WGS reads, detected the lowest number of ARGs of all six evaluated methods (**Figure 5-1**, left – p-value). Differences between WGS data analysis methods caused by sequencing errors ⁴⁷⁹ can be ruled out, as the same sequencing data was used across methods. Sequencing errors could, however lead to differences between WGS and qPCR results.





The choice of analysis method ($p_{D-BC}<0.026$) and assembly ($p_{D1-D2}=0.002$) both had significant impacts on ARG prediction (**Figure 5-1**, *left*). Analysis of unassembled WGS data has previously been shown to be superior to analysis of assembled WGS data; this advantage was most pronounced for longer genes or amplicons ⁴⁸⁷. Assembly-based analysis is likely at a disadvantage at the relatively low sequencing coverage used in this study, as the relatively low abundance of ARGs within the genome can hinder gap-less assembly and single nucleotide polymorphism detection accuracy, leading to impeded mapping of the assembled reads ^{475,488}. Using longer read-sequences (such as produced by third-generation sequencers) might help avoid biases in this regards ⁴⁷⁵. metaSPAdes performs de novo assembly, which increases potential negative impact of low to moderate coverage on the

results and has been shown to not be the best options for low coverage assembly ^{472,489,490}. Nevertheless, algorithms usually perform better with increasing coverage, so that it may be interesting to conduct a follow-up study comparing results for different sequencing depths ⁴⁹¹⁻⁴⁹⁴. Using specialized low-coverage assemblers is yet another approach to reduce potential biases ^{489,491,495,496}. ML-methods do not rely on mapping to the same extent as non-ML methods; therefore, it is probable that potential disadvantages from larger target sequences have a lower impact on D1 results in the present study. Metagenomic assembly itself can be error-prone ⁴⁹⁷ and results can vary strongly ⁴⁹⁸. Further, repetitive sequences often flank AR islands acquired by horizontal gene transfer (HGT) ⁴⁹⁹. These cannot be correctly assembled and are discarded before assembly resulting in a loss of information ^{500,501}, which can be crucial for correctly identifying AR profiles ⁵⁰².

The choice of database ($p_{BC1-BC2}=1.00$) did not significantly impact ARG detection. These results are based on the premise of well-curated databases as points of comparison. The CARD database ⁵⁰³ and UniProt ⁵⁰⁴ are large, regularly updated databases. ARDB is large but not maintained anymore and all of its data can also be found in the CARD database ⁵⁰⁵. Small, non-curated databases would show a larger advantage from being enhanced with additional data and/or added databases ^{506,507}. Previous research has shown that databases have an impact on results ¹⁸¹. The low impact of databases on results in the present study, is likely further due to the fact that databases with focus on ARGs were chosen, indicating the importance of choosing not only well-curated databases but also databases suited to the research question instead of more generic ones. Follow-up studies including smaller, non-curated or non-ARG specific databases will be needed to verify this. Database use might, however, well be relevant for subsequent risk assessment (e.g. notation on if ARG is located on mobile genetic elements (MGEs)) ¹⁸¹.

5.4.2 ARG DETECTTION COMPARED ACROSS METHODS

DETECTION OF 13 TARGET ARGS – ZOOMING INTO DETAILS

In general, lower detection of ARGs by WGS methods occurred more frequently than higher detection (compared to qPCR results, **Figure 5-2**). ARGs that were detected at very low concentrations (*qnrS*) by qPCR or which were not detected by qPCR (*van*B) were generally higher detected from WGS data. While for the ARG most abundantly detected by qPCR (*sul*1), presence as detected by WGS methods was most comparable to qPCR detection (**Figure 5-2**). Lower detection by WGS methods was associated with low gene abundances (**Figure 5-2**). Similarly, lower detection increased in "cleaner" samples, with lower bacterial loads and genetic content (*SI Table 5-1*), indicating that lower detection could be decreased by increased sequencing depth. Signal-processing, base calling limitations and disproportionate GC-content are reasons which have previously been specified ⁵⁰⁸ and are relevant for gene detection in a group of genes as diverse as ARGs, as sequences and especially GC-contents vary widely across different ARGs. D1 performed best, with only one lower detected gene in samples with high genetic content.



Figure 5-2: Over- and underdetection of individual genes of interest across different NGS analysis methods when compared to qPCR results; Mis-detection of target ARGs shown in percent of samples with mis-detection; blue – overdetection/(potentially false) positives, red – underdetection/(potentially false) negatives; n – number of samples in subgroup; * - relative abundance as detected by qPCR [%]; n.d.="not detected".

Using WGS methods, *van*B was solely detected in hospital wastewater samples and *qnr*S solely in WWTP influent or effluent (*SI Figure 5-1*). Supported by the non-detection of *van*B by *in-silico* qPCR (*I1*), this is an indicator that non-targeted gene subclasses can go undetected by qPCR in hospital wastewaters and WWTPs. WGS has previously been shown to be superior to qPCR in terms of gene detection ⁴⁸⁰ and to have a similar analytical sensitivity detecting mutations ^{477,482} as qPCR under certain conditions. "Higher detected" genes could thus also be qPCR false negatives, which seems to be the case for *qnr*S. This gene was detected by I1 by extracting the exact qPCR primer sequences from the WGS dataset. (Cross-)Validation of the different methods is therefore of utmost importance ⁴⁷⁷. Correlations between rate of mis-detection and how well researched an ARG was, could not be shown (*SI Table 5-12*).

It has previously been shown that NGS results can be more accurate and unbiased than qPCR, as resistance-conferring mutations will not stay undetected due to dependence on specific probes or other biases from molecular methods ⁵⁰⁹.

The 13 target genes only comprised a minuscule fraction of the total number of detected ARGs by WGS and were largely not present within the 30 most abundant ARGs (**Figure 5-3**). The most abundant ARGs within the qPCR dataset were largely also most abundant within the WGS results among the target genes (**Figure 5-3**). One exception was *qnrS*, which WGS frequently detected in higher abundance than qPCR (*SI Figure 5-2*). Nevertheless, qPCR analysis is inherently focused on a selection of target sequences, while WGS results provide a more holistic picture, regardless of the analysis method used. For instance, *sul*1 represented 3.0 %, 5.5 % and 6.2 % of total ARGs predicted using method D1, BC1 and BC2, respectively, compared to over 80 % for qPCR, due to the selection of a minor fraction of target genes in qPCR analysis. To reduce the impact of the created selection bias, it is important to select reference genes appropriate to the respective research question ^{510,511}. Generically using generic potential proxies for ARG pollution, such as *sul*1, does not necessarily render representative results ⁵¹². Additionally, result distortion

can result from qPCR inhibition and varying gene detection sensitivities, as has previously been observed ^{512,513}.

GENERAL GENE DETECTION- THE LARGER PICTURE

WGS analysis analyzes the entirety of ARGs present in a sample and is able to predict a much larger number of ARGs than the few target ARGs selected for qPCR. This results in a more accurate, holistic picture of real conditions within the sample, while qPCR results reveal a much smaller "slice of reality". Nevertheless, differences between the ARGs detected by different WGS analysis methods could be observed.



Figure 5-3: Overview of relative abundance for all ARGs detected by different analysis methods; 30 most abundant genes per analysis method shown; BC1 = results with 16S rRNA mutations grouped and excluded from 30 most abundant genes as they constitute a group of ARGs not individual genes; exact individual mutations associated with different 16S rRNA mutations listed as "BC1-a" can be seen in *SI Table 5-11*.

BC1 consistently detected a notably high number of 16S rRNA mutations conferring AR than other methods. The hypothesis, that this originates in an over-representation of 16S rRNA mutations in the CARD database was refuted, as the proportion of this type of mutation is not conspicuously high. Only 50 16S rRNA entries are present in the database, whereas the 4 most abundant beta-lactamase genes constituted 30% of all database entries. 139 entries were detected for the CTX gene class, 166 entries for TEM genes and a striking 438 entries for OXA genes (*SI Table 5-5*), all ARGs, which were, detected with lower frequency and abundance than 16S rRNA mutations. A large part of the differences between the results of BC1 and the other analysis methods was shown to originate from the vast number of detected 16S rRNA mutations in BC1. Excluding these mutations, BC1 results were more comparable to BC2 and D results (*SI Figure 5-3*).

D1 and BC2 exhibited an elevated abundance of *rpo*B2 (**Figure 5-3**), a gene closely related to the RNA polymerase beta-subunit encoding gene *rpo*B; the two genes show 88.8% similarity at nucleotide level ⁵¹⁴. *rpo*B, a (usually) single-copy gene, is present in all bacteria and has been suggested as a superior alternative to 16S rRNA for universal bacterial identification ^{515–520}. Gene duplication resulting in *rpo*B2 is one of the few cases where *rpo*B-genes are not single copy genes and always lead to rifampicin-resistant bacteria ⁵²¹, whereas mutations within single copy *rpo*B can confer resistance to rifampicin but usually do not contribute to resistance ⁵²². As results from D1 predict nearly twice as much *rpo*B2 as results from BC2, it stands to reason that resistance based on ubiquitous housekeeping genes, such

as *rpo*B2, could be over-estimated by ML-models due to similarity with *rpo*B, as has previously been described ¹⁸¹.

Generally, a larger number of ARGs was predicted via ML-methods, with up to 10 times more ARGs detected when using D1, compared to other WGS analysis methods (*SI Table 5-6*). While false positives due to sequencing errors are one possible explanation ⁴⁷⁵, ARG-specific ML-models, such as deepARG, take the nature of (point-)mutations in ARGs into consideration and incorporate computational solutions, such as setting minimum read thresholds ^{469,475}, in order to avoid false positives. A more likely explanation is assembly-independence as discussed above, which enables detection of (point-)mutations resulting in AR. D2 was similarly able to predict a larger number of ARGs when compared to non-ML methods. Further, D2 detected more ARGs than D1 in "cleaner" samples (tertiary treated WW samples), showing a benefit of assembly for sensitivity for low-abundance ARGs when using ML-methods (*SI Tables 5-6+5-7*).

One issue with both NGS and qPCR is, that they do not automatically provide phenotypic information and no information on if ARGs are located on MGEs can be derived (depending on the database used). Such information can be important for risk assessment ¹⁸¹.

5.4.3 Relative ARG Abundance Measurements Compared Across Methods

NGS methods quantified 50 % of target genes with abundances within the range of -50% to +100% of qPCR abundance results, while 86% of them were quantified with <1 log of difference to relative abundances measured by qPCR (**Figure 5-4**). *sul*1, *tet*M and *erm*B were quantified with the greatest accuracy across all methods and were among the most abundant ARGs quantified by qPCR (1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 5^{th} most abundant, respectively; **Figure 5-3** + *SI Table 5-9*). D1 did generally tend to overestimate *tet*-genes more than other WGS analysis methods, especially in hospital wastewater samples, when looking at results at the level of individual samples as opposed to mean values shown in **Figure 5-4** (*SI Figure 5-2*). One reason that contributed to this, was faulty annotation of related *tet*-genes (e.g. most notably *tet*O), as was revealed upon systematic, manual inspection of D1 results. Interestingly, over-quantification of these genes did not equate to increased higher detection (false positive results) when compared to qPCR results (**Figure 5-2**).

The two least abundant ARGs in qPCR results (*bla*KPC and *qnrS*), were most over-quantified by all WGS analysis methods. Out of the correctly detected target genes, BC1 was able to most accurately quantify the abundance (comparing median values to exclude extreme outliers, which distort mean values). D1 was able to quantify genes more accurately than D2 or BC2 (*SI Table 5-8*). BC1 had more extreme outliers, but D1 had a larger number of outliers as the low-abundance genes that were detected by D1 were usually severely over-quantified (*SI Table 5-8 + SI Figure 5-2*).

Chapter 5 - Comparison of qPCR and Different Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Methods for the Analysis of Antibiotic Resistance in Environmental Samples



Figure 5-4: Relative abundance (Fractions) of ARG shown by analysis method and Target ARG; Top. Mean±std for results combined from all samples shown, Bottom. Percentage difference between qPCR results and different WGS analysis method results (absolute values).

Unexpectedly, *in-silico* qPCR (I1) was able to detect gene abundances with an accuracy that was comparable to more sophisticated approaches (D1+2, BC1+2). Correlations of relative abundances of qPCR and WGS results ^{477,523} and high detection accuracy of and distinction between low-abundance gene variants ^{481,524} have previously been observed. Taking into account both gene detection and relative abundance accuracy, ML-analysis of unassembled reads was clearly superior to analysis of assembled reads.

One important aspect outside of the scope of the present study is the impact of sequencing depth. Sequencing depth can have a significant impact on the detection of low-abundance genes ^{462,525,526}. An increase in sequencing depth can, in many cases, improve detection. However it has been suggested that the relative proportions of detected ARGs remain largely constant "regardless of depth" ⁵²⁶. Computationally decreasing the sequencing depth of our WGS dataset caused a further increase of differences between qPCR and WGS results (both regarding ARG presence and abundance), with low-concentrations ARGs being more susceptible (*SI Table 5-10*). This is an indicator that increasing real sampling depth could benefit result accuracy and reduce the strong over-quantification of genes like *qnrS*, at least to a certain extent.

5.4.4 WGS RESULTS - IN-SILICO QPCR

Based on WGS results, a final hypothesis was formulated: if the utilized bioinformatic tools (D1, D2, BC1, BC2) are specific and sensitive enough for accurate ARG quantification, ARGs detected with the highest abundance from WGS results, should also be quantified with highest abundance by *in-silico* qPCR. To this end, specific primers, for the five ARGs most abundantly detected by WGS analysis, were identified from literature ^{527–531} and screened for

using *in-silico* qPCR. As expected, *rpo*B2 and *tet*W were detected with the highest abundance from NGS-reads by I1 (*SI Figure 5-4*) across most samples, with *rpo*B2 being detected at higher concentration than *tet*W as was previously seen by general gene detection (**Figure 5-3**). Samples with higher pollution content (untreated wastewater samples) detected these genes more often than samples with lower pollution (treated hospital wastewaters). However, *bac*A, *mex*F and *rps*L could not be detected by I1, indicating a dependency of (*in-silico*) qPCR results on the selected primers. One explanation for non-detection is that the selected primers for *bac*A, *mex*F and *rps*L do not capture all variants of these genes.

5.4.5 RELEVANCE OF ENVIRONMENTAL QPCR RESULTS CAN BE INCREASED BY COMBINATION WITH WGS

The position of qPCR as "gold standard" for gene quantification and discovery has previously been questioned ⁴⁷⁶. Summarizing, it can be said that the case for gene discovery and detection is quite clear, not only from the results in the present study, but also due to WGS not being susceptible to variability in melting temperatures or nearly identical genetic sequences which can be problematic for qPCR analysis ⁴⁷⁶. In clinical research AR is often investigated in order to answer very narrowly defined questions, such as: "Are the mycobacterium tuberculosis pathogens in this sample rifampicin resistant?". In contrast, in environmental research the amount, variety and sort of genes in samples is often unclear. WGS analysis, especially using ML-models, will be vastly more beneficial under these circumstances. The selection of appropriate genes for qPCR analysis has been shown to be of utmost importance for a research question ⁵³² and can thus be facilitated or improved.

5.5. Conclusion

Machine learning models are superior to non-ML models, as assembly of WGS data is disadvantageous to ARG detection from environmental samples, and has only a minor positive effect on the measurement of relative ARG abundance. Independence from assembly seems especially advantageous at low WGS sequencing depths. The choice of databases has a negligible effect on ARG detection, given the usage of well-curated databases. Machine learning models were not only superior for ARG detection, but also detected unknown or unclassified subclasses of ARGs (e.g. potential sub-variants of *van*B) with similarity to known ARGs. This is an important advantage of using NGS, as potential false negatives (from qPCR results) can be identified. ARGs measured at very low concentration needs to be considered carefully as such ARGs can be severely over-quantified by WGS methods compared to higher-concentration ARGs.

When used in isolation qPCR might not be the best method to conduct research (especially exploratory research) on antibiotic resistance in environmental settings. A combination of both, WGS and qPCR is thinkable. A small number of selected genes could be quantified by qPCR and relative WGS abundances of all detected (NGS) genes converted to total concentrations based on the qPCR results of a few genes. The strong selection biases caused by qPCR could be prevented as WGS results would contribute to the "bigger picture" and analysis of qPCR-quantified ARGs could be performed within a more realistic frame, while avoiding overestimation of low concentration genes.

5.6. Supplementary Material

SI Table 5-1: Sample information and metadata;	
---	--

Sample	Туре	Matrix	Details	16S copies / mL	Total WGS reads	Location	ID
HWW1	Untreated	Hospital WW	Untreated HWW Effluent before treatment in Pharmafilter	1.4E+09	12851819	1	1
MBR	Treated	Hospital WW	WW after treatment step 1 in Pharmafilter	1.1E+05	20407531	1	8
GAC	Treated	Hospital WW	WW after treatment step 2 in Pharmafilter	4.6E+06	19738700	1	9
Ozone	Treated	Hospital WW	WW after treatment step 3 in Pharmafilter	3.1E+06	19338137	1	10
UV	Treated	Hospital WW	WW after treatment step 4 in Pharmafilter – Treated Effluent	5.7E+05	21425730	1	11
CWW	Untreated	Communal WW	Untreated communal WW (no contact with HWW)	5.6E+09	25977378	1	3
HWW2	Untreated	Hospital WW	Untreated HWW Effluent	7.6E+10	21519268	2	2
W1_In	Untreated	Mixed	Untreated communal WW (including WW from hospitals)	8.7E+09	20661582	1	4
W1_Out	Treated	Mixed	Treated communal WW (including WW from commune and hospitals)	8.7E+07	18813406	1	5
W2_In	Untreated	Mixed	Untreated communal WW (including WW from hospitals)	2.4E+09	18489709	2	6
W2_Out	Treated	Mixed	Treated communal WW (including WW from commune and hospitals)	2.6E+08	21502321	2	7

SI Table 5-2: qPCR gene subclasses captured by different qPCR primers and screened for in WGS datasets;

Name	Gene-Identifiers	Acccession Number (CARD)
<i>aph</i> 3a	aph(3')-IIIa	ARO:3002647
<i>mec</i> A	mecA	ARO:3000617
<i>sul</i> 1	sul1	ARO:3000410
tetB	tet(B), tetA(B)	ARO:3000165,ARO:3000166

Chapter 5 - Comparison of qPCR and Different Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Methods for the Analysis of Antibiotic Resistance in Environmental Samples

<i>tet</i> M	tetM	ARO:3000186
<i>van</i> A	vanA	ARO:3000166
<i>van</i> B	vanB	ARO:3000013
<i>Ыа</i> крс	KPC-6,KPC-17,KPC-24,KPC-3,KPC-19,KPC-12,KPC-9,KPC- 8,KPC-14,KPC-2,KPC-4,KPC-10,KPC-16,KPC-5,KPC- 7,KPC-13,KPC-22,KPC-11,KPC-15	ARO:3002316,ARO:3002327,ARO:3004496,ARO:300231 3,ARO:3002329,ARO:3002322,ARO:3002319,ARO:3002 318,ARO:3002324,ARO:3002312,ARO:3002314,ARO:30 02320,ARO:3002326,ARO:3002315,ARO:3002317,ARO: 3002323,ARO:3003180,ARO:3002321,ARO:3002325
<i>bla</i> oxa	OXA-33,OXA-224,OXA-4,OXA-31,OXA-1,OXA-320,OXA- 47	ARO:3001427,ARO:3001806,ARO:3001399,ARO:300142 5,ARO:3001396,ARO:3001793,ARO:3001781
<i>bla</i> _{SHV}	SHV-153,SHV-179,SHV-183,SHV-182,SHV-180, SHV-56, SHV-121, SHV-42, SHV-89, SHV-74, SHV-24, SHV-2, SHV-7,SHV-134, SHV-185, SHV-148, SHV-186, SHV-141, SHV-11,SHV-39,SHV-60, SHV-64, SHV-103, SHV-127, SHV-165,SHV-8, SHV-101, SHV-135, SHV-31, SHV-34, SHV-137,SHV-110, SHV-100, SHV-157, SHV-5, SHV-145, SHV-163,SHV-6, SHV-15, SHV-84, SHV-161, SHV-65, SHV-30, SHV-133, SHV-21, SHV-70, SHV-61, SHV-66, SHV-59,SHV-38, SHV-158, SHV-151, SHV-44, SHV-48, SHV-86,SHV-77, SHV-69, SHV-37, SHV-27, SHV-150, SHV-35,SHV-154, SHV-95, SHV-93, SHV-123, SHV-108, SHV-187,SHV-104, SHV-83, SHV-78, SHV-44, SHV-46, SHV-106,SHV-82, SHV-76, SHV-12, SHV-13, SHV-50, SHV-166,SHV-81, SHV-62, SHV-12, SHV-149, SHV-178, SHV-46,SHV-81, SHV-62, SHV-152, SHV-25, SHV-107, SHV-33,SHV-63, SHV-80, SHV-75, SHV-102,SHV-124, SHV-22,SHV-159, SHV-125, SHV-26, SHV-107, SHV-20, SHV-20, SHV-126, SHV-104, SHV-22,SHV-120, SHV-40, SHV-172, SHV-98, SHV-111, SHV-28, SHV-57, SHV-85, SHV-172, SHV-129, SHV-94, SHV-109,SHV-79, SHV-20, SHV-67, SHV-173, SHV-94, SHV-109,SHV-79, SHV-20, SHV-67, SHV-173, SHV-94, SHV-109,SHV-126, SHV-96, SHV-45, SHV-128, SHV-144, SHV-128,SHV-97, SHV-160, SHV-53, SHV-32, SHV-414, SHV-36,SHV-143, SHV-119, SHV-18, SHV-19	ARO:3001176
ermB	ermB	ARO:3000375
<i>erm</i> F	ermF	ARO:3000498
qnrS	QnrS1, QnrS2,QnrS3,QnrS4,QnrS5,QnrS6,QnrS7,QnrS8,QnrS9	ARO:3002790,ARO:3002791,ARO:3002792,ARO:300279 3,ARO:3002794,ARO:3002795,ARO:3002796,ARO:3002

sample	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	mean	SD
qPCR	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	0
deepARG1	83	83	83	83	58	75	75	66	100	58	91	78	12
deepARG2	16	33	16	50	41	8	25	58	91	66	75	44	26
BC1	25	50	75	58	41	50	33	66	100	66	83	59	21
BC2	25	58	75	58	33	50	33	66	100	66	83	59	22
insilico 1	16	50	58	58	50	33	33	66	100	66	83	56	23
insilico 2	8	50	75	66	25	16	33	66	83	66	83	52	26

SI Table 5-3: Percentage of correctly detected ARGs per sample across different analysis methods (compared to qPCR results);

797, ARO: 3002798

Chapter 5 - Comparison of qPCR and Different Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Methods for the Analysis of Antibiotic Resistance in Environmental Samples

	D1	D2	BC1	BC2	I1	12
D1	1	0.002	0.011	0.010	0.010	0.007
D2	-	1	0.020	0.026	0.007	0.190
BC1	-	-	1	1.000	0.227	0.094
BC2	-	-	-	1	0.307	0.082
I1	-	-	-	-	1	0.319
12	-	-	-	-	-	1

SI Table 5-4: Significance of differences resulting from different analysis methods expressed by p-values;

SI Table 5-5: Number of Genes per ARG Class Within the CARD Database; 5 most abundant gene classes as well as classes for genes of interest shown

ARGs were not analyzed on gene family level in this study but by looking at individual detected ARGs. However, the number ARG entries per class is important in order to make statements about potential biases introduced by a different strongly varying number of gene entries per ARG class. To this end, the following list is shown.

AMR Gene Family	Number of individual genes in database	ARGs of interest associated
OXA beta-lactamase	438	<i>bla</i> oxa
TEM beta-lactamase	166	n/a
SHV beta-lactamase	157	<i>bla</i> shv
CTX-M beta-lactamase	139	n/a
resistance-nodulation-cell division (RND) antibiotic efflux pump	123	n/a
16s rRNA with mutation conferring resistance	55 *	16S mutations
quinolone resistance protein (qnr)	102	qnrS
sulfonamide resistant sul	4	sul1
van ligase, glycopeptide resistance gene cluster	2	<i>van</i> A, <i>van</i> B
APH(3')	17	aph(3')-IIIa
Erm 23S ribosomal RNA methyltransferase	42	<i>erm</i> B, <i>ermF</i>
major facilitator superfamily (MFS) antibiotic efflux pump	112	<i>tet</i> B
tetracycline-resistant ribosomal protection protein	42	<i>tet</i> M
KPC beta-lactamase	12	Ыакрс
methicillin resistant PBP2	6	<i>mec</i> A

* - combined 16S rRNA mutations, including mutations conferring resistance to: aminoglycoside (42 genes), peptide antibiotics (4 genes), tetracyclines (4 genes), pactamycin (1 gene); as well as 16S rRNA Methyltransferases (4 genes)

SI Table 5-6: Number of different ARGs detected per sample by analysis method;

sample	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	

Chapter 5 - Comparison of qPCR and Different Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Methods for the Analysis of Antibiotic Resistance in Environmental Samples

qPCR	12	12	12	12	10	12	12	12	12	12	12
D1	250	284	358	328	110	264	130	107	68	90	78
D2	144	205	-	212	120	53	-	-	160	174	143
BC1_a	53	136	166	122	24	74	15	21	14	16	8
BC1_b	49	132	155	111	15	66	15	16	8	12	7
BC2	66	155	186	145	26	77	26	24	13	25	14

SI Table 5-7: Maximum number of ARGs detected per treatment type by analysis method;

	qPCR	D1	D2	BC1_a	BC1_b	BC2	
untreated	12	296	122	110	102	125	
secondary	11	120	120	19	15	26	
tertiary	12	85	159	14	10	19	

SI Table 5-8: Result discrepancy and variation from qPCR results across qPCR genes by analysis method; * - median absolute deviation, ** - mean of number of analysis methods that detected the gene across samples

	BC1	BC2	D1	D2	I1	12
median	131.5698	708.6288	249.3957	13966.4	129.7869	187.4322
mad *	8209.689	7829.968	3216.14	401708.1	107.8558	597.5742
mean	5550.291	5902.962	2106.647	261371.7	162.5882	599.8495
std	18135.34	20188.95	5929.488	813599.4	235.4398	1895.826
count **	3.272727	3.272727	6	3.545455	2.636364	2.454545

SI Table 5-9: Result discrepancy and variation from qPCR results disregarding analysis method (=across all analysis methods) by quantified gene; * - median absolute deviation, ** - mean of number of analysis methods that detected the gene across samples

	<i>sul</i> 1	SHV	<i>erm</i> B	<i>tet</i> M	OXA	<i>erm</i> F	<i>aph</i> (3''')-III	KPC	<i>van</i> A	<i>tet</i> B	<i>qnr</i> S	<i>mec</i> A	<i>van</i> B
median	26	124	206	220	376	511	746	850	4435	29745	65211.63	[6284588]	-
mad *	18	61	381	325	219	45	479	193	4249	26402	14345.27	-	-
mean	35	124	410	377	477	516	745	936	4435	29745	56555.25	[6284588]	-
std	26	216	512	522	421	105	1803	853	6009	52273	18621.83	-	-
count **	5	1	3	2	2	3	1	1	0	1	1.181818	[0.181818]	-

SI Table 5-10: ARG presence and relative abundance at different computational sequencing depths

In order to be able to make statements about the impact of sequencing depth on analysis results, the WGS results dataset (D1) was computationally reduced to outputs associated with a reduced sequencing depth. To achieve this, a Monte-Carlo-Simulation of 100 cycles was run and random subsets of the dataset were created using the **.sample()** method from the Python **pandas** library ^{iv}. Subsets were created with 50 %, 10 %, 5 %, 1 %, 0.5 % and 0.1 % of the dataset. The results from the 100 cycles were combined and are shown below.

% of dataset in subset sample	100	50	10	5	1	0.5	0.1
<i>sul</i> 1	31.33531	29.37319	23.90465	22.24264	21.02796	19.57348	30.0094
<i>tet</i> M	25.20403	25.2043	25.70417	24.94073	23.91027	23.53409	20.07804
ermB	20.85385	20.97679	20.67042	19.48029	19.1545	16.77685	19.80445
<i>erm</i> F	7.010843	7.050997	7.721874	8.420604	12.25819	10.00077	5.072588
qnrS	3.792273	3.765814	4.122021	4.657416	5.970582	5.04873	5.652149
<i>aph</i> (3''')-III	3.709621	4.215978	5.754014	7.034873	7.214429	4.918986	2.499471
ΟΧΑ	2.722657	2.78142	3.524687	4.24875	4.296568	3.836519	2.838951
<i>van</i> B	1.701661	2.085022	2.737983	2.458656	1.459538	1.351951	1.203407
tetB	1.54608	1.644026	2.454187	3.177604	3.043865	3.177236	1.358165
КРС	1.429395	1.745755	1.942629	1.991098	0.857291	1.209409	0
<i>van</i> A	0.408399	0.624256	0.78519	0.688611	0.228386	0.328339	0.338095
SHV	0.285879	0.532451	0.678171	0.658732	0.578414	0.098361	0
mecA	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Si Table 5-11: Exact individual mutations associated with different 16S rRNA mutations and TUF mutations;

Abbreviation	Organism carrying mutation	Resistance against				
16S rRNA mut. 1	Neisseria meningitidis	spectinomycin				
16S rRNA mut. 2	Chlamydophila psittaci	spectinomycin				
16S rRNA mut. 3	Pasteurella multocida	spectinomycin				
16S rRNA mut. 4	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	streptomycin				
16S rRNA mut. 5	Neisseria gonorrhoeae	spectinomycin				
16S rRNA mut. 6	Mycobacterium abscessus	neomycin				
16S rRNA mut. 7	Helicobacter pylori	tetracycline				
tuf 1	Planobispora rosea	inhibitor				
tuf 2	Escherichia coli	tobramycin				
tuf 3	Clostridium difficile	tobramycin				
tuf 4	Streptomyces cinnamoneus	tobramycin				
tuf 5	Escherichia coli	Enacyloxin				
16S rRNA mut. 8	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	amikacin				
16S rRNA mut. 9	Mycobacterium chelonae	tobramycin				
16S rRNA mut. 10	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	kanamycin				
16S rRNA mut. 11	Mycobacterium abscessus	tobramycin				

	КРС	ΟΧΑ	SHV	aph(3''')-III	ermB	ermF	mecA	qnrS	sul1	tetB	tetM	vanA	vanB
articles	10400	16300	12800	3850	9060	3180	57800	5460	22400	5190	15300	45000	23700

Si Table 5-12: Number of articles found via Google Scholar per gene name; data retrieval date: 10.02.2020

SI Figure 5-1: ARG detection by different analysis methods across individual samples (plot 1-11) and of combined samples (plot 12);



121

SI Figure 5-2: Relative ARG concentrations as detected by different analysis methods across individual samples (plot 1-11) and of combined samples (plot 12);



SI Figure 5-3: Comparison between BC2+D results and BC1 results including vs excluding 16S rRNA mutations conferring antibiotic resistances; BC1-a : regular (writing out all predicted ARGs), BC1-b : 16S rRNA mutations conferring antibiotic resistances grouped together (not in top 30 genes), BC1-c : 16S rRNA mutations conferring antibiotic resistances completely excluded from figure;



SI Figure 5-4: Detection of rpoB2 and tetW by insilico qPCR compared to other qPCR genes; results per sample (subplots 1 - 10) and for all samples (subplot 11); *bacA, mexF and rpsL were screened for but not detected by I1



6. Concluding Chapter: "Where do we go from

here?"

In scientific circles and beyond there has been a lot of talk about the "post-antibiotic" era. Especially in light of the current public health crisis and its economic and social implications and consequences that are described in Chapter 1.1., scientists, policymakers and the general public alike are becoming more alert to the risks and dangers that antibiotic resistance poses to our health and society.

Looking at the increasing number of multi-resistant pathogens, the growing numbers of complications and death due to antibiotic resistance as well as widespread levels of resistance in the environment, there is no denving that the post-antibiotic era is already approaching rapidly and, as the most recent pandemic demonstrated impressively, we are not sufficiently prepared to manage infectious disease outbreaks using social measures and restrictions, and these come at great social and economic costs. The focus now needs to be on damage control, containment, deceleration of the spread of resistance as well as the implementation of effective measures (including the education of the general public), based on informed risk assessment. Raising awareness and increased legislation in regards to prescription, social measures to contain infections and heightened control and testing in clinical settings are one way to control the spread of antibiotic resistance. Another effective way is to control and minimize the spread from clinical and urban environments via the urban wastewater system to the environment and thus to stop the cycle of ARG propagation between natural and anthropogenic environments. On one hand, propagation within the urban wastewater system by way of horizontal gene transfer could be reduced. On the other hand, increased monitoring of wastewater systems would increase our knowledge of mechanisms behind ARG propagation in these systems and thus create more data and information to be used further.

Efficient and accurate risk assessment relies heavily on information and models. The present work aimed at providing more information, elucidating the mechanisms behind the spread of wastewater-derived antibiotic resistance genes in the environment and compared methods in order to make predictions about these mechanisms' and methods' effectiveness and adequacy to generate knowledge about the spread of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewaters and the environment. Summarizing conclusions, recommendations and future perspectives will be discussed in the present chapter.

6.1. Concluding Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to explore and understand microbial strategies and risk factors for antibiotic resistance gene propagation in wastewater and river environments. To achieve this goal, four specific sets of experiments were designed, each according to one of the targeted research questions. The encompassing approach was to evaluate antibiotic resistance and its propagation, using a combined approach of molecular, bioinformatic and engineering methods, including:

- (multiplex) qPCRs assays
- different bioinformatic pipelines for WGS data analysis
- bioreactor experiments.

In *Chapter 1*, the status quo of scientific knowledge is shown and open questions, as well as research questions for the present work, discussed. It is shown, that at the beginning of this research, the exact impact of hospital wastewaters on the downstream communal wastewater system were not completely clear. The literature and scientific publications are a rich source of empiric information about antibiotic resistance presence, distribution and concentrations in different water systems. It was, however, not clear what the exact quantitative and qualitative benefit of on-site wastewater treatment of high-risk point sources (like hospitals) were. Similarly, the influence of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations on horizontal gene transfer and ARG propagation were not completely clear; the consequences resulting from mixing waters from high-concentration (in terms of antibiotic), high-resistance (in terms of ARG abundance and variety) sources with lowconcentration, low-resistance environmental waters were largely unexplored. Finally, analytical differences resulting from different analysis technologies, in the field of ARG research, were widely assumed but had not been explicitly compared. Nevertheless, results gained by different analysis methods are widely directly compared to each other. Knowledge about the impact of the analysis method is decisive to be able to compare results obtained by different methods and to be able to draw accurate conclusions from similarities and differences based on such comparisons.

In *Chapter 2*, the impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the receiving communal wastewater system was analyzed. It could be shown that on-site treatment of high-risk point sources can have a significant positive impact on the downstream water system (for example by quantifiably reducing the number and concentration of ARGs and antibiotics) and might help mitigate the risk of ARG propagation. This knowledge is vital in order to decide on effective legislation. The results presented in *chapter 2* used hospital wastewater to demonstrate the increased risk potential of high-risk point-sources and the benefits of on-site treatment of such sources. All of the 13 ARGs detected in hospital wastewater were significantly reduced in relative and absolute concentration by on-site treatment; nine out of these 13 ARGs could be reduces to under the limit of detection or completely eliminated. The results could well be representative for other high-risk point sources, such as antibiotic production sites. To verify this hypothesis, follow-up studies at antibiotic production sites and other high-risk point sources of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes should be conducted.

However, while a large number of antibiotics were monitored, only 14 genes specifically selected for their relevance in natural environments were investigated and changes in the microbial wastewater community were out of the scope of the research. Based on the results of *chapter 5* it has become clear, that the application of target-based sequencing as

well as metagenomics in this research could have added value to the experimental set-up ad given more insight into the mechanisms behind ARG propagation driven by discharges from high-risk point sources.

The hazard posed by hospital wastewaters as well as the impact on downstream communal wastewater systems, due to elevated levels of antibiotics, antibiotic resistance genes and other pharmaceutically active or infectious agents, including viruses, has been confirmed in several studies ^{533–540}. However effective reduction, especially of antibiotic resistance genes, is likely strongly dependent on the type of treatment. Advanced treatment technologies (such as in *Chapter 2*) seem to be far superior to secondary wastewater treatment, with improved ARG concentration reduction rates of up to 3.6-fold higher. Secondary treatment might acerbate the risk resulting from antibiotic resistance genes in hospital wastewater due to increasing the relative concentration of resistance genes on mobile genetic elements ^{533,539} and might not be powerful enough to sufficiently reduce antibiotic concentrations ^{541,542}. Secondary treatment increased relative ARG concentrations for approximately 10-30 % of all ARGs detected. Advanced treatment technologies have been shown to render varying degrees of benefits depending on treatment parameters (such as ozone concentrations or hydraulic retention times of GAC) ⁵⁴³.

One of the recommendations, from the research presented in *Chapter 2*, was to start implementing on-site treatment of wastewaters at high-risk point sources. Other calls for decentralized on-site treatment, stricter legislation for wastewaters from high-risk point sources and stronger monitoring (including of hospital wastewaters) have since been voiced ^{533,537–539,543–549}.

In *Chapter 3*, it was shown that anthropogenic pollution, via urban and industrial wastewater and agricultural manure discharges, does not lead to continuously increasing levels of antibiotic resistance genes in the water body that is affected by these pollution sources. A relationship between antibiotic usage/pollution and between a number of proposed proxies for ARGs from anthropogenic origin was discussed. A direct link between antibiotic usage and antibiotic resistance could not be determined in the present work. Other studies have found varying evidence for correlations between antibiotic prescription and usage and antibiotic resistance levels. Some studies detected a definite correlation 550-552, while other studies detected no correlation or correlations only for a limited number of antibiotics with tetracycline being most prominent for correlations with tet-gene concentrations ^{553–556}. A number of reasons for potential false negative non-detection of correlations can be found among the experimental setup of the present work: 1) the investigated ARGs were selected due to their importance and impact for antibiotic resistance in the environment; this selection does not necessarily have to be representative of the composition of ARGs to be found in the samples (2) regional antibiotic usage was determined by data from governmental and other administrative sources, not by guantifying antibiotic concentrations from the utilized samples (3) ARGs are often strongly associated with and linked to specific bacterial phyla, leading to an increase of those ARGs upon exposure to environmental conditions which select for certain phyla 557. The present research was mainly aimed at determining if antibiotic resistance gene concentrations increase along the river Rhine and relationships between antibiotic usage and ARG concentrations were a secondary research question. Therefore, the experimental setup resulted in the shortcomings described above, which could unveil indications and crossresistances but has otherwise limited explanatory power to describe the relationship between antibiotic usage and ARG concentrations. The direct measurement and quantification of antibiotics using HPLC, as was done in Chapter 2, has proven to be the better option.

In *Chapter 4*, the risk and impact associated with sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations of tetracycline on transfer of ARG were explored. It could be identified that locations, which act as meeting point for high-resistance wastewaters and natural water bodies, present a particular risk. Several studies investigated the general impact of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations ^{171,558–568}, identifying the effects of sub-inhibitory concentrations on a number of mechanisms, including: induction of transducing phage ⁵⁵⁸, induction of antibiotic resistance ^{171,561,567,568} and biofilm formation ^{394,564,565}; all mechanisms that can increase the propagation of antibiotic resistance. Despite research revealing some ways in which subinhibitory antibiotic concentration might propagate antibiotic resistance (as mentioned above), not much research has been conducted to obtain more insight into the processes driven by sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations on antibiotic resistance and bacterial community composition in wastewater-impacted natural water environments and it is a field of research which needs to be shown greater attention. Nevertheless, in light of the findings of the studies cited above, the increased potential from AR propagation in complex bacterial communities (when compared to simple two-organisms donor-recipient systems) described in chapter 4 can be explained for example by the presence of phages in more complex samples or the presence of a larger number of microorganisms with the capability for biofilm formation, which can be stimulated by sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations and thus create adequate local microenvironments for the exchange and propagation of antibiotic resistance genes. Additionally to sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations, sub-inhibitory concentrations of other chemical compounds have been shown to have effects on antibiotic resistance propagation^{560,568–571}. These processes could, in part, be driven by increased Integrase expression under the influence of sub-inhibitory compound concentrations ⁵⁶¹ or by modified biofilm formation ^{564,565,570}. Hotspots of wastewater-impacted natural water environments could not easily be identified by standard monitoring methods, as these are regularly aimed towards detecting high compound concentrations. The potential risk from locations acting as "meeting point" for wastewaters and natural water bodies could therefore have long been overlooked and underestimated as a source of antibiotic resistance propagation. More studies in this direction are necessary to definitely confirm or rule out an increased risk potential.

In *Chapter 5*, the advantages and shortcomings of different molecular analysis methods (namely qPCR and multiple WGS analysis pipelines), frequently used for environmental antibiotic resistance research, were elucidated. Surprisingly, WGS results were not only very accurate for ARG detection, but also for relative ARG quantification, with over half of all gene concentrations measured by WGS not varying more than 100% from qPCR concentrations . Machine-learning models performed especially well and can reduce the need for assembly steps, which can add another level of complexity and potential source for errors to WGS analysis in non-ML analysis pipelines. Improving ML –and deep learning algorithms will further improve WGS quantification accuracy ^{474,572,573}. Additionally, ML-algorithms are a huge potential asset in the fight against antibiotic resistance in a number of other fields, including antibiotic creation ⁵⁷⁴, risk assessment ³⁸⁰, outbreak prediction ⁵⁷⁵ or prescription aid ⁵⁷⁶. Its importance in antibiotic resistance research will likely strongly increase in the years to come.

Regarding the experimental setup from the previous chapters described in this thesis in light of the results in *Chapter 5*, it becomes clear that WGS adds tremendous value and increases the amount of available information disproportionately. In hindsight, applying WGS to most research questions in this thesis might have had added substantial merit in terms of perspective, information and generated knowledge. Although absolute gene concentrations cannot be obtained from WGS data, relative abundances and a more comprehensive context due to a significantly increased understanding of the presence of ARGs would enhance the knowledge available for thorough analysis of the data. The benefits of WGS are especially

apparent in environmental research as, unlike in clinical research, specific ARGs of interest and their distribution are often not known, during the formulation of research questions. The absence of more complete data resulting from WGS (compared to gPCR), might well lead to the oversight and neglect of important key factors, relationships and risk factors. Similarly, the correct categorization and importance of ARGs detected by gPCR would strongly benefit from WGS data, to be able to evaluate ARGs with regards to the "complete picture". The benefits of WGS compared to gPCR have been extensively described, including independence from specific primers leading to the ability to capture known and unknown genetic entities and the status of qPCR as the "gold standard" has been challenged ^{577–581}. Technical shortcomings of WGS, especially limited reads length number and cost, are constantly being improved with technological and computational advances ^{580,582}. The approach of combining initial WGS analysis with subsequent gPCR analysis of specific genes of interests for a more "fine-grained" insight (when necessary) or phenotypic methods, has been mentioned ^{579,583–585}. Based on the results of *chapter 5,* one of the recommendations of this thesis is to analyze environmental samples using WGS before choosing the most adequate ARGs for absolute quantification via qPCR, based on WGS data. This approach will help formulating and answering research question more targetedly, enable researchers to analyze gPCR results with greater exploratory power and increase the potential to recognize necessary gaps in knowledge, which could be, addressed by follow-up research.

While WGS and subsequent computational analysis have the potential to "super-charge" biological environmental biology and ecology research definite guidelines are missing. Guidelines and protocols, such as the MIQE guideline for qPCR ³⁴³, are crucial to ensure reproducibility and comparability of results across studies and research teams. For methods requiring bioinformatic-intense analysis, such guidelines are especially important, as a myriad of different analysis tools exist for every possible step of WGS data analysis ^{585,586}. As was shown in *Chapter 5*, even small differences in bioinformatic analysis pipelines can have significant effects on the generated results and guidelines on minimum sequencing depth for ARG investigation in different environmental samples, agreements on the use of machine-learning models (instead of assembly-based pipelines rendering inferior results) and defined databases as well as a consensus on the acceptable minimum alignment or minimum query coverage could be thinkable. Of course, different fields of research require different analysis and analyses methods, however producing guidelines for at least the bare minimum of consensus between researchers would go a long way in increasing the quality of research in terms of reproducibility and comparability.

6.2. Implications for Society and Recommendations

The present work shows quite clearly that point-sources of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes, such as untreated hospital wastewaters, increase antibiotic and ARG concentrations, and introduce hospital-related ARGs into downstream communal wastewater systems and subsequently into the environment, thus increasing exposure (e.g via irrigation)^{587–592}. In humans and animals increased exposure can lead to infections with antibiotic resistant bacteria ^{593–596}. In the (environmental) bacterial community exposure can increase the opportunity for HGT to environmental bacteria and pathogens ^{597,598}.

It was further clarified, that sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations can play a crucial role in the propagation of antibiotic resistance by means of increased potential for horizontal gene transfer. In literature, this potential was shown to be strongly matrix-dependent, so that the exact effects cannot easily be predicted in diverse settings and under varying conditions. Nevertheless, it is clear that the contact interface of anthropogenically impacted wastewaters and environmental water bodies present an additional risk. Untreated wastewater of point sources could thus have an even larger contribution to the spread of antibiotic resistance. To better understand the implications of these results, follow-up studies in using a larger number of antibiotics could be conducted and experimental conditions could be chosen to more closely mimic specific aquatic environments or local conditions (e.g. temperature could be shown to play a role and the outcomes might differ in different climatic regions of the world).

Based on the conclusions in this section and in *section 6.1*, it can be said, that two of the main measures to reduce the spread of antibiotic resistance are:

- Implementation of on-site wastewater treatment at locations, which can be described as high-risk point sources of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes. Such location especially include hospitals and antibiotic production sites
- Increased environmental monitoring as well as wastewater-based epidemiology. Increased environmental monitoring could be conducted in order to identify locations which may present a special hazard due to proximity to high-risk sources of wastewater in order to be able to introduce further measures which can mitigate risk and could help to evaluate the efficiency of already implemented measures (such as on-site treatment).

Additionally, internationally coordinated behavioral changes and social conventions are crucial in order for the measures described above to take full effect. Such changes include measures, such as: stricter or adjusted prescription policies, internationally coordinated stewardships, the use of AI for improved prescription and reduced antibiotic use for veteranary purposes ^{599–604}.

6.3. Questions for Further Research

The research described in this document, has created a number of new research questions, building on the results generated. Some of the most important and pressing ones are mentioned and the potential for further research explored.

Which conditions enable increased horizontal gene transfer at sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations?

One of the key questions arising from the result discussed previously is the question under which exact conditions and environments very low or sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations present a potential hazard. As shown by this (*Chapter 4*), the effects of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations on antibiotic resistance and horizontal gene transfer are strongly matrix-dependent. Results in *chapter 4* show, that environments with increased levels of existing antibiotic resistance and environments which contain higher proportions of ARG-arrying donor organisms are susceptible to increases of horizontal gene transfer of ARGs under the influence of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations. Nevertheless, the widespread presence of sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations in anthropogenic and natural environments makes this a non-trivial question, as even a limited number of very specific "beneficial" conditions could easily amass.

Apart from anthropogenic and environmental matrices, the question about which microorganisms are susceptible to increased horizontal gene transfer under pressure from sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations poses itself. Additionally, the importance of bacterial communities needs to be posed. Are bacterial communities in particular niches or with a specific taxonomic composition especially enable horizontal gene transfer events under given sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations? Answering these questions will be of the essence in order to make predictions about risk and for general risk assessment in different environments.

Which treatment parameters of wastewater treatment technologies optimize antibiotic resistance gene reduction and reduce risk?

In the present work and beyond, different advanced wastewater treatment technologies have been shown to have a varying impact on antibiotic resistance gene as well as antibiotic concentrations. It will be important to know which treatment technologies are most efficient, while not increasing risk. Results in *Chapter 2* have shown that treatment technologies targeting antibiotic resistance genes are not the best technologies to also reduce antibiotic concentrations. Further, it could be shown that some advanced treatment technologies are more effective at reducing the concentration antibiotic resistance genes. A combination of different technologies in parallel thus seems to be the best solution. Under such a arrangement, treatment costs and throughput limits need to be considered and balanced for realistic implementation.

To effectively implement on-site hospital wastewater treatment, gathering knowledge about which treatments to employ using which parameters for optimal result. It will further be important to know if increased stress from some treatment technologies significantly increase the risk for horizontal gene transfer for the chosen combination of technologies. It will further be important to investigate if selection of

(potentially) pathogenic microorganisms or microorganisms with a high potential for horizontal gene transfer could be selected as an unwanted side effect. Investigating the impact of this type of treatment on bacterial communities and their antibiotic resitance profiles is therefore another logical next step.

Do decreased antibiotic concentrations, resulting from advanced on-site wastewater treatment of high-risk point sources, pose an additional risk for ARG propagation?

Based on the combined results of *Chapter 2 + 4*, the question about potential additional risk associated with reduced antibiotic concentrations arises. A large number of antibiotics in hospital wastewater could significantly be reduced by advanced on-site treatment, many of which could be completely eliminated or reduced under the limit of detection. Very low (sub-inhibitory) antibiotic concentrations could be shown to favor horizontal gene transfer of antibiotic resistance genes, in *Chapter 4*. It might be interesting to reproduce the microcosm experiments described in *Chapter 4*, using the treated wastewater effluent from advanced on-site hospital wastewater treatment plants. If an increased rate of horizontal gene transfer can indeed be shown (compared to untreated wastewater), follow-up experiments might clarify the driving mechanisms. Additional questions that could be answered by follow-up experiments could: "Are different types of microorganisms more receptive to horizontal gene transfer?" or "Which of the compounds reduced in concentrations during advanced treatment increase the risk of horizontal gene transfer?".

6.4. Perspectives

Despite the continuous, accelerated progress of antibiotic resistance, a number of technologies and "arms" against pathogens and superbugs have been forming and developing based on increased computational power and the (big) data revolution.

The technology with the biggest potential for positive impact are machine-learning models and artificial intelligence. Machine-learning models are able to predict hitherto unknown antibiotic resistance genes from metagenomic datasets, to improve risk assessment, to prediction outbreaks and to design sorely needed new molecules and compounds with antibiotic function. Given sufficient data, it is not unlikely that machine learning and artificial intelligence algorithms will be able to predict unexpected hotspots of antibiotics and antibiotics resistant bacteria, predict hospital outbreaks with MRSA and other superbugs or automatically predict if antibiotic resistance genes in (clinical) samples are located on mobile genetic elements or human pathogens, thus helping with outbreak prevention efforts and general risk assessment.

A number of countries are already implementing on-site treatment of high-risk point sources and an even greater number of countries are considering to follow suit. Technological progress of (advanced) wastewater treatment technologies could facilitate the processing of ever larger volumes of wastewaters at decreased costs in the future, thus enabling the application of these advanced wastewater treatment technologies to a majority of wastewaters, not only limited on-site treatment of high-risk point sources. A great number of issues, apart from antibiotic resistance, could be ameliorated by such large-scale application of wastewater treatment. Water is one of the most precious and (increasingly scarce) goods of the 21st century and (due to climate change, demographic change and other dilemmas of out modern times) sustainable handling of this precious good will become only more essential. We will need to employ all available tools and resources (including big data in combination with artificial intelligence and machine-learning models, advanced wastewater treatment, legislation and increased monitoring) to overcome the challenges of our current times in order to ensure long-term, global (drinking) water safety.

7. Bibliography

- 1. Fleming, A. On the Antibacterial Action of Cultures of a Penicillium, with Special Reference to their Use in the Isolation of B. influenzæ. *Br J Exp Pathol* **10**, 226–236 (1929).
- 2. Quinn, R. Rethinking Antibiotic Research and Development: World War II and the Penicillin Collaborative. *Am J Public Health* **103**, 426–434 (2013).
- Aminov, R. I. A Brief History of the Antibiotic Era: Lessons Learned and Challenges for the Future. Front Microbiol 1, (2010).
- 4. Conly, J. & Johnston, B. Where are all the new antibiotics? The new antibiotic paradox. *Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol* **16**, 159–160 (2005).
- 5. Ribeiro da Cunha, B., Fonseca, L. P. & Calado, C. R. C. Antibiotic Discovery: Where Have We Come from, Where Do We Go? *Antibiotics (Basel)* **8**, (2019).
- 6. Lewis, K. Antibiotics: Recover the lost art of drug discovery. *Nature* **485**, 439–440 (2012).
- 7. Rolain, J.-M., Abat, C., Jimeno, M.-T., Fournier, P.-E. & Raoult, D. Do we need new antibiotics? *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* **22**, 408–415 (2016).
- Durand, G. A., Raoult, D. & Dubourg, G. Antibiotic discovery: history, methods and perspectives. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents* 53, 371–382 (2019).
- 9. Lewis, K. Recover the lost art of drug discovery. *Nature* **485**, 439–440 (2012).
- 10. Qiu, Y. *et al.* Nusbiarylins, a new class of antimicrobial agents: Rational design of bacterial transcription inhibitors targeting the interaction between the NusB and NusE proteins. *Bioorganic Chemistry* **92**, 103203 (2019).
- 11. Waksman, S. A. Microbial Antagonisms and Antibiotic Substances. Soil Science 64, 433 (1947).
- Waksman, S. A. & Lechevalier, H. A. Neomycin, a New Antibiotic Active against Streptomycin-Resistant Bacteria, Including Tuberculosis Organisms. *Science* 109, 305–307 (1949).
- 13. Yim, G., Huimi Wang, H. & Davies FRS, J. Antibiotics as signalling molecules. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **362**, 1195–1200 (2007).
- 14. Aminov, R. I. The role of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in nature. *Environmental Microbiology* **11**, 2970–2988 (2009).
- 15. Bernier, S. P. & Surette, M. G. Concentration-dependent activity of antibiotics in natural environments. *Front. Microbiol.* **4**, (2013).
- 16. Sengupta, S., Chattopadhyay, M. K. & Grossart, H.-P. The multifaceted roles of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in nature. *Front. Microbiol.* **4**, (2013).
- 17. Walsh, F. The multiple roles of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in nature. Front. Microbiol. 4, (2013).
- 18. Liu, H., Yang, Y., Sun, H., Zhao, L. & Liu, Y. Effect of tetracycline on microbial community structure associated with enhanced biological N&P removal in sequencing batch reactor. *Bioresource Technology* **256**, 414–420 (2018).
- Morales-Soto, N. *et al.* Spatially dependent alkyl quinolone signaling responses to antibiotics in Pseudomonas aeruginosa swarms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 293, 9544–9552 (2018).
- 20. Keerthisinghe, T. P., Wang, M., Zhang, Y., Dong, W. & Fang, M. Low-dose tetracycline exposure alters gut bacterial metabolism and host-immune response: "Personalized" effect? *Environment International* **131**, 104989 (2019).
- 21. Whalen, K. E. *et al.* Bacterial alkylquinolone signaling contributes to structuring microbial communities in the ocean. *Microbiome* **7**, 93 (2019).
- 22. Baquero, F., Tedim, A.-S. P. & Coque, T. M. Antibiotic resistance shaping multi-level population biology of bacteria. *Front. Microbiol.* **4**, (2013).
- Cox, G. & Wright, G. D. Intrinsic antibiotic resistance: Mechanisms, origins, challenges and solutions. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology* 303, 287–292 (2013).
- 24. Walsh & Wright. Introduction: Antibiotic Resistance. Chem. Rev. 105, 391-394 (2005).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Control of infectious diseases. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 48, 621–629 (1999).
- 26. Gottfried, J. History Repeating? Avoiding a Return to the Pre-Antibiotic Age. https://dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/8889467.
- 27. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1945. *NobelPrize.org* https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/medicine/1945/fleming/lecture/.
- 28. Abraham, E. P. & Chain, E. An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. 1940. Nature 10, 677–678 (1940).
- 29. Ventola, C. L. The Antibiotic Resistance Crisis. *P* T **40**, 277–283 (2015).
- 30. Evans, B. A. & Amyes, S. G. B. ΟΧΑ β-Lactamases. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **27**, 241–263 (2014).
- 31. Kåhrström, C. T. Entering a post-antibiotic era? Nature Reviews Microbiology 11, 146–146 (2013).
- 32. Ippolito, G., Leone, S., Lauria, F. N., Nicastri, E. & Wenzel, R. P. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the superbug. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases* **14**, S7–S11 (2010).
- 33. Tenover, F. C. Superbug: The Fatal Menace of MRSA (review). Bulletin of the History of Medicine 85, 165–166 (2011).
- 34. Uddin, B. M. M., Yusuf, M. A. & Ratan, Z. A. A Review of Superbug: A Global Threat in Health Care System. *Bangladesh Journal of Infectious Diseases* **4**, 25–28 (2017).
- 35. Mohammed, N., Savardekar, A. R., Patra, D. P., Narayan, V. & Nanda, A. The 21st-century challenge to neurocritical care: the rise of the superbug Acinetobacter baumannii. A meta-analysis of the role of intrathecal or intraventricular antimicrobial therapy in reduction of mortality. *Neurosurgical Focus* **43**, E8 (2017).
- 36. Nichols, L. Death from pan-resistant superbug. Autops Case Rep 9, (2019).
- 37. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (U.S.). *Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2019*. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/82532 (2019) doi:10.15620/cdc:82532.

133

- 38. Cassini, A. et al. Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in 2015: a population-level modelling analysis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 19, 56-66 (2019).
- ECDC/EMEA Joint Technical Report: The bacterial challenge. ECDC/EMEA Joint Technical Report: The bacterial 39. challenge: time to react. http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/ecdcemea-joint-technical-report-bacterialchallenge-time-react (2009).
- 40. O'Neill, J. Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations (AMR Review). https://amrreview.org/Publications.html (2016).
- Zhou, F. et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a 41. retrospective cohort study. The Lancet 395, 1054-1062 (2020).
- Bengtsson-Palme, J. Assessment and Management of Risks Associated With Antibiotic Resistance in the Environment. in 42. Management of Emerging Public Health Issues and Risks (eds. Roig, B., Weiss, K. & Thireau, V.) 243-263 (Academic Press, 2019). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-813290-6.00010-X.
- 43. Schito, G. C. Is antimicrobial resistance also subject to globalization? *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 8, 1–8 (2002).
- Hawkey, P. M. Multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria: a product of globalization. Journal of Hospital Infection 89, 44. 241-247 (2015).
- 45. Rohde, R. E. & McNamara, R. P. Globalization and Antimicrobial Resistance: A Moving Target. American Society for Clinical Laboratory Science (2018) doi:10.29074/ascls.118.000489.
- Woc-Colburn, L. & Godinez, D. Evolution and Globalization of Antimicrobial Resistance. in Highly Infectious Diseases in 46. Critical Care: A Comprehensive Clinical Guide (eds. Hidalgo, J. & Woc-Colburn, L.) 15-22 (Springer International Publishing, 2020). doi:10.1007/978-3-030-33803-9_2.
- Jonas, O. B., Irwin, A., Berthe, F. C. J., Le Gall, F. G. & Marquez, P. V. Drug-resistant infections: a threat to our 47. economic future. World Bank, 2017. 1-172 http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/323311493396993758/finalreport (2017).
- 48. Laxminarayan, R. et al. Antibiotic resistance-the need for global solutions. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 13, 1057-1098 (2013).
- 49. O'Neill, J. Antimicrobial resistance: tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations (AMR Review). https://amrreview.org/Publications.html (2014).
- 50. Cox, J. A. et al. Antibiotic stewardship in low- and middle-income countries: the same but different? Clinical Microbiology and Infection 23, 812-818 (2017).
- 51. Nadimpalli, M. et al. Combating Global Antibiotic Resistance: Emerging One Health Concerns in Lower- and Middle-Income Countries. Clin Infect Dis 66, 963-969 (2018).
- 52. Årdal, C. et al. Antibiotic development — economic, regulatory and societal challenges. Nature Reviews Microbiology 18, 267-274 (2020).
- 53. Butler, M. S., Blaskovich, M. A. & Cooper, M. A. Antibiotics in the clinical pipeline at the end of 2015. The Journal of Antibiotics 70, 3-24 (2017).
- 54 Theuretzbacher, U., Outterson, K., Engel, A. & Karlén, A. The global preclinical antibacterial pipeline. Nature Reviews Microbiology 18, 275-285 (2020).
- 55. Theuretzbacher, U. et al. Critical analysis of antibacterial agents in clinical development. Nature Reviews Microbiology 18, 286-298 (2020).
- WHO, (World Health Organization). Antibacterial products in clinical development for priority pathogens. 56. http://www.who.int/research-observatory/monitoring/processes/antibacterial_products/en/ (2020).
- 57. WHO, (World Health Organization). Antibacterial agents agent in preclinical development. https://www.amrinsights.eu/antibacterial-agents-in-preclinical-development/ (2019).
- 58. WHO, (World Health Organization). Lack of new antibiotics threatens global efforts to contain drug-resistant infections. https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/17-01-2020-lack-of-new-antibiotics-threatens-global-efforts-to-contain-drugresistant-infections (2020).
- 59. Tacconelli, E. et al. Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 18, 318-327 (2018).
- 60. Tracking the Global Pipeline of Antibiotics in Development, April 2020. https://pew.org/2UCFs46.
- WHO publishes list of bacteria for which new antibiotics are urgently needed. https://www.who.int/news-61. room/detail/27-02-2017-who-publishes-list-of-bacteria-for-which-new-antibiotics-are-urgently-needed.
- Martínez, J. L. Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Natural Environments. Science 321, 365–367 (2008). 62.
- Kümmerer, K. Antibiotics in the aquatic environment A review Part I. *Chemosphere* **75**, 417–434 (2009). Kümmerer, K. Antibiotics in the aquatic environment A review Part II. *Chemosphere* **75**, 435–441 (2009). 63.
- 64.
- 65. Allen, H. K. et al. Call of the wild: antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. Nat Rev Micro 8, 251–259 (2010).
- 66. Marti, E., Variatza, E. & Balcazar, J. L. The role of aquatic ecosystems as reservoirs of antibiotic resistance. Trends in Microbiology 22, 36-41 (2014).
- 67. Jones, O. a. H., Voulvoulis, N. & Lester, J. N. Human Pharmaceuticals in the Aquatic Environment a Review. Environmental Technology 22, 1383–1394 (2001).
- 68. Organization, W. H. Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. (World Health Organization, 2014).
- 69. Sanderson, H., Fricker, C., Brown, R. S., Majury, A. & Liss, S. N. Antibiotic resistance genes as an emerging environmental contaminant. Environ. Rev. 24, 205-218 (2016).
- 70. Petrie, B., Barden, R. & Kasprzyk-Hordern, B. A review on emerging contaminants in wastewaters and the environment: Current knowledge, understudied areas and recommendations for future monitoring. Water Research 72, 3–27 (2015).
- 71. Zhang, X.-X., Zhang, T. & Fang, H. H. P. Antibiotic resistance genes in water environment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82, 397-414 (2009).
- Zhang, X.-X., Zhang, T. & Fang, H. H. P. Antibiotic resistance genes in water environment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82, 72. 397-414 (2009).
- 73. Taylor, N. G. H., Verner-Jeffreys, D. W. & Baker-Austin, C. Aquatic systems: maintaining, mixing and mobilising antimicrobial resistance? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 26, 278-284 (2011).

- 74. Knapp, C. W., Dolfing, J., Ehlert, P. A. I. & Graham, D. W. Evidence of Increasing Antibiotic Resistance Gene Abundances in Archived Soils since 1940. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **44**, 580–587 (2010).
- 75. D'Costa, V. M. et al. Antibiotic resistance is ancient. Nature 477, 457–461 (2011).
- 76. Bhullar, K. et al. Antibiotic Resistance Is Prevalent in an Isolated Cave Microbiome. PLoS One 7, (2012).
- 77. Diaz, K. S., Rich, V. I. & McLain, J. E. Searching for Antibiotic Resistance Genes in a Pristine Arctic Wetland. *Journal of Contemporary Water Research & Education* **160**, 42–59 (2017).
- Makowska, N. *et al.* Occurrence of integrons and antibiotic resistance genes in cryoconite and ice of Svalbard, Greenland, and the Caucasus glaciers. *Science of The Total Environment* **716**, 137022 (2020).
- 79. Yuan, K. *et al.* Metagenomic characterization of antibiotic resistance genes in Antarctic soils. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **176**, 300–308 (2019).
- Zeng, J. *et al.* Metagenomic insights into the distribution of antibiotic resistome between the gut-associated environments and the pristine environments. *Environment International* **126**, 346–354 (2019).
- Van Goethem, M. W. *et al.* A reservoir of 'historical' antibiotic resistance genes in remote pristine Antarctic soils. *Microbiome* 6, 40 (2018).
- Lemos, M. L., Dopazo, C. P., Toranzo, A. E. & Barja, J. L. Competitive dominance of antibiotic-producing marine bacteria in mixed cultures. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* **71**, 228–232 (1991).
- 83. Lenski, R. E. Bacterial evolution and the cost of antibiotic resistance. Int. Microbiol. 1, 265–270 (1998).
- Gerardin, Y., Springer, M. & Kishony, R. A competitive trade-off limits the selective advantage of increased antibiotic production. *Nature Microbiology* 1, 1–7 (2016).
- Singer, A. C., Shaw, H., Rhodes, V. & Hart, A. Review of Antimicrobial Resistance in the Environment and Its Relevance to Environmental Regulators. *Front. Microbiol.* 7, (2016).
- Fajardo, A. & Martínez, J. L. Antibiotics as signals that trigger specific bacterial responses. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 11, 161–167 (2008).
- Martinez, J. L. Environmental pollution by antibiotics and by antibiotic resistance determinants. *Environmental Pollution* 157, 2893–2902 (2009).
- Riesenfeld, C. S., Goodman, R. M. & Handelsman, J. Uncultured soil bacteria are a reservoir of new antibiotic resistance genes. *Environmental Microbiology* 6, 981–989 (2004).
- 89. Balcázar, J. L., Subirats, J. & Borrego, C. M. The role of biofilms as environmental reservoirs of antibiotic resistance. *Front. Microbiol.* **6**, (2015).
- Hatosy, S. M. & Martiny, A. C. The Ocean as a Global Reservoir of Antibiotic Resistance Genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 81, 7593–7599 (2015).
- Calero-Cáceres, W., Ye, M. & Balcázar, J. L. Bacteriophages as Environmental Reservoirs of Antibiotic Resistance. *Trends* in *Microbiology* 27, 570–577 (2019).
- 92. Yang, Y. *et al.* Plastics in the marine environment are reservoirs for antibiotic and metal resistance genes. *Environment International* **123**, 79–86 (2019).
- 93. Martinez, J. L. Natural Antibiotic Resistance and Contamination by Antibiotic Resistance Determinants: The Two Ages in the Evolution of Resistance to Antimicrobials. *Front. Microbiol.* **3**, (2012).
- 94. Davison, J. Genetic Exchange between Bacteria in the Environment. *Plasmid* 42, 73–91 (1999).
- 95. Aminov, R. I. Horizontal Gene Exchange in Environmental Microbiota. Front. Microbiol. 2, (2011).
- 96. Kristiansson, E. *et al.* Pyrosequencing of Antibiotic-Contaminated River Sediments Reveals High Levels of Resistance and Gene Transfer Elements. *PLoS One* **6**, (2011).
- 97. Balcazar, J. L. Bacteriophages as Vehicles for Antibiotic Resistance Genes in the Environment. *PLoS Pathog* **10**, (2014).
- 98. von Wintersdorff, C. J. H. *et al.* Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. *Front. Microbiol.* **7**, (2016).
- 99. Forsberg, K. J. *et al.* The Shared Antibiotic Resistome of Soil Bacteria and Human Pathogens. *Science* **337**, 1107–1111 (2012).
- 100. Perry, J. & Wright, G. The antibiotic resistance "mobilome": searching for the link between environment and clinic. *Front. Microbiol.* **4**, (2013).
- Wright, G. D. Environmental and clinical antibiotic resistomes, same only different. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 51, 57–63 (2019).
- 102. Aminov, R. I. A Brief History of the Antibiotic Era: Lessons Learned and Challenges for the Future. *Front. Microbiol.* **1**, (2010).
- Olson, A. B. *et al.* Identification of a Progenitor of the CTX-M-9 Group of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamases from Kluyvera georgiana Isolated in Guyana. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 49, 2112–2115 (2005).
- 104. Danner, M.-C., Robertson, A., Behrends, V. & Reiss, J. Antibiotic pollution in surface fresh waters: Occurrence and effects. *Science of The Total Environment* **664**, 793–804 (2019).
- 105. Amos, G. C. *et al.* Validated predictive modelling of the environmental resistome. *The ISME Journal* **9**, 1467–1476 (2015).
- Czekalski, N., Sigdel, R., Birtel, J., Matthews, B. & Bürgmann, H. Does human activity impact the natural antibiotic resistance background? Abundance of antibiotic resistance genes in 21 Swiss lakes. *Environment International* 81, 45– 55 (2015).
- 107. Proia, L. *et al.* Occurrence and persistence of antibiotic resistance genes in river biofilms after wastewater inputs in small rivers. *Environmental Pollution* **210**, 121–128 (2016).
- 108. Bird, K., Boopathy, R., Nathaniel, R. & LaFleur, G. Water pollution and observation of acquired antibiotic resistance in Bayou Lafourche, a major drinking water source in Southeast Louisiana, USA. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* **26**, 34220–34232 (2019).
- Chen, H., Jing, L., Yao, Z., Meng, F. & Teng, Y. Prevalence, source and risk of antibiotic resistance genes in the sediments of Lake Tai (China) deciphered by metagenomic assembly: A comparison with other global lakes. *Environment International* **127**, 267–275 (2019).
- 110. Osińska, A. *et al.* Small-scale wastewater treatment plants as a source of the dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes in the aquatic environment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **381**, 121221 (2020).

- 111. Voigt, A. M. *et al.* The investigation of antibiotic residues, antibiotic resistance genes and antibiotic-resistant organisms in a drinking water reservoir system in Germany. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* **224**, 113449 (2020).
- 112. Zhang, S.-X. *et al.* Emission and fate of antibiotics in the Dongjiang River Basin, China: Implication for antibiotic resistance risk. *Science of The Total Environment* **712**, 136518 (2020).
- Quintela-Baluja, M. *et al.* Spatial ecology of a wastewater network defines the antibiotic resistance genes in downstream receiving waters. *Water Research* 162, 347–357 (2019).
- 114. Paulshus, E. *et al.* Repeated Isolation of Extended-Spectrum-β-Lactamase-Positive Escherichia coli Sequence Types 648 and 131 from Community Wastewater Indicates that Sewage Systems Are Important Sources of Emerging Clones of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 63, (2019).
- Du, L. & Liu, W. Occurrence, fate, and ecotoxicity of antibiotics in agro-ecosystems. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 32, 309–327 (2012).
- 116. Eramo, A., Medina, W. R. M. & Fahrenfeld, N. L. Factors associated with elevated levels of antibiotic resistance genes in sewer sediments and wastewater. *Environ. Sci.: Water Res. Technol.* (2020) doi:10.1039/D0EW00230E.
- 117. Xu, Z. *et al.* Characterizing heavy metals in combined sewer overflows and its influence on microbial diversity. *Science of The Total Environment* **625**, 1272–1282 (2018).
- Lee, S., Lee, J. & Kim, M. The influence of storm-water sewer overflows on stream water quality and source tracking of fecal contamination. *KSCE J Civ Eng* 16, 39–44 (2012).
- 119. Kaur, U. J., Preet, S. & Rishi, P. Augmented antibiotic resistance associated with cadmium induced alterations in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi. *Scientific Reports* **8**, 12818 (2018).
- 120. Dickinson, A. W. *et al.* Heavy metal pollution and co-selection for antibiotic resistance: A microbial palaeontology approach. *Environment International* **132**, 105117 (2019).
- 121. Zhao, X. *et al.* Arsenic and cadmium as predominant factors shaping the distribution patterns of antibiotic resistance genes in polluted paddy soils. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **389**, 121838 (2020).
- 122. Martinez, J. L. The role of natural environments in the evolution of resistance traits in pathogenic bacteria. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **276**, 2521–2530 (2009).
- Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E. & Larsson, D. G. J. Co-occurrence of resistance genes to antibiotics, biocides and metals reveals novel insights into their co-selection potential. *BMC Genomics* 16, 964 (2015).
- 124. Zhang, M. *et al.* Co-selection and stability of bacterial antibiotic resistance by arsenic pollution accidents in source water. *Environment International* **135**, 105351 (2020).
- Eramo, A., Medina, W. R. M. & Fahrenfeld, N. L. Peracetic acid disinfection kinetics for combined sewer overflows: indicator organisms, antibiotic resistance genes, and microbial community. *Environ. Sci.: Water Res. Technol.* 3, 1061– 1072 (2017).
- 126. Li, D. *et al.* Determination and fate of oxytetracycline and related compounds in oxytetracycline production wastewater and the receiving river. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **27**, 80–86 (2008).
- Sim, W.-J. *et al.* Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceuticals in wastewater from households, livestock farms, hospitals and pharmaceutical manufactures. *Chemosphere* 82, 179–186 (2011).
- 128. Larsson, D. G. J. Pollution from drug manufacturing: review and perspectives. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **369**, 20130571 (2014).
- Hou, J., Wang, C., Mao, D. & Luo, Y. The occurrence and fate of tetracyclines in two pharmaceutical wastewater treatment plants of Northern China. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 23, 1722–1731 (2016).
- Ashfaq, M. *et al.* Ecological risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in the receiving environment of pharmaceutical wastewater in Pakistan. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **136**, 31–39 (2017).
- 131. Bengtsson-Palme, J., Boulund, F., Fick, J., Kristiansson, E. & Larsson, D. G. J. Shotgun metagenomics reveals a wide array of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile elements in a polluted lake in India. *Front. Microbiol.* **5**, (2014).
- 132. Bengtsson-Palme, J. *et al.* Industrial wastewater treatment plant enriches antibiotic resistance genes and alters the structure of microbial communities. *Water Research* **162**, 437–445 (2019).
- 133. Šimatović, A. & Udiković-Kolić, N. Antibiotic Resistance in Pharmaceutical Industry Effluents and Effluent-Impacted Environments. 1–22 (2019) doi:10.1007/698_2019_389.
- 134. Reddy, B. & Dubey, S. K. River Ganges water as reservoir of microbes with antibiotic and metal ion resistance genes: High throughput metagenomic approach. *Environmental Pollution* **246**, 443–451 (2019).
- 135. Kumar, M. *et al.* Concurrence of antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB), viruses, pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in ambient waters of Guwahati, India: Urban vulnerability and resilience perspective. *Science of The Total Environment* **693**, 133640 (2019).
- 136. Yang, Y., Hou, Y., Ma, M. & Zhan, A. Potential pathogen communities in highly polluted river ecosystems: Geographical distribution and environmental influence. *Ambio* **49**, 197–207 (2020).
- 137. Huerta, B. *et al.* Exploring the links between antibiotic occurrence, antibiotic resistance, and bacterial communities in water supply reservoirs. *Science of The Total Environment* **456–457**, 161–170 (2013).
- 138. Elsaied, H. *et al.* Marine integrons containing novel integrase genes, attachment sites, attI, and associated gene cassettes in polluted sediments from Suez and Tokyo Bays. *The ISME Journal* **5**, 1162–1177 (2011).
- 139. Marathe, N. P. *et al.* Functional metagenomics reveals a novel carbapenem-hydrolyzing mobile beta-lactamase from Indian river sediments contaminated with antibiotic production waste. *Environment International* **112**, 279–286 (2018).
- 140. Moura, A., Pereira, C., Henriques, I. & Correia, A. Novel gene cassettes and integrons in antibiotic-resistant bacteria isolated from urban wastewaters. *Research in Microbiology* **163**, 92–100 (2012).
- 141. Razavi, M. et al. Discovery of the fourth mobile sulfonamide resistance gene. Microbiome 5, 160 (2017).
- 142. Zhang, L. *et al.* Novel clinically relevant antibiotic resistance genes associated with sewage sludge and industrial waste streams revealed by functional metagenomic screening. *Environment International* **132**, 105120 (2019).
- 143. Graham, D. W., Collignon, P., Davies, J., Larsson, D. G. J. & Snape, J. Underappreciated Role of Regionally Poor Water Quality on Globally Increasing Antibiotic Resistance. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **48**, 11746–11747 (2014).
- 144. Kim, S. & Aga, D. S. Potential Ecological and Human Health Impacts of Antibiotics and Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria from Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B* **10**, 559–573 (2007).

- 145. Rizzo, L. *et al.* Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes spread into the environment: A review. *Science of The Total Environment* **447**, 345–360 (2013).
- 146. Berendonk, T. U. *et al.* Tackling antibiotic resistance: the environmental framework. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **13**, 310–317 (2015).
- 147. Berglund, B., Fick, J. & Lindgren, P.-E. Urban wastewater effluent increases antibiotic resistance gene concentrations in a receiving northern European river. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **34**, 192–196 (2015).
- 148. Pärnänen, K. M. M. *et al.* Antibiotic resistance in European wastewater treatment plants mirrors the pattern of clinical antibiotic resistance prevalence. *Science Advances* **5**, eaau9124 (2019).
- Watkinson, A. J., Murby, E. J. & Costanzo, S. D. Removal of antibiotics in conventional and advanced wastewater treatment: Implications for environmental discharge and wastewater recycling. *Water Research* 41, 4164–4176 (2007).
- 150. Li, D. *et al.* Determination of penicillin G and its degradation products in a penicillin production wastewater treatment plant and the receiving river. *Water Research* **42**, 307–317 (2008).
- 151. Fatta-Kassinos, D., Vasquez, M. I. & Kümmerer, K. Transformation products of pharmaceuticals in surface waters and wastewater formed during photolysis and advanced oxidation processes Degradation, elucidation of byproducts and assessment of their biological potency. *Chemosphere* **85**, 693–709 (2011).
- 152. Lupo, A., Coyne, S. & Berendonk, T. U. Origin and Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance: The Common Mechanisms of Emergence and Spread in Water Bodies. *Front. Microbiol.* **3**, (2012).
- 153. Niestępski, S., Harnisz, M., Ciesielski, S., Korzeniewska, E. & Osińska, A. Environmental fate of Bacteroidetes, with particular emphasis on Bacteroides fragilis group bacteria and their specific antibiotic resistance genes, in activated sludge wastewater treatment plants. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **394**, 122544 (2020).
- 154. Sousa, J. M. *et al.* Ozonation and UV254nm radiation for the removal of microorganisms and antibiotic resistance genes from urban wastewater. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **323**, 434–441 (2017).
- Osińska, A., Korzeniewska, E., Harnisz, M. & Niestępski, S. Quantitative Occurrence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes among Bacterial Populations from Wastewater Treatment Plants Using Activated Sludge. *Applied Sciences* 9, 387 (2019).
- 156. Wu, Y., Cui, E., Zuo, Y., Cheng, W. & Chen, H. Fate of antibiotic and metal resistance genes during two-phase anaerobic digestion of residue sludge revealed by metagenomic approach. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* **25**, 13956–13963 (2018).
- 157. Huang, H. *et al.* Diverse and abundant antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in an urban water system. *Journal of Environmental Management* **231**, 494–503 (2019).
- 158. Zumstein, M. T. & Helbling, D. E. Biotransformation of antibiotics: Exploring the activity of extracellular and intracellular enzymes derived from wastewater microbial communities. *Water Research* **155**, 115–123 (2019).
- 159. Amarasiri, M., Sano, D. & Suzuki, S. Understanding human health risks caused by antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) and antibiotic resistance genes (ARG) in water environments: Current knowledge and questions to be answered. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* **0**, 1–44 (2019).
- 160. Hu, Y. *et al.* Occurrence and reduction of antibiotic resistance genes in conventional and advanced drinking water treatment processes. *Science of The Total Environment* **669**, 777–784 (2019).
- 161. Su, H.-C. *et al.* Persistence of antibiotic resistance genes and bacterial community changes in drinking water treatment system: From drinking water source to tap water. *Science of The Total Environment* **616–617**, 453–461 (2018).
- Munir, M., Wong, K. & Xagoraraki, I. Release of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes in the effluent and biosolids of five wastewater utilities in Michigan. Water Research 45, 681–693 (2011).
- 163. Sharma, V. K. *et al.* Elimination of antibiotic resistance genes and control of horizontal transfer risk by UV-based treatment of drinking water: A mini review. *Front. Environ. Sci. Eng.* **13**, 37 (2019).
- 164. Zhang, T. *et al.* Removal of antibiotic resistance genes and control of horizontal transfer risk by UV, chlorination and UV/chlorination treatments of drinking water. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **358**, 589–597 (2019).
- 165. Zheng, J. *et al.* Effects and mechanisms of ultraviolet, chlorination, and ozone disinfection on antibiotic resistance genes in secondary effluents of municipal wastewater treatment plants. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **317**, 309–316 (2017).
- Ben, W. *et al.* Distribution of antibiotic resistance in the effluents of ten municipal wastewater treatment plants in China and the effect of treatment processes. *Chemosphere* **172**, 392–398 (2017).
- 167. Chen, J. *et al.* Fate and removal of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in hybrid constructed wetlands. *Environmental Pollution* **249**, 894–903 (2019).
- 168. Rizzo, L. *et al.* Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes spread into the environment: A review. *Science of The Total Environment* **447**, 345–360 (2013).
- 169. Ju, F. *et al.* Wastewater treatment plant resistomes are shaped by bacterial composition, genetic exchange, and upregulated expression in the effluent microbiomes. *The ISME Journal* **13**, 346–360 (2019).
- 170. Lundström, S. V. *et al.* Minimal selective concentrations of tetracycline in complex aquatic bacterial biofilms. *Science of The Total Environment* **553**, 587–595 (2016).
- 171. Knapp, C. W. *et al.* Indirect Evidence of Transposon-Mediated Selection of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Aquatic Systems at Low-Level Oxytetracycline Exposures. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **42**, 5348–5353 (2008).
- 172. McCormick, A., Hoellein, T. J., Mason, S. A., Schluep, J. & Kelly, J. J. Microplastic is an Abundant and Distinct Microbial Habitat in an Urban River. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **48**, 11863–11871 (2014).
- 173. Arias-Andres, M., Klümper, U., Rojas-Jimenez, K. & Grossart, H.-P. Microplastic pollution increases gene exchange in aquatic ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution* **237**, 253–261 (2018).
- 174. Eckert, E. M. *et al.* Microplastics increase impact of treated wastewater on freshwater microbial community. *Environmental Pollution* **234**, 495–502 (2018).
- 175. Li, P. *et al.* Occurrence and fate of antibiotic residues and antibiotic resistance genes in a reservoir with ecological purification facilities for drinking water sources. *Science of The Total Environment* **707**, 135276 (2020).
- 176. Chopra, I. & Roberts, M. Tetracycline Antibiotics: Mode of Action, Applications, Molecular Biology, and Epidemiology of Bacterial Resistance. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* **65**, 232–260 (2001).
- 177. Liu, S.-S. *et al.* Chlorine disinfection increases both intracellular and extracellular antibiotic resistance genes in a fullscale wastewater treatment plant. *Water Research* **136**, 131–136 (2018).
- 178. Hou, A. *et al.* Chlorine injury enhances antibiotic resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa through over expression of drug efflux pumps. *Water Research* **156**, 366–371 (2019).

- 179. Stange, C., Sidhu, J. P. S., Toze, S. & Tiehm, A. Comparative removal of antibiotic resistance genes during chlorination, ozonation, and UV treatment. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* **222**, 541–548 (2019).
- Karkman, A., Pärnänen, K. & Larsson, D. G. J. Fecal pollution can explain antibiotic resistance gene abundances in anthropogenically impacted environments. *Nature Communications* **10**, 80 (2019).
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Larsson, D. G. J. & Kristiansson, E. Using metagenomics to investigate human and environmental resistomes. J Antimicrob Chemother 72, 2690–2703 (2017).
- Ogilvie, L. A. *et al.* Resolution of habitat-associated ecogenomic signatures in bacteriophage genomes and application to microbial source tracking. *The ISME Journal* 12, 942–958 (2018).
- Stachler, E., Crank, K. & Bibby, K. Co-Occurrence of crAssphage with Antibiotic Resistance Genes in an Impacted Urban Watershed. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* 6, 216–221 (2019).
- 184. Dutilh, B. E. *et al.* A highly abundant bacteriophage discovered in the unknown sequences of human faecal metagenomes. *Nature Communications* **5**, 4498 (2014).
- Chen, H. *et al.* Source identification of antibiotic resistance genes in a peri-urban river using novel crAssphage marker genes and metagenomic signatures. *Water Research* **167**, 115098 (2019).
- Yang, Y. *et al.* Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in global lakes: A review and meta-analysis. *Environment International* **116**, 60–73 (2018).
- 187. Stange, C. *et al.* Distribution of clinically relevant antibiotic resistance genes in Lake Tai, China. *Science of The Total Environment* **655**, 337–346 (2019).
- Luo, Y., Xu, L., Rysz, M. & Alvarez, P. J. J. Occurrence and Transport of Tetracycline, Sulfonamide, Quinolone, and Macrolide Antibiotics in the Haihe River Basin, China - Environmental Science & Technology (ACS Publications). *Environ. Sci. Technol* 1827–1833 (2011) doi:10.1021/es104009s.
- Zhang, R. *et al.* Antibiotics in the offshore waters of the Bohai Sea and the Yellow Sea in China: Occurrence, distribution and ecological risks. *Environmental Pollution* **174**, 71–77 (2013).
- 190. Amos, G. C. A. *et al.* The widespread dissemination of integrons throughout bacterial communities in a riverine system. *The ISME Journal* **12**, 681–691 (2018).
- 191. Zhang, S.-X. *et al.* Emission and fate of antibiotics in the Dongjiang River Basin, China: Implication for antibiotic resistance risk. *Science of The Total Environment* **712**, 136518 (2020).
- 192. Sabri, N. A. *et al.* Prevalence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a wastewater effluent-receiving river in the Netherlands. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering* (2018) doi:10.1016/j.jece.2018.03.004.
- 193. Brown, P. C., Borowska, E., Peschke, R., Schwartz, T. & Horn, H. Decay of elevated antibiotic resistance genes in natural river sediments after sedimentation of wastewater particles. *Science of The Total Environment* **705**, 135861 (2020).
- Yuan, J., Ni, M., Liu, M., Zheng, Y. & Gu, Z. Occurrence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a typical estuary aquaculture region of Hangzhou Bay, China. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 138, 376–384 (2019).
- 195. Bengtsson-Palme, J. & Larsson, D. G. J. Antibiotic resistance genes in the environment: prioritizing risks. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **13**, 396 (2015).
- 196. Baquero, F., Martínez, J.-L. & Cantón, R. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **19**, 260–265 (2008).
- 197. Watkinson, A. J., Micalizzi, G. B., Graham, G. M., Bates, J. B. & Costanzo, S. D. Antibiotic-Resistant Escherichia coli in Wastewaters, Surface Waters, and Oysters from an Urban Riverine System. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **73**, 5667–5670 (2007).
- 198. Bengtsson-Palme, J. Antibiotic resistance in the food supply chain: where can sequencing and metagenomics aid risk assessment? *Current Opinion in Food Science* **14**, 66–71 (2017).
- 199. Carney, R. L. *et al.* Urban beaches are environmental hotspots for antibiotic resistance following rainfall. *Water Research* **167**, 115081 (2019).
- Alm, E. W., Zimbler, D., Callahan, E. & Plomaritis, E. Patterns and persistence of antibiotic resistance in faecal indicator bacteria from freshwater recreational beaches. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 117, 273–285 (2014).
- 201. Herrig, I. *et al.* Prevalence and seasonal dynamics of blaCTX-M antibiotic resistance genes and fecal indicator organisms in the lower Lahn River, Germany. *PLOS ONE* **15**, e0232289 (2020).
- Leonard, A. F. C., Zhang, L., Balfour, A. J., Garside, R. & Gaze, W. H. Human recreational exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria in coastal bathing waters. *Environment International* 82, 92–100 (2015).
- Archana, G., Dhodapkar, R. & Kumar, A. Ecotoxicological risk assessment and seasonal variation of some pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the sewage treatment plant and surface water bodies (lakes). *Environ Monit Assess* 189, 446 (2017).
- 204. Bengtsson-Palme, J. & Larsson, D. G. J. Concentrations of antibiotics predicted to select for resistant bacteria: Proposed limits for environmental regulation. *Environment International* **86**, 140–149 (2016).
- 205. Dong, P., Cui, Q., Fang, T., Huang, Y. & Wang, H. Occurrence of antibiotic resistance genes and bacterial pathogens in water and sediment in urban recreational water. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* **77**, 65–74 (2019).
- O'Flaherty, E., Solimini, A., Pantanella, F. & Cummins, E. The potential human exposure to antibiotic resistant-Escherichia coli through recreational water. *Science of The Total Environment* 650, 786–795 (2019).
- McCaig, A. E., Grayston, S. J., Prosser, J. I. & Glover, L. A. Impact of cultivation on characterisation of species composition of soil bacterial communities. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **35**, 37–48 (2001).
- 208. Handelsman, J. Metagenomics: Application of Genomics to Uncultured Microorganisms. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **68**, 669–685 (2004).
- 209. Pham, V. H. T. & Kim, J. Cultivation of unculturable soil bacteria. Trends Biotechnol. 30, 475–484 (2012).
- Amos, G. C. A., Zhang, L., Hawkey, P. M., Gaze, W. H. & Wellington, E. M. Functional metagenomic analysis reveals rivers are a reservoir for diverse antibiotic resistance genes. *Vet. Microbiol.* **171**, 441–447 (2014).
- 211. Pei, R., Kim, S.-C., Carlson, K. H. & Pruden, A. Effect of River Landscape on the sediment concentrations of antibiotics and corresponding antibiotic resistance genes (ARG). *Water Research* **40**, 2427–2435 (2006).
- 212. Waseem, H. *et al.* Contributions and Challenges of High Throughput qPCR for Determining Antimicrobial Resistance in the Environment: A Critical Review. *Molecules* **24**, 163 (2019).

- Bonot, S. & Merlin, C. Monitoring the Dissemination of the Broad-Host-Range Plasmid pB10 in Sediment Microcosms by Quantitative PCR. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 378–382 (2010).
- 214. Eramo, A., Morales Medina, W. R. & Fahrenfeld, N. L. Viability-based quantification of antibiotic resistance genes and human fecal markers in wastewater effluent and receiving waters. *Science of The Total Environment* **656**, 495–502 (2019).
- Shokralla, S., Spall, J. L., Gibson, J. F. & Hajibabaei, M. Next-generation sequencing technologies for environmental DNA research. *Molecular Ecology* 21, 1794–1805 (2012).
- Tan, B. *et al.* Next-generation sequencing (NGS) for assessment of microbial water quality: current progress, challenges, and future opportunities. *Front. Microbiol.* 6, (2015).
- Ari, Ş. & Arikan, M. Next-Generation Sequencing: Advantages, Disadvantages, and Future. in *Plant Omics: Trends and Applications* (eds. Hakeem, K. R., Tombuloğlu, H. & Tombuloğlu, G.) 109–135 (Springer International Publishing, 2016). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-31703-8
- 218. Wooley, J. C., Godzik, A. & Friedberg, I. A primer on metagenomics. PLoS Comput. Biol. 6, e1000667 (2010).
- 219. Wang, Y. & Navin, N. E. Advances and Applications of Single-Cell Sequencing Technologies. *Molecular Cell* **58**, 598–609 (2015).
- 220. Kodzius, R. & Gojobori, T. Single-cell technologies in environmental omics. Gene 576, 701–707 (2016).
- 221. Bodor, A. *et al.* Challenges of unculturable bacteria: environmental perspectives. *Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol* **19**, 1–22 (2020).
- Mammeri, H., Loo, M. V. D., Poirel, L., Martinez-Martinez, L. & Nordmann, P. Emergence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance in Escherichia coli in Europe. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 49, 71–76 (2005).
- 223. Poirel, L., Rodriguez-Martinez, J.-M., Mammeri, H., Liard, A. & Nordmann, P. Origin of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinant QnrA. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **49**, 3523–3525 (2005).
- 224. de la Cueva-Méndez, G. & Pimentel, B. Gene and cell survival: lessons from prokaryotic plasmid R1. *EMBO reports* **8**, 458–464 (2007).
- 225. Mao, D. *et al.* Persistence of Extracellular DNA in River Sediment Facilitates Antibiotic Resistance Gene Propagation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **48**, 71–78 (2014).
- Calero-Cáceres, W., Méndez, J., Martín-Díaz, J. & Muniesa, M. The occurrence of antibiotic resistance genes in a Mediterranean river and their persistence in the riverbed sediment. *Environmental Pollution* 223, 384–394 (2017).
- Beaber, J. W., Hochhut, B. & Waldor, M. K. SOS response promotes horizontal dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes. *Nature* 427, 72–74 (2004).
- Hegreness, M., Shoresh, N., Damian, D., Hartl, D. & Kishony, R. Accelerated evolution of resistance in multidrug environments. *PNAS* 105, 13977–13981 (2008).
- Kohanski, M. A., DePristo, M. A. & Collins, J. J. Sublethal Antibiotic Treatment Leads to Multidrug Resistance via Radical-Induced Mutagenesis. *Molecular Cell* 37, 311–320 (2010).
- 230. Raso, A. & Biassoni, R. Twenty Years of qPCR: A Mature Technology? in *Quantitative Real-Time PCR: Methods and Protocols* (eds. Biassoni, R. & Raso, A.) 1–3 (Springer, 2014). doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-0733-5_1.
- 231. Huggett, J. F., O'Grady, J. & Bustin, S. qPCR, dPCR, NGS A journey. *Biomol Detect Quantif* 3, A1–A5 (2015).
- 232. Goodrich, D. *et al.* A randomized and blinded comparison of qPCR and NGS-based detection of aneuploidy in a cell line mixture model of blastocyst biopsy mosaicism. *J Assist Reprod Genet* **33**, 1473–1480 (2016).
- 233. ECDC strategic multi-annual programme 2014–2020. *ECDC strategic multi-annual programme 2014–2020*. http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/ecdc-strategic-multi-annual-programme-2014-2020 (2014).
- Brown, K. D., Kulis, J., Thomson, B., Chapman, T. H. & Mawhinney, D. B. Occurrence of antibiotics in hospital, residential, and dairy effluent, municipal wastewater, and the Rio Grande in New Mexico. *Science of The Total Environment* **366**, 772–783 (2006).
- 235. Kümmerer, K. Drugs in the environment: emission of drugs, diagnostic aids and disinfectants into wastewater by hospitals in relation to other sources a review. *Chemosphere* **45**, 957–969 (2001).
- Lien, L. T. Q. *et al.* Antibiotics in Wastewater of a Rural and an Urban Hospital before and after Wastewater Treatment, and the Relationship with Antibiotic Use—A One Year Study from Vietnam. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 13, (2016).
- 237. Harris, S. R. *et al.* Evolution of MRSA During Hospital Transmission and Intercontinental Spread. *Science* 327, 469–474 (2010).
- Harris, A. D. *et al.* Universal Glove and Gown Use and Acquisition of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria in the ICU: A Randomized Trial. *JAMA* **310**, 1571–1580 (2013).
- 239. Harris, S. R. *et al.* Whole-genome sequencing for analysis of an outbreak of meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: a descriptive study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* **13**, 130–136 (2013).
- 240. Rowe, W. P. M. *et al.* Overexpression of antibiotic resistance genes in hospital effluents over time. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* **72**, 1617–1623 (2017).
- 241. Czekalski, N., Gascón Díez, E. & Bürgmann, H. Wastewater as a point source of antibiotic-resistance genes in the sediment of a freshwater lake. *ISME J* **8**, 1381–1390 (2014).
- 242. Wang, Q., Wang, P. & Yang, Q. Occurrence and diversity of antibiotic resistance in untreated hospital wastewater. *Science of The Total Environment* **621**, 990–999 (2018).
- 243. Aukidy, M. A., Chalabi, S. A. & Verlicchi, P. Hospital Wastewater Treatments Adopted in Asia, Africa, and Australia. in *Hospital Wastewaters* 171–188 (Springer, Cham, 2017). doi:10.1007/698_2017_5.
- 244. Liu, Q., Zhou, Y., Chen, L. & Zheng, X. Application of MBR for hospital wastewater treatment in China. *Desalination* **250**, 605–608 (2010).
- 245. Rodriguez-Mozaz, S. *et al.* Occurrence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in hospital and urban wastewaters and their impact on the receiving river. *Water Research* **69**, 234–242 (2015).
- Thompson, J., Gundogdu, A., Stratton, H. & Katouli, M. Antibiotic resistant Staphylococcus aureus in hospital wastewaters and sewage treatment plants with special reference to methicillin-resistant Stap... - PubMed - NCBI. J Appl Microbiol. 44–54 (2013) doi:10.1111/jam.12037.
- 247. Kümmerer, K. & Henninger, A. Promoting resistance by the emission of antibiotics from hospitals and households into effluent. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* **9**, 1203–1214 (2003).

- Luo, Y. *et al.* Proliferation of Multidrug-Resistant New Delhi Metallo-β-lactamase Genes in Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants in Northern China. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* 1, 26–30 (2014).
- 249. Narciso-da-Rocha, C., Varela, A. R., Schwartz, T., Nunes, O. C. & Manaia, C. M. blaTEM and vanA as indicator genes of antibiotic resistance contamination in a hospital–urban wastewater treatment plant system. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance* **2**, 309–315 (2014).
- Szczepanowski, R. *et al.* Detection of 140 clinically relevant antibiotic-resistance genes in the plasmid metagenome of wastewater treatment plant bacteria showing reduced susceptibility to selected antibiotics. *Microbiology* 155, 2306– 2319 (2009).
- 251. Szekeres, E. *et al.* Abundance of antibiotics, antibiotic resistance genes and bacterial community composition in wastewater effluents from different Romanian hospitals. *Environmental Pollution* **225**, 304–315 (2017).
- 252. Wullings, B., Wubbels, G., Veenendaal, H. & van der Kooij, D. Snelle, kwantitatieve detectie van Legionella pneumophila met Q-PCR. *H twee O: tijdschrift voor watervoorziening en afvalwaterbehandeling* **40**, 39–41 (2007).
- 253. Hunter, J. D. Matplotlib: A 2D Graphics Environment. *Computing in Science Engineering* 9, 90–95 (2007).
- 254. McKinney, W. Data Structures for Statistical Computing in Python. 6 (2010).
- 255. Amador, P. P., Fernandes, R. M., Prudêncio, M. C., Barreto, M. P. & Duarte, I. M. Antibiotic resistance in wastewater: Occurrence and fate of Enterobacteriaceae producers of Class A and Class C β-lactamases. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A* 50, 26–39 (2015).
- 256. Magalhães, M. J. T. L. *et al.* Multidrug resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa survey in a stream receiving effluents from ineffective wastewater hospital plants. *BMC Microbiology* **16**, 193 (2016).
- Vaz-Moreira, I., Varela, A. R., Pereira, T. V., Fochat, R. C. & Manaia, C. M. Multidrug Resistance in Quinolone-Resistant Gram-Negative Bacteria Isolated from Hospital Effluent and the Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plant. *Microbial Drug Resistance* 22, 155–163 (2015).
- Narciso-da-Rocha, C., Varela, A. R., Schwartz, T., Nunes, O. C. & Manaia, C. M. blaTEM and vanA as indicator genes of antibiotic resistance contamination in a hospital–urban wastewater treatment plant system. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance* 2, 309–315 (2014).
- Chagas, T. P. G., Seki, L. M., Silva, D. M. da & Asensi, M. D. Occurrence of KPC-2-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae strains in hospital wastewater. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 77, 281 (2011).
- 260. Cuzon, G. *et al.* Wide dissemination of Pseudomonas aeruginosa producing β-lactamase blaKPC-2 gene in Colombia. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* AAC.00297-11 (2011) doi:10.1128/AAC.00297-11.
- Gootz, T. D. *et al.* Genetic Organization of Transposase Regions Surrounding blaKPC Carbapenemase Genes on Plasmids from Klebsiella Strains Isolated in a New York City Hospital. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 53, 1998–2004 (2009).
- 262. Hu, Y. *et al.* Emergence of Proteus mirabilis Harboring blaKPC-2 and qnrD in a Chinese Hospital. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* AAC.05519-11 (2012) doi:10.1128/AAC.05519-11.
- Iversen, A., Kühn, I., Franklin, A. & Möllby, R. High Prevalence of Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci in Swedish Sewage. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 2838–2842 (2002).
- Mascini, E. M. & Bonten, M. J. M. Vancomycin-resistant enterococci: consequences for therapy and infection control. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* **11 Suppl 4**, 43–56 (2005).
- Novais, C., Coque, T. M., Ferreira, H., Sousa, J. C. & Peixe, L. Environmental Contamination with Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci from Hospital Sewage in Portugal. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **71**, 3364–3368 (2005).
- Sahlström, L., Rehbinder, V., Albihn, A., Aspan, A. & Bengtsson, B. Vancomycin resistant enterococci (VRE) in Swedish sewage sludge. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 51, 24 (2009).
- Zhang, X., Lü, X. & Zong, Z. Enterobacteriaceae producing the KPC-2 carbapenemase from hospital sewage. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease* 73, 204–206 (2012).
- Sellera, F. P. *et al.* Draft genome sequence of Enterobacter cloacae ST520 harbouring blaKPC-2, blaCTX-M-15 and blaOXA-17 isolated from coastal waters of the South Atlantic Ocean. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance* 10, 279– 280 (2017).
- 269. Cerdeira, L. *et al.* Draft genome sequence of an environmental multidrug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae ST340/CC258 harbouring blaCTX-M-15 and blaKPC-2 genes. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance* **8**, 108–109 (2017).
- 270. Nasri, E. *et al.* Abundance of carbapenemase genes (blaKPC, blaNDM and blaOXA-48) in wastewater effluents from Tunisian hospitals. *Environmental Pollution* **229**, 371–374 (2017).
- 271. Baquero, F., Martínez, J.-L. & Cantón, R. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **19**, 260–265 (2008).
- 272. Brenner, C. G. B., Mallmann, C. A., Arsand, D. R., Mayer, F. M. & Martins, A. F. Determination of Sulfamethoxazole and Trimethoprim and Their Metabolites in Hospital Effluent. *CLEAN Soil, Air, Water* **39**, 28–34 (2011).
- Martins, A. F. *et al.* Concentration of Ciprofloxacin in Brazilian Hospital Effluent and Preliminary Risk Assessment: A Case Study. *CLEAN – Soil, Air, Water* 36, 264–269 (2008).
- Martins, A. F., Mallmann, C. A., Arsand, D. R., Mayer, F. M. & Brenner, C. G. B. Occurrence of the Antimicrobials Sulfamethoxazole and Trimethoprim in Hospital Effluent and Study of Their Degradation Products after Electrocoagulation. *CLEAN – Soil, Air, Water* **39**, 21–27 (2010).
- 275. Vasconcelos, T. G., Kümmerer, K., Henriques, D. M. & Martins, A. F. Ciprofloxacin in hospital effluent: Degradation by ozone and photoprocesses. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **169**, 1154–1158 (2009).
- Durkin, M. J. *et al.* Outpatient Antibiotic Prescription Trends in the United States: A National Cohort Study. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 39, 584–589 (2018).
- 277. Hicks, L. A. *et al.* US Outpatient Antibiotic Prescribing Variation According to Geography, Patient Population, and Provider Specialty in 2011. *Clin Infect Dis* **60**, 1308–1316 (2015).
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Antimicrobial consumption Annual Epidemiological Report for 2016 (EU). http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/antimicrobial-consumption-annual-epidemiological-report-2016 (2018).
- 279. Snyder, S. A. *et al.* Role of membranes and activated carbon in the removal of endocrine disruptors and pharmaceuticals. *Desalination* **202**, 156–181 (2007).

- Radjenović, J., Petrović, M. & Barceló, D. Fate and distribution of pharmaceuticals in wastewater and sewage sludge of the conventional activated sludge (CAS) and advanced membrane bioreactor (MBR) treatment. *Water Research* 43, 831–841 (2009).
- Yang, Y., Li, B., Zou, S., Fang, H. H. P. & Zhang, T. Fate of antibiotic resistance genes in sewage treatment plant revealed by metagenomic approach. *Water Research* 62, 97–106 (2014).
- Mao, D. *et al.* Prevalence and proliferation of antibiotic resistance genes in two municipal wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research* 85, 458–466 (2015).
- Du, J. *et al.* Occurrence and abundance of tetracycline, sulfonamide resistance genes, and class 1 integron in five wastewater treatment plants. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 21, 7276–7284 (2014).
- 284. Kümmerer, K., Al-Ahmad, A. & Mersch-Sundermann, V. Biodegradability of some antibiotics, elimination of the genotoxicity and affection of wastewater bacteria in a simple test. *Chemosphere* **40**, 701–710 (2000).
- Bouki, C., Venieri, D. & Diamadopoulos, E. Detection and fate of antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater treatment plants: A review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **91**, 1–9 (2013).
- Zhang, Y. *et al.* Inactivation of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal wastewater effluent by chlorination and sequential UV/chlorination disinfection. *Science of The Total Environment* **512–513**, 125–132 (2015).
- Zhuang, Y. *et al.* Inactivation of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal wastewater by chlorination, ultraviolet, and ozonation disinfection. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 22, 7037–7044 (2015).
- 288. Barancheshme, F. & Munir, M. Strategies to Combat Antibiotic Resistance in the Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Front. Microbiol.* **8**, (2018).
- Sun, Y. *et al.* Multiple antibiotic resistance genes distribution in ten large-scale membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment. *Bioresource Technology* 222, 100–106 (2016).
- Visvanathan, C., Aim, R. B. & Parameshwaran, K. Membrane Separation Bioreactors for Wastewater Treatment. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* **30**, 1–48 (2000).
- 291. Judd, S. *The MBR Book: Principles and Applications of Membrane Bioreactors for Water and Wastewater Treatment.* (Elsevier, 2010).
- 292. Wintersdorff, V. *et al.* Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. *Front. Microbiol.* **7**, (2016).
- 293. Xiong, W., Sun, Y., Ding, X., Wang, M. & Zeng, Z. Selective pressure of antibiotics on ARGs and bacterial communities in manure-polluted freshwater-sediment microcosms. *Front. Microbiol.* **6**, (2015).
- Li, J., Cheng, W., Xu, L., Strong, P. J. & Chen, H. Antibiotic-resistant genes and antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the effluent of urban residential areas, hospitals, and a municipal wastewater treatment plant system. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 22, 4587–4596 (2015).
- Otte, E., Nielsen, H. L., Hasman, H. & Fuglsang-Damgaard, D. First report of metronidazole resistant, nimD-positive, Bacteroides stercoris isolated from an abdominal abscess in a 70-year-old woman. *Anaerobe* 43, 91–93 (2017).
- Regnath, T., Raecke, O., Enninger, A. & Ignatius, R. Increasing metronidazole and rifampicin resistance of Helicobacter pylori isolates obtained from children and adolescents between 2002 and 2015 in southwest Germany. *Helicobacter* 22, e12327 (2017).
- 297. Baker-Austin, C., Wright, M. S., Stepanauskas, R. & McArthur, J. V. Co-selection of antibiotic and metal resistance. *Trends in Microbiology* **14**, 176–182 (2006).
- Di Cesare, A. *et al.* Co-occurrence of integrase 1, antibiotic and heavy metal resistance genes in municipal wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research* 94, 208–214 (2016).
- 299. Seiler, C. & Berendonk, T. U. Heavy metal driven co-selection of antibiotic resistance in soil and water bodies impacted by agriculture and aquaculture. *Front Microbiol* **3**, (2012).
- 300. Hegstad, K. *et al.* Does the wide use of quaternary ammonium compounds enhance the selection and spread of antimicrobial resistance and thus threaten our health? *Microb. Drug Resist.* **16**, 91–104 (2010).
- 301. Wang, Y. *et al.* Antiepileptic drug carbamazepine promotes horizontal transfer of plasmid-borne multi-antibiotic resistance genes within and across bacterial genera. *The ISME Journal* 1 (2018) doi:10.1038/s41396-018-0275-x.
- Gillings, M. R. *et al.* Using the class 1 integron-integrase gene as a proxy for anthropogenic pollution. *ISME J* 9, 1269– 1279 (2015).
- Barraud, O. & Ploy, M.-C. Diversity of Class 1 Integron Gene Cassette Rearrangements Selected Under Antibiotic Pressure. J. Bacteriol. JB.02455-14 (2015) doi:10.1128/JB.02455-14.
- 304. Chambers, M. C. *et al.* A cross-platform toolkit for mass spectrometry and proteomics. *Nature Biotechnology* https://www.nature.com/articles/nbt.2377 (2012) doi:10.1038/nbt.2377.
- Alygizakis, N. A. *et al.* Exploring the Potential of a Global Emerging Contaminant Early Warning Network through the Use of Retrospective Suspect Screening with High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **52**, 5135–5144 (2018).
- Tautenhahn, R., Böttcher, C. & Neumann, S. Highly sensitive feature detection for high resolution LC/MS. BMC Bioinformatics 9, 504 (2008).
- 307. Libiseller, G. et al. IPO: a tool for automated optimization of XCMS parameters. BMC Bioinformatics 16, 118 (2015).
- Allen, F., Greiner, R. & Wishart, D. Competitive fragmentation modeling of ESI-MS/MS spectra for putative metabolite identification. *Metabolomics* 11, 98–110 (2015).
- 309. UN-Water, 2009. Water in a Changing World World Water Assessment Programme (United Nations). vol. 1 (2009).
- 310. World Health Organization. Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. *Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance.* (2014).
- Laxminarayan, R. *et al.* Antibiotic resistance—the need for global solutions. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 13, 1057–1098 (2013).
- Mendonça, N. *et al.* Spread of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase CTX-M-Producing Escherichia coli Clinical Isolates in Community and Nosocomial Environments in Portugal. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **51**, 1946–1955 (2007).
- Woodford, N. & Ellington, M. J. The emergence of antibiotic resistance by mutation. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 13, 5–18 (2007).
- Pan, D. S. T. *et al.* Knowledge, attitudes and practices towards antibiotic use in upper respiratory tract infections among patients seeking primary health care in Singapore. *BMC Fam Pract* 17, 148 (2016).

- El Khoury, G., Ramia, E. & Salameh, P. Misconceptions and Malpractices Toward Antibiotic Use in Childhood Upper Respiratory Tract Infections Among a Cohort of Lebanese Parents. *Eval Health Prof* 0163278716686809 (2017) doi:10.1177/0163278716686809.
- Carlet, J., Pulcini, C. & Piddock, L. J. V. Antibiotic resistance: a geopolitical issue. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 20, 949–953 (2014).
- Larsson, D. G. J. *et al.* Critical knowledge gaps and research needs related to the environmental dimensions of antibiotic resistance. *Environment International* **117**, 132–138 (2018).
- 318. Finley, R. L. *et al.* The Scourge of Antibiotic Resistance: The Important Role of the Environment. *Clin Infect Dis* **57**, 704–710 (2013).
- Bell, B. G., Schellevis, F., Stobberingh, E., Goossens, H. & Pringle, M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of antibiotic consumption on antibiotic resistance. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 14, 13 (2014).
- Van Boeckel, T. P. *et al.* Global antibiotic consumption 2000 to 2010: an analysis of national pharmaceutical sales data. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 14, 742–750 (2014).
- 321. Huijbers, P. M. C. *et al.* Role of the Environment in the Transmission of Antimicrobial Resistance to Humans: A Review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **49**, 11993–12004 (2015).
- 322. Morris, C., Helliwell, R. & Raman, S. Framing the agricultural use of antibiotics and antimicrobial resistance in UK national newspapers and the farming press. *Journal of Rural Studies* **45**, 43–53 (2016).
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E. & Larsson, D. G. J. Environmental factors influencing the development and spread of antibiotic resistance. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 42, (2018).
- 324. Sabri, N. A. *et al.* Prevalence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a wastewater effluent-receiving river in the Netherlands. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering* (2018) doi:10.1016/j.jece.2018.03.004.
- 325. Gordon, C. et al. A Snapshot of the World's water quality: towards a global assessment. in 81-93 (2016).
- 326. Zhang, Y. & Shen, Y. Wastewater irrigation: past, present, and future. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water* **6**, e1234 (2019).
- Evans, A. E., Mateo-Sagasta, J., Qadir, M., Boelee, E. & Ippolito, A. Agricultural water pollution: key knowledge gaps and research needs. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* **36**, 20–27 (2019).
- 328. Koop, S. H. A. & van Leeuwen, C. J. The challenges of water, waste and climate change in cities. *Environ Dev Sustain* **19**, 385–418 (2017).
- 329. United Nations Environment Programme. Tackling global water pollution. *UN Environment* http://www.unenvironment.org/explore-topics/water/what-we-do/tackling-global-water-pollution (2017).
- Zheng, J. *et al.* High-throughput profiling of seasonal variations of antibiotic resistance gene transport in a peri-urban river. *Environment International* **114**, 87–94 (2018).
- Scott, W. C. *et al.* Spatial and temporal influence of onsite wastewater treatment systems, centralized effluent discharge, and tides on aquatic hazards of nutrients, indicator bacteria, and pharmaceuticals in a coastal bayou. *Science* of *The Total Environment* **650**, 354–364 (2019).
- 332. Pruden, A. *et al.* An Environmental Science and Engineering Framework for Combating Antimicrobial Resistance. *Environmental Engineering Science* **35**, 1005–1011 (2018).
- Gillings, M. R. *et al.* Using the class 1 integron-integrase gene as a proxy for anthropogenic pollution. *The ISME Journal* 9, 1269–1279 (2015).
- Wang, F.-H. *et al.* High Throughput Profiling of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Urban Park Soils with Reclaimed Water Irrigation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 48, 9079–9085 (2014).
- 335. Karkman, A. *et al.* High-throughput quantification of antibiotic resistance genes from an urban wastewater treatment plant. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **92**, (2016).
- Xu, L. *et al.* High-throughput profiling of antibiotic resistance genes in drinking water treatment plants and distribution systems. *Environmental Pollution* 213, 119–126 (2016).
- 337. Ahmed, W. *et al.* Precipitation influences pathogenic bacteria and antibiotic resistance gene abundance in storm drain outfalls in coastal sub-tropical waters. *Environment International* **116**, 308–318 (2018).
- 338. An, X.-L. *et al.* Tracking antibiotic resistome during wastewater treatment using high throughput quantitative PCR. *Environment International* **117**, 146–153 (2018).
- Owczarzy, R. *et al.* IDT SciTools: a suite for analysis and design of nucleic acid oligomers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, W163-169 (2008).
- Forootan, A. *et al.* Methods to determine limit of detection and limit of quantification in quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR). *Biomolecular Detection and Quantification* 12, 1–6 (2017).
- 341. Tellinghuisen, J. & Spiess, A.-N. Comparing real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis methods for precision, linearity, and accuracy of estimating amplification efficiency. *Analytical Biochemistry* **449**, 76–82 (2014).
- 342. Svec, D., Tichopad, A., Novosadova, V., Pfaffl, M. W. & Kubista, M. How good is a PCR efficiency estimate: Recommendations for precise and robust qPCR efficiency assessments. *Biomol Detect Quantif* **3**, 9–16 (2015).
- 343. Bustin, S. A. *et al.* The MIQE Guidelines: Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments. *Clinical Chemistry* **55**, 611–622 (2009).
- 344. Paulus, G. K. *et al.* The impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* (2019) doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.01.004.
- European Medicines Agency, ESVAC. Sales of veterinary antimicrobial agents in 30 European countries in 2016 (EMA/275982/2018). https://www.ema.europa.eu/documents/report/sales-veterinary-antimicrobial-agents-30-europeancountries-2016-trends-2010-2016-eighth-esvac_en.pdf (2018).
- 346. Hunter, J. D. Matplotlib: A 2D Graphics Environment. *Computing in Science & Engineering* 9, 90–95 (2007).
- 347. Waskom, M. seaborn: statistical data visualization seaborn 0.9.0 documentation. http://seaborn.pydata.org/ (2012).
- ter Laak, T. L., van der Aa, M., Houtman, C. J., Stoks, P. G. & van Wezel, A. P. Relating environmental concentrations of pharmaceuticals to consumption: A mass balance approach for the river Rhine. *Environment International* 36, 403–409 (2010).
- 349. ter Laak, T. *Temporal and spatial trends of pharmaceuticals in the Rhine*. https://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/hydrotheek/1929113 (2010).

- Escher, B. I., Baumgartner, R., Lienert, J. & Fenner, K. Predicting the Ecotoxicological Effects of Transformation Products. in *Transformation Products of Synthetic Chemicals in the Environment* (ed. Boxall, A. B. A.) 205–244 (Springer, 2009). doi:10.1007/698_2_015.
- 351. Donner, E. *et al.* Ecotoxicity of carbamazepine and its UV photolysis transformation products. *Science of The Total Environment* **443**, 870–876 (2013).
- 352. López-Serna, R. *et al.* Occurrence of 95 pharmaceuticals and transformation products in urban groundwaters underlying the metropolis of Barcelona, Spain. *Environmental Pollution* **174**, 305–315 (2013).
- 353. Wallace, J. S., Garner, E., Pruden, A. & Aga, D. S. Occurrence and transformation of veterinary antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in dairy manure treated by advanced anaerobic digestion and conventional treatment methods. *Environmental Pollution* **236**, 764–772 (2018).
- 354. Chen, B. *et al.* The role of class I integrons in the dissemination of sulfonamide resistance genes in the Pearl River and Pearl River Estuary, South China. *Journal of hazardous materials* **282**, 61–67 (2015).
- 355. Jiang, H. *et al.* Characterizing the antibiotic resistance genes in a river catchment: Influence of anthropogenic activities. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* doi:10.1016/j.jes.2017.08.009.
- 356. Zhang, X. *et al.* Class 1 integronase gene and tetracycline resistance genes tetA and tetC in different water environments of Jiangsu Province, China. *Ecotoxicology* **18**, 652–660 (2009).
- Pruden, A., Arabi, M. & Storteboom, H. N. Correlation Between Upstream Human Activities and Riverine Antibiotic Resistance Genes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 46, 11541–11549 (2012).
- 358. Xu, Y. *et al.* Spatiotemporal profile of tetracycline and sulfonamide and their resistance on a catchment scale. *Environmental Pollution* **241**, 1098–1105 (2018).
- 359. Su, H.-C. *et al.* Class 1 and 2 integrons, sul resistance genes and antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli isolated from Dongjiang River, South China. *Environmental Pollution* **169**, 42–49 (2012).
- Jiang, H. et al. Characterizing the antibiotic resistance genes in a river catchment: Influence of anthropogenic activities. Journal of Environmental Sciences 69, 125–132 (2018).
- 361. Jiang, L. *et al.* Prevalence of antibiotic resistance genes and their relationship with antibiotics in the Huangpu River and the drinking water sources, Shanghai, China. *Science of The Total Environment* **458–460**, 267–272 (2013).
- 362. Luo, Y. *et al.* Trends in Antibiotic Resistance Genes Occurrence in the Haihe River, China. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **44**, 7220–7225 (2010).
- Xu, J. *et al.* Occurrence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a sewage treatment plant and its effluentreceiving river. *Chemosphere* **119**, 1379–1385 (2015).
- Li, L.-G., Yin, X. & Zhang, T. Tracking antibiotic resistance gene pollution from different sources using machine-learning classification. *Microbiome* 6, 93 (2018).
- Antunes, P., Machado, J., Sousa, J. C. & Peixe, L. Dissemination of Sulfonamide Resistance Genes (sul1, sul2, and sul3) in Portuguese Salmonella enterica Strains and Relation with Integrons. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 49, 836–839 (2005).
- 366. Frank, T., Gautier, V., Talarmin, A., Bercion, R. & Arlet, G. Characterization of sulphonamide resistance genes and class 1 integron gene cassettes in Enterobacteriaceae, Central African Republic (CAR). *J Antimicrob Chemother* **59**, 742–745 (2007).
- 367. Shah, S. Q. A. *et al.* Antimicrobial resistance and antimicrobial resistance genes in marine bacteria from salmon aquaculture and non-aquaculture sites. *Environmental Microbiology* **16**, 1310–1320 (2014).
- Brown, P. C., Borowska, E., Schwartz, T. & Horn, H. Impact of the particulate matter from wastewater discharge on the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes and facultative pathogenic bacteria in downstream river sediments. *Sci. Total Environ.* 649, 1171–1178 (2019).
- 369. Seral, C. *et al.* Distribution of resistance genes tet(M), aph3'-III, catpC194 and the integrase gene of Tn1545 in clinical Streptococcus pneumoniae harbouring erm(B) and mef(A) genes in Spain. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **47**, 863–866 (2001).
- Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E. & Larsson, D. G. J. Co-occurrence of resistance genes to antibiotics, biocides and metals reveals novel insights into their co-selection potential. *BMC Genomics* 16, 964 (2015).
- Imran, Md., Das, K. R. & Naik, M. M. Co-selection of multi-antibiotic resistance in bacterial pathogens in metal and microplastic contaminated environments: An emerging health threat. *Chemosphere* 215, 846–857 (2019).
- 372. Kambarev, S., Pecorari, F. & Corvec, S. Novel Tn916-like elements confer aminoglycoside/macrolide co-resistance in clinical isolates of Streptococcus gallolyticus ssp. gallolyticus. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **73**, 1201–1205 (2018).
- Takasu, H., Suzuki, S., Reungsang, A. & Viet, P. H. Fluoroquinolone (FQ) Contamination Does Not Correlate with Occurrence of FQ-Resistant Bacteria in Aquatic Environments of Vietnam and Thailand. *Microbes Environ.* 26, 135–143 (2011).
- 374. Khan, G. A., Berglund, B., Khan, K. M., Lindgren, P.-E. & Fick, J. Occurrence and abundance of antibiotics and resistance genes in rivers, canal and near drug formulation facilities--a study in Pakistan. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e62712 (2013).
- 375. Koenig, J. E. *et al.* Integron Gene Cassettes and Degradation of Compounds Associated with Industrial Waste: The Case of the Sydney Tar Ponds. *PLoS One* **4**, (2009).
- Rosewarne, C. P., Pettigrove, V., Stokes, H. W. & Parsons, Y. M. Class 1 integrons in benthic bacterial communities: abundance, association with Tn402-like transposition modules and evidence for coselection with heavy-metal resistance. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* **72**, 35–46 (2010).
- 377. Stepanauskas, R. *et al.* Coselection for microbial resistance to metals and antibiotics in freshwater microcosms. *Environ. Microbiol.* **8**, 1510–1514 (2006).
- 378. Wang, Q., Lu, Q., Mao, D., Cui, Y. & Luo, Y. The horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes is enhanced by ionic liquid with different structure of varying alkyl chain length. *Front Microbiol* **6**, (2015).
- Ruff, M., Mueller, M. S., Loos, M. & Singer, H. P. Quantitative target and systematic non-target analysis of polar organic micro-pollutants along the river Rhine using high-resolution mass-spectrometry – Identification of unknown sources and compounds. *Water Research* 87, 145–154 (2015).
- 380. Oh, M. *et al.* MetaCompare: a computational pipeline for prioritizing environmental resistome risk. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* **94**, (2018).
- Li, D. et al. Determination and fate of oxytetracycline and related compounds in oxytetracycline production wastewater and the receiving river. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 27, 80–86 (2008).

- Zhang, X.-X., Zhang, T. & Fang, H. H. P. Antibiotic resistance genes in water environment. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 82, 397–414 (2009).
- Zhang, T., Zhang, X.-X. & Ye, L. Plasmid Metagenome Reveals High Levels of Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Mobile Genetic Elements in Activated Sludge. *PLOS ONE* 6, e26041 (2011).
- Rizzo, L., Fiorentino, A. & Anselmo, A. Advanced treatment of urban wastewater by UV radiation: Effect on antibiotics and antibiotic-resistant E. coli strains. *Chemosphere* 92, 171–176 (2013).
- 385. Chen, B., Liang, X., Huang, X., Zhang, T. & Li, X. Differentiating anthropogenic impacts on ARGs in the Pearl River Estuary by using suitable gene indicators. *Water Research* **47**, 2811–2820 (2013).
- 386. Li, C. *et al.* Exploring the correlations between antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in the wastewater treatment plants of hospitals in Xinjiang, China. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* **23**, 15111–15121 (2016).
- 387. Aminov, R. I. Horizontal Gene Exchange in Environmental Microbiota. Front Microbiol 2, (2011).
- Stevenson, C., Hall, J. P., Harrison, E., Wood, Aj. & Brockhurst, M. A. Gene mobility promotes the spread of resistance in bacterial populations. *The ISME Journal* 11, 1930–1932 (2017).
- 389. Forsberg, K. J. *et al.* The Shared Antibiotic Resistome of Soil Bacteria and Human Pathogens. *Science* **337**, 1107–1111 (2012).
- Wright, G. D. Antibiotic resistance in the environment: a link to the clinic? *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 13, 589–594 (2010).
- Thomas, C. M. & Nielsen, K. M. Mechanisms of, and Barriers to, Horizontal Gene Transfer between Bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 3, 711–721 (2005).
- Andersson, D. I. & Hughes, D. Microbiological effects of sublethal levels of antibiotics. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 12, 465–478 (2014).
- Kim, S. *et al.* Transfer of antibiotic resistance plasmids in pure and activated sludge cultures in the presence of environmentally representative micro-contaminant concentrations. *Science of The Total Environment* 468–469, 813– 820 (2014).
- 394. He, H.-J. *et al.* Erythromycin resistance features and biofilm formation affected by subinhibitory erythromycin in clinical isolates of Staphylococcus epidermidis. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection* **49**, 33–40 (2016).
- Oh, J., Medriano, C. A. & Kim, S. The effect of tetracycline in the antibiotic resistance gene transfer before and after ozone disinfection. *Desalination and Water Treatment* 57, 646–650 (2016).
- Jutkina, J., Marathe, N. P., Flach, C.-F. & Larsson, D. G. J. Antibiotics and common antibacterial biocides stimulate horizontal transfer of resistance at low concentrations. *Science of The Total Environment* 616–617, 172–178 (2018).
- Shun-Mei, E. *et al.* Sub-inhibitory concentrations of fluoroquinolones increase conjugation frequency. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 114, 57–62 (2018).
- 398. Zhang, Y. *et al.* Sub-inhibitory concentrations of heavy metals facilitate the horizontal transfer of plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance genes in water environment. *Environmental Pollution* **237**, 74–82 (2018).
- 399. Li, X. *et al.* Sub-lethal concentrations of heavy metals induce antibiotic resistance via mutagenesis. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **369**, 9–16 (2019).
- Maertens, H. *et al.* Exposure of ciprofloxacin-resistant Escherichia coli broiler isolates to subinhibitory concentrations of a quaternary ammonium compound does not increase antibiotic resistance gene transfer. *Poult Sci* **98**, 2972–2976 (2019).
- 401. Jutkina, J., Rutgersson, C., Flach, C.-F. & Joakim Larsson, D. G. An assay for determining minimal concentrations of antibiotics that drive horizontal transfer of resistance. *Science of The Total Environment* **548–549**, 131–138 (2016).
- 402. Kümmerer, K. Resistance in the environment. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 54, 311–320 (2004).
- Ashbolt, N. J. *et al.* Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) for Environmental Development and Transfer of Antibiotic Resistance. *Environ Health Perspect* **121**, 993–1001 (2013).
- 404. Tiedje, J. M. *et al.* Antibiotic Resistance Genes in the Human-Impacted Environment: A One Health Perspective. *Pedosphere* **29**, 273–282 (2019).
- 405. Baquero, F., Martínez, J.-L. & Cantón, R. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **19**, 260–265 (2008).
- Martínez, J. L., Coque, T. M. & Baquero, F. What is a resistance gene? Ranking risk in resistomes. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 13, 116–123 (2015).
- 407. Bellanger, X., Guilloteau, H., Breuil, B. & Merlin, C. Natural microbial communities supporting the transfer of the IncP-1β plasmid pB10 exhibit a higher initial content of plasmids from the same incompatibility group. *Front Microbiol* 5, (2014).
- 408. Chen, T.-L. *et al.* Acinetobacter baylyi as a pathogen for opportunistic infection. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **46**, 2938–2944 (2008).
- 409. Jutkina, J., Rutgersson, C., Flach, C.-F. & Joakim Larsson, D. G. An assay for determining minimal concentrations of antibiotics that drive horizontal transfer of resistance. *Science of The Total Environment* **548–549**, 131–138 (2016).
- 410. Hover, B. M. *et al.* Culture-independent discovery of the malacidins as calcium-dependent antibiotics with activity against multidrug-resistant Gram-positive pathogens. *Nat Microbiol* **3**, 415–422 (2018).
- 411. Rogers, R. Investigating Molecular Mechanisms of Calcium Signaling in Bacterial Pathogen Pseudomonas aeruginosa. (2018).
- Schlüter, A. *et al.* The 64 508 bp IncP-1beta antibiotic multiresistance plasmid pB10 isolated from a waste-water treatment plant provides evidence for recombination between members of different branches of the IncP-1beta group. *Microbiology (Reading, Engl.)* 149, 3139–3153 (2003).
- 413. Chalmers, G., Kozak, G. K., Hillyer, E., Reid-Smith, R. J. & Boerlin, P. Low minimum inhibitory concentrations associated with the tetracycline-resistance gene tet(C) in Escherichia coli. *Can J Vet Res* **74**, 145–148 (2010).
- Muyzer, G., Waal, E. C. de & Uitterlinden, A. G. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 59, 695–700 (1993).
- 415. Nadkarni, M. A., Martin, F. E., Jacques, N. A. & Hunter, N. Determination of bacterial load by real-time PCR using a broad-range (universal) probe and primers set. *Microbiology*, **148**, 257–266 (2002).
- 416. San Millan, A. *et al.* Small-Plasmid-Mediated Antibiotic Resistance Is Enhanced by Increases in Plasmid Copy Number and Bacterial Fitness. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **59**, 3335–3341 (2015).
- 417. Nielsen, K. M., Johnsen, P. J., Bensasson, D. & Daffonchio, D. Release and persistence of extracellular DNA in the environment. *Environ. Biosafety Res.* **6**, 37–53 (2007).
- 418. Tsuji, A., Kaneko, Y., Takahashi, K., Ogawa, M. & Goto, S. The Effects of Temperature and pH on the Growth of Eight Enteric and Nine Glucose Non-Fermenting Species of Gram-Negative Rods. *Microbiology and Immunology* **26**, 15–24 (1982).
- Loffhagen, N., Härtig, C., Benndorf, D. & Babel, W. Effects of Growth Temperature and Lipophilic Carbon Sources on the Fatty Acid Composition and Membrane Lipid Fluidity of Acinetobacter calcoaceticus 69V. Acta Biotechnologica 22, 235– 243 (2002).
- Hibbing, M. E., Fuqua, C., Parsek, M. R. & Peterson, S. B. Bacterial competition: surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 8, 15–25 (2010).
- Cornforth, D. M. & Foster, K. R. Competition sensing: the social side of bacterial stress responses. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 11, 285–293 (2013).
- 422. Ghoul, M. & Mitri, S. The Ecology and Evolution of Microbial Competition. *Trends in Microbiology* 24, 833–845 (2016).
- 423. Perry, J. A. & Wright, G. D. Forces shaping the antibiotic resistome. *BioEssays* 36, 1179–1184 (2014).
- Andersson, D. I. & Hughes, D. Persistence of antibiotic resistance in bacterial populations. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 35, 901– 911 (2011).
- 425. Gullberg, E. *et al.* Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations. *PLOS Pathogens* **7**, e1002158 (2011).
- 426. Holmes, A. H. *et al.* Understanding the mechanisms and drivers of antimicrobial resistance. *The Lancet* **387**, 176–187 (2016).
- 427. Smith, R. & Coast, J. The true cost of antimicrobial resistance. BMJ 346, (2013).
- 428. Melnyk, A. H., Wong, A. & Kassen, R. The fitness costs of antibiotic resistance mutations. *Evolutionary Applications* **8**, 273–283 (2015).
- Auerbach, E. A., Seyfried, E. E. & McMahon, K. D. Tetracycline resistance genes in activated sludge wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research* 41, 1143–1151 (2007).
- 430. Liu, M. *et al.* Abundance and Distribution of Tetracycline Resistance Genes and Mobile Elements in an Oxytetracycline Production Wastewater Treatment System. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **46**, 7551–7557 (2012).
- 431. Xu, J. *et al.* Occurrence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a sewage treatment plant and its effluent-receiving river. *Chemosphere* **119**, 1379–1385 (2015).
- 432. Coutu, S., Wyrsch, V., Wynn, H. K., Rossi, L. & Barry, D. A. Temporal dynamics of antibiotics in wastewater treatment plant influent. *Science of The Total Environment* **458–460**, 20–26 (2013).
- Coutu, S., Rossi, L., Barry, D. A., Rudaz, S. & Vernaz, N. Temporal Variability of Antibiotics Fluxes in Wastewater and Contribution from Hospitals. *PLOS ONE* 8, e53592 (2013).
- Ort, C., Lawrence, M. G., Reungoat, J. & Mueller, J. F. Sampling for PPCPs in wastewater systems: Comparison of different sampling modes and optimization strategies. *Environmental Science and Technology* 44, 6289–6296 (2010).
- 435. Gerrity, D., Trenholm, R. A. & Snyder, S. A. Temporal variability of pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs in wastewater and the effects of a major sporting event. *Water Research* **45**, 5399–5411 (2011).
- 436. Madoux-Humery, A.-S. *et al.* Temporal variability of combined sewer overflow contaminants: Evaluation of wastewater micropollutants as tracers of fecal contamination. *Water Research* **47**, 4370–4382 (2013).
- 437. Neuvonen, P. J. Interactions with the absorption of tetracyclines. Drugs 11, 45–54 (1976).
- 438. Zhao, Y., Geng, J., Wang, X., Gu, X. & Gao, S. Tetracycline adsorption on kaolinite: pH, metal cations and humic acid effects. *Ecotoxicology* **20**, 1141–1147 (2011).
- 439. Carlotti, B., Cesaretti, A. & Elisei, F. Complexes of tetracyclines with divalent metal cations investigated by stationary and femtosecond-pulsed techniques. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **14**, 823–834 (2011).
- 440. Lou, Y. *et al.* Sorption behavior of tetracyclines on suspended organic matters originating from swine wastewater. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* **65**, 144–152 (2018).
- Rivera-Utrilla, J., Gómez-Pacheco, C. V., Sánchez-Polo, M., López-Peñalver, J. J. & Ocampo-Pérez, R. Tetracycline removal from water by adsorption/bioadsorption on activated carbons and sludge-derived adsorbents. *Journal of Environmental Management* 131, 16–24 (2013).
- 442. Karthikeyan, K. G. & Meyer, M. T. Occurrence of antibiotics in wastewater treatment facilities in Wisconsin, USA. *Science of The Total Environment* **361**, 196–207 (2006).
- 443. Batt, A. L., Bruce, I. B. & Aga, D. S. Evaluating the vulnerability of surface waters to antibiotic contamination from varying wastewater treatment plant discharges. *Environmental Pollution* **142**, 295–302 (2006).
- 444. Cavenati, S., Carvalho, P. N., Almeida, C. M. R., Basto, M. C. P. & Vasconcelos, M. T. S. D. Simultaneous determination of several veterinary pharmaceuticals in effluents from urban, livestock and slaughterhouse wastewater treatment plants using a simple chromatographic method. *Water Science and Technology* **66**, 603–611 (2012).
- 445. Tran, N. H., Reinhard, M. & Gin, K. Y.-H. Occurrence and fate of emerging contaminants in municipal wastewater treatment plants from different geographical regions-a review. *Water Research* **133**, 182–207 (2018).
- 446. Gao, P., Munir, M. & Xagoraraki, I. Correlation of tetracycline and sulfonamide antibiotics with corresponding resistance genes and resistant bacteria in a conventional municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Science of The Total Environment* **421–422**, 173–183 (2012).
- 447. Yi, Q. *et al.* Establishment of a pretreatment method for tetracycline production wastewater using enhanced hydrolysis. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **300**, 139–145 (2016).
- 448. Reyrat, J.-M., Pelicic, V., Gicquel, B. & Rappuoli, R. Counterselectable Markers: Untapped Tools for Bacterial Genetics and Pathogenesis. *Infection and Immunity* **66**, 4011–4017 (1998).
- 449. Norris, V. et al. Calcium in bacteria: a solution to which problem? Molecular Microbiology 5, 775–778 (1991).
- 450. Dominguez, D. C. Calcium signalling in bacteria. *Molecular Microbiology* **54**, 291–297 (2004).
- 451. King, M. M., Kayastha, B. B., Franklin, M. J. & Patrauchan, M. A. Calcium Regulation of Bacterial Virulence. in *Calcium Signaling* (ed. Islam, Md. S.) 827–855 (Springer International Publishing, 2020). doi:10.1007/978-3-030-12457-1_33.
- 452. Miller, D. N., Bryant, J. E., Madsen, E. L. & Ghiorse, W. C. Evaluation and Optimization of DNA Extraction and Purification Procedures for Soil and Sediment Samples. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **65**, 4715–4724 (1999).

- Lakay, F. M., Botha, A. & Prior, B. A. Comparative analysis of environmental DNA extraction and purification methods from different humic acid-rich soils. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **102**, 265–273 (2007).
- 454. Hwang, C., Ling, F., Andersen, G. L., LeChevallier, M. W. & Liu, W.-T. Evaluation of Methods for the Extraction of DNA from Drinking Water Distribution System Biofilms. *Microbes and Environments* **advpub**, 1110050327–1110050327 (2009).
- 455. White, R. A., Blainey, P. C., Fan, H. C. & Quake, S. R. Digital PCR provides sensitive and absolute calibration for high throughput sequencing. *BMC Genomics* **10**, 116 (2009).
- 456. Jian, C., Luukkonen, P., Yki-Järvinen, H., Salonen, A. & Korpela, K. Quantitative PCR provides a simple and accessible method for quantitative microbiota profiling. *PLOS ONE* **15**, e0227285 (2020).
- 457. Chen, B. *et al.* Metagenomic Analysis Revealing Antibiotic Resistance Genes (ARGs) and Their Genetic Compartments in the Tibetan Environment. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **50**, 6670–6679 (2016).
- 458. He, L.-Y. *et al.* Discharge of swine wastes risks water quality and food safety: Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes from swine sources to the receiving environments. *Environment International* **92–93**, 210–219 (2016).
- 459. Zhu, Y.-G. et al. Continental-scale pollution of estuaries with antibiotic resistance genes. Nat Microbiol 2, 1–7 (2017).
- 460. Arsène-Ploetze, F. *et al.* Adaptation in toxic environments: comparative genomics of loci carrying antibiotic resistance genes derived from acid mine drainage waters. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 25, 1470–1483 (2018).
- 461. Ekwanzala, M. D., Dewar, J. B., Kamika, I. & Momba, M. N. B. Systematic review in South Africa reveals antibiotic resistance genes shared between clinical and environmental settings. *Infect Drug Resist* **11**, 1907–1920 (2018).
- Clooney, A. G. *et al.* Comparing Apples and Oranges?: Next Generation Sequencing and Its Impact on Microbiome Analysis. *PLoS One* **11**, (2016).
- Pasolli, E., Truong, D. T., Malik, F., Waldron, L. & Segata, N. Machine Learning Meta-analysis of Large Metagenomic Datasets: Tools and Biological Insights. *PLOS Computational Biology* 12, e1004977 (2016).
- 464. Rampelli, S. et al. ViromeScan: a new tool for metagenomic viral community profiling. BMC Genomics 17, 165 (2016).
- 465. Lindgreen, S., Adair, K. L. & Gardner, P. P. An evaluation of the accuracy and speed of metagenome analysis tools. *Sci Rep* **6**, 1–14 (2016).
- 466. Rosso, G. E., Muday, J. A. & Curran, J. F. Tools for Metagenomic Analysis at Wastewater Treatment Plants: Application to a Foaming Episode. *Water Environ. Res.* **90**, 258–268 (2018).
- 467. Thoendel, M. *et al.* Comparison of Three Commercial Tools for Metagenomic Shotgun Sequencing Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* (2019) doi:10.1128/JCM.00981-19.
- 468. Roumpeka, D. D., Wallace, R. J., Escalettes, F., Fotheringham, I. & Watson, M. A Review of Bioinformatics Tools for Bio-Prospecting from Metagenomic Sequence Data. *Front. Genet.* **8**, (2017).
- Arango-Argoty, G. A. *et al.* DeepARG: A deep learning approach for predicting antibiotic resistance genes from metagenomic data. *bioRxiv* 149328 (2017) doi:10.1101/149328.
- Henson, J., Tischler, G. & Ning, Z. Next-generation sequencing and large genome assemblies. *Pharmacogenomics* 13, 901–915 (2012).
- Gweon, H. S. *et al.* The impact of sequencing depth on the inferred taxonomic composition and AMR gene content of metagenomic samples. *Environmental Microbiome* 14, 7 (2019).
- 472. Nurk, S., Meleshko, D., Korobeynikov, A. & Pevzner, P. A. metaSPAdes: a new versatile metagenomic assembler. *Genome Res* 27, 824–834 (2017).
- Li, L.-G., Yin, X. & Zhang, T. Tracking antibiotic resistance gene pollution from different sources using machine-learning classification. *Microbiome* 6, 93 (2018).
- 474. Drouin, A. Inferring phenotypes from genotypes with machine learning: an application to the global problem of antibiotic resistance. (2019).
- 475. Su, M., Satola, S. W. & Read, T. D. Genome-Based Prediction of Bacterial Antibiotic Resistance. *J Clin Microbiol* **57**, (2019).
- 476. Git, A. *et al.* Systematic comparison of microarray profiling, real-time PCR, and next-generation sequencing technologies for measuring differential microRNA expression. *RNA* **16**, 991–1006 (2010).
- Blondal, T. *et al.* Genome-Wide Comparison of Next-Generation Sequencing and qPCR Platforms for microRNA Profiling in Serum. in *MicroRNA Detection and Target Identification: Methods and Protocols* (ed. Dalmay, T.) 21–44 (Springer, 2017). doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-6866-4_3.
- 478. Gargiuli, C. *et al.* Comparative study of RT-qPCR- and NGS- based platforms for circulating human microRNA biomarker detection. *Annals of Oncology* **30**, vii30 (2019).
- 479. Casbon, J. A., Osborne, R. J., Brenner, S. & Lichtenstein, C. P. A method for counting PCR template molecules with application to next-generation sequencing. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, e81–e81 (2011).
- Tuononen, K. *et al.* Comparison of Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) and Real-Time PCR in the Detection of *EGFR*, *KRAS*, and *BRAF* Mutations on Formalin-Fixed, Paraffin-Embedded Tumor Material of Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma-Superiority of NGS. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer* 52, 503–511 (2013).
- 481. Bourgon, R. *et al.* High-Throughput Detection of Clinically Relevant Mutations in Archived Tumor Samples by Multiplexed PCR and Next-Generation Sequencing. *Clin Cancer Res* **20**, 2080–2091 (2014).
- 482. Gao, J. *et al.* Comparison of Next-Generation Sequencing, Quantitative PCR, and Sanger Sequencing for Mutation Profiling of EGFR, KRAS, PIK3CA and BRAF in Clinical Lung Tumors. *Clin. Lab.* **62**, 689–696 (2016).
- 483. Goodrich, D. *et al.* A randomized and blinded comparison of qPCR and NGS-based detection of aneuploidy in a cell line mixture model of blastocyst biopsy mosaicism. *J Assist Reprod Genet* **33**, 1473–1480 (2016).
- Treff, N. R., Goodrich, D., Tao, X., Zhan, Y. & Scott, R. T. Mosaicism detection by QPCR versus NGS based CCS. *Fertility* and *Sterility* 106, e153–e154 (2016).
- 485. Jian, C., Luukkonen, P., Yki-Järvinen, H., Salonen, A. & Korpela, K. Quantitative PCR provides a simple and accessible method for quantitative microbiota profiling. *PLoS One* **15**, (2020).
- 486. Kultima, J. R. *et al.* MOCAT2: a metagenomic assembly, annotation and profiling framework. *Bioinformatics* **32**, 2520–2523 (2016).
- Budak, H. & Kantar, M. Harnessing NGS and Big Data Optimally: Comparison of miRNA Prediction from Assembled versus Non-assembled Sequencing Data—The Case of the Grass Aegilops tauschii Complex Genome. *OMICS: A Journal* of Integrative Biology **19**, 407–415 (2015).

- 488. Hendriksen, R. S. et al. Using Genomics to Track Global Antimicrobial Resistance. Front. Public Health 7, (2019).
- 489. Cepeda, V. *et al.* MetaCompass: Reference-guided Assembly of Metagenomes. *bioRxiv* 212506 (2017) doi:10.1101/212506.
- Forouzan, E., Maleki, M. S. M., Karkhane, A. A. & Yakhchali, B. Evaluation of nine popular de novo assemblers in microbial genome assembly. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 143, 32–37 (2017).
- 491. Ye, C., Hill, C. M., Wu, S., Ruan, J. & Ma, Z. (Sam). DBG2OLC: Efficient Assembly of Large Genomes Using Long Erroneous Reads of the Third Generation Sequencing Technologies. *Scientific Reports* **6**, 31900 (2016).
- 492. Ranjard, L., Wong, T. K. F. & Rodrigo, A. G. Effective Machine-Learning Assembly For Next-Generation Sequencing With Very Low Coverage. *bioRxiv* 393116 (2018) doi:10.1101/393116.
- 493. Desai, A. *et al.* Identification of Optimum Sequencing Depth Especially for De Novo Genome Assembly of Small Genomes Using Next Generation Sequencing Data. *PLOS ONE* **8**, e60204 (2013).
- 494. Ghurye, J. S., Cepeda-Espinoza, V. & Pop, M. Metagenomic Assembly: Overview, Challenges and Applications. *Yale J Biol Med* **89**, 353–362 (2016).
- 495. Guyomar, C. et al. Reference guided genome assembly in metagenomic samples. (2018).
- 496. Lau, A.-K., Dörrer, S., Leimeister, C.-A., Bleidorn, C. & Morgenstern, B. Read-SpaM: assembly-free and alignment-free comparison of bacterial genomes with low sequencing coverage. *BMC Bioinformatics* **20**, 638 (2019).
- 497. Bao, S. *et al.* Evaluation of next-generation sequencing software in mapping and assembly. *Journal of Human Genetics* **56**, 406–414 (2011).
- 498. Mende, D. R. *et al.* Assessment of metagenomic assembly using simulated next generation sequencing data. *PLoS ONE* **7**, e31386 (2012).
- 499. Ashton, P. M. *et al.* MinION nanopore sequencing identifies the position and structure of a bacterial antibiotic resistance island. *Nature Biotechnology* **33**, 296–300 (2015).
- 500. Scheibye-Alsing, K. et al. Sequence assembly. Computational Biology and Chemistry 33, 121–136 (2009).
- 501. He, Y., Zhang, Z., Peng, X., Wu, F. & Wang, J. De novo assembly methods for next generation sequencing data. *Tsinghua Science and Technology* **18**, 500–514 (2013).
- Livermore, D. M. & Wain, J. Revolutionising Bacteriology to Improve Treatment Outcomes and Antibiotic Stewardship. Infection & Chemotherapy 45, 1–10 (2013).
- 503. https://card.mcmaster.ca/. The Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database. https://card.mcmaster.ca/ (2020).
- 504. https://www.uniprot.org/. UniProt. https://www.uniprot.org/ (2020).
- 505. https://ardb.cbcb.umd.edu/. ARDB-Antibiotic Resistance Genes Database. https://ardb.cbcb.umd.edu/ (2020).
- 506. Tanca, A. *et al.* Evaluating the Impact of Different Sequence Databases on Metaproteome Analysis: Insights from a Lab-Assembled Microbial Mixture. *PLoS One* **8**, (2013).
- 507. Bengtsson-Palme, J. *et al.* Strategies to improve usability and preserve accuracy in biological sequence databases. *Proteomics* **16**, 2454–2460 (2016).
- 508. Ross, M. G. et al. Characterizing and measuring bias in sequence data. Genome Biol 14, R51 (2013).
- 509. Hirani, N. *et al.* Detection of a Novel Mutation in the rpoB gene in a Multidrug Resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis Isolate using Whole Genome Next Generation Sequencing. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance* (2020) doi:10.1016/j.jgar.2020.03.004.
- Hellemans, J. & Vandesompele, J. Selection of Reliable Reference Genes for RT-qPCR Analysis. in *Quantitative Real-Time PCR: Methods and Protocols* (eds. Biassoni, R. & Raso, A.) 19–26 (Springer, 2014). doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-0733-5_3.
- Luby, E., Ibekwe, A. M., Zilles, J. & Pruden, A. Molecular Methods for Assessment of Antibiotic Resistance in Agricultural Ecosystems: Prospects and Challenges. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 45, 441–453 (2016).
- 512. Paulus, G. K., Hornstra, L. M. & Medema, G. International tempo-spatial study of antibiotic resistance genes across the Rhine river using newly developed multiplex qPCR assays. *Science of The Total Environment* **706**, 135733 (2020).
- 513. Storteboom, H., Arabi, M., Davis, J. G., Crimi, B. & Pruden, A. Tracking antibiotic resistance genes in the south platter river basin using molecular signatures of urban, agricultural, and pristine sources. *Environmental Science and Technology* **44**, 7397–7404 (2010).
- 514. Ishikawa, J., Chiba, K., Kurita, H. & Satoh, H. Contribution of rpoB2 RNA polymerase beta subunit gene to rifampin resistance in Nocardia species. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **50**, 1342–1346 (2006).
- Mollet, C., Drancourt, M. & Raoult, D. rpoB sequence analysis as a novel basis for bacterial identification. *Molecular Microbiology* 26, 1005–1011 (1997).
- Dahllöf, I., Baillie, H. & Kjelleberg, S. rpoB-Based Microbial Community Analysis Avoids Limitations Inherent in 16S rRNA Gene Intraspecies Heterogeneity. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 3376–3380 (2000).
- Holmes, D. E., Nevin, K. P. & Lovley, D. R. Comparison of 16S rRNA, nifD, recA, gyrB, rpoB and fusA genes within the family Geobacteraceae fam. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, **54**, 1591–1599 (2004).
- Case, R. J. *et al.* Use of 16S rRNA and rpoB Genes as Molecular Markers for Microbial Ecology Studies. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **73**, 278–288 (2007).
- 519. Ki, J.-S., Zhang, W. & Qian, P.-Y. Discovery of marine Bacillus species by 16S rRNA and rpoB comparisons and their usefulness for species identification. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **77**, 48–57 (2009).
- 520. Ogier, J.-C., Pagès, S., Galan, M., Barret, M. & Gaudriault, S. rpoB, a promising marker for analyzing the diversity of bacterial communities by amplicon sequencing. *BMC Microbiol* **19**, 171 (2019).
- 521. Ishikawa, J. et al. The complete genomic sequence of Nocardia farcinica IFM 10152. PNAS 101, 14925–14930 (2004).
- 522. Marianelli, C., Ciuchini, F., Tarantino, M., Pasquali, P. & Adone, R. Genetic bases of the rifampin resistance phenotype in Brucella spp. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **42**, 5439–5443 (2004).
- 523. Frey, K. G. *et al.* Comparison of three next-generation sequencing platforms for metagenomic sequencing and identification of pathogens in blood. *BMC Genomics* **15**, 96 (2014).
- 524. Yamamoto, N., Nazaroff, W. W. & Peccia, J. Assessing the aerodynamic diameters of taxon-specific fungal bioaerosols by quantitative PCR and next-generation DNA sequencing. *Journal of Aerosol Science* **78**, 1–10 (2014).
- 525. Alves, J. M. & Posada, D. Sensitivity to sequencing depth in single-cell cancer genomics. *Genome Medicine* **10**, 29 (2018).

- 526. Zaheer, R. *et al.* Impact of sequencing depth on the characterization of the microbiome and resistome. *Scientific Reports* **8**, 5890 (2018).
- Aminov, R. I., Garrigues-Jeanjean, N. & Mackie, R. I. Molecular Ecology of Tetracycline Resistance: Development and Validation of Primers for Detection of Tetracycline Resistance Genes Encoding Ribosomal Protection Proteins. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 22–32 (2001).
- 528. Ballif, M. *et al.* Drug resistance-conferring mutations in Mycobacterium tuberculosis from Madang, Papua New Guinea. *BMC Microbiology* **12**, 191 (2012).
- 529. Bernèche-D'Amours, A., Ghinet, M. G., Beaudin, J., Brzezinski, R. & Roy, S. Sequence analysis of rpoB and rpoD gene fragments reveals the phylogenetic diversity of actinobacteria of genus Frankia. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **57**, 244–249 (2011).
- 530. Karunakaran, R. *et al.* BacA Is Essential for Bacteroid Development in Nodules of Galegoid, but not Phaseoloid, Legumes. *Journal of Bacteriology* **192**, 2920–2928 (2010).
- 531. Luong, P. M. *et al.* Emergence of the P2 Phenotype in Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO1 Strains Involves Various Mutations in mexT or mexF. *J Bacteriol* **196**, 504–513 (2014).
- 532. Zhang, A.-N. *et al.* Choosing Your Battles: Which Resistance Genes Warrant Global Action? *bioRxiv* 784322 (2019) doi:10.1101/784322.
- Alexander, J., Hembach, N. & Schwartz, T. Evaluation of antibiotic resistance dissemination by wastewater treatment plant effluents with different catchment areas in Germany. *Scientific Reports* 10, 8952 (2020).
- 534. Kaur, R., Yadav, B. & Tyagi, R. D. Microbiology of hospital wastewater. in *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (eds. Tyagi, R. D. et al.) 103–148 (Elsevier, 2020). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-819722-6.00004-3.
- 535. Bírošová, L., Lépesová, K., Grabic, R. & Mackul'ak, T. Non-antimicrobial pharmaceuticals can affect the development of antibiotic resistance in hospital wastewater. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* **27**, 13501–13511 (2020).
- 536. Khan, N. A., Ahmed, S., Vambol, S., Vambol, V. & Farooqi, I. H. Field hospital wastewater treatment scenario. *Ecological Questions* **30**, 57–69 (2019).
- Kumari, A., Maurya, N. S. & Tiwari, B. Hospital wastewater treatment scenario around the globe. in *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (eds. Tyagi, R. D. et al.) 549–570 (Elsevier, 2020). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-819722-6.00015-8.
- Ng, C., Chen, H., Tran, N. H., Haller, L. & Gin, K. Y.-H. Antibiotic Resistance in Municipal Wastewater: A Special Focus on Hospital Effluents. 1–24 (2020) doi:10.1007/698_2020_471.
- 539. Petrovich, M. L. *et al.* Microbial and Viral Communities and Their Antibiotic Resistance Genes Throughout a Hospital Wastewater Treatment System. *Front. Microbiol.* **11**, (2020).
- Yadav, B. *et al.* Introduction to wastewater microbiology: special emphasis on hospital wastewater. in *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (eds. Tyagi, R. D. et al.) 1–41 (Elsevier, 2020). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-819722-6.00001-8.
- 541. Al-Maadheed, S., Goktepe, I., Latiff, A. B. A. & Shomar, B. Antibiotics in hospital effluent and domestic wastewater treatment plants in Doha, Qatar. *Journal of Water Process Engineering* **28**, 60–68 (2019).
- 542. Khan, N. A. *et al.* Occurrence, Sources and Conventional Treatment Techniques for various antibiotics present in hospital wastewaters: A critical review. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 115921 (2020) doi:10.1016/j.trac.2020.115921.
- 543. Yang, L., Wen, Q., Chen, Z., Duan, R. & Yang, P. Impacts of advanced treatment processes on elimination of antibiotic resistance genes in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Front. Environ. Sci. Eng.* **13**, 32 (2019).
- 544. Ghernaout, D. & Elboughdiri, N. Urgent Proposals for Disinfecting Hospital Wastewaters during COVID-19 Pandemic. Open Access Library Journal 7, 1–18 (2020).
- 545. Khan, N. A. *et al.* Smart ways of hospital wastewater management, regulatory standards and conventional treatment techniques: A short review. *Smart and Sustainable Built Environment* **ahead-of-print**, (2019).
- 546. Talan, A. & Tyagi, R. D. Fate of pathogens and viruses in hospital wastewater and their treatment methods. in *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (eds. Tyagi, R. D. et al.) 149–175 (Elsevier, 2020). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-819722-6.00005-5.
- 547. Wang, J. *et al.* Disinfection technology of hospital wastes and wastewater: Suggestions for disinfection strategy during coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in China. *Environmental Pollution* **262**, 114665 (2020).
- Yan, S., Zhang, X. L., Tyagi, R. D. & Drogui, P. Guidelines for hospital wastewater discharge. in *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (eds. Tyagi, R. D. et al.) 571–597 (Elsevier, 2020). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-819722-6.00016-X.
- 549. Kanwal, S., Sajjad, M., Gabriel, H. F. & Hussain, E. Towards sustainable wastewater management: A spatial multicriteria framework to site the Land-FILTER system in a complex urban environment. *Journal of Cleaner Production* **266**, 121987 (2020).
- 550. Pan, M. & Chu, L. M. Occurrence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in soils from wastewater irrigation areas in the Pearl River Delta region, southern China. *Science of The Total Environment* **624**, 145–152 (2018).
- 551. Duarte, D. J., Oldenkamp, R. & Ragas, A. M. J. Modelling environmental antibiotic-resistance gene abundance: A metaanalysis. *Science of The Total Environment* **659**, 335–341 (2019).
- 552. Singer, A. C., Xu, Q. & Keller, V. D. J. Translating antibiotic prescribing into antimicrobial resistance in the environment: a hazard characterisation case study. *bioRxiv* 539536 (2019) doi:10.1101/539536.
- 553. Lu, Z. *et al.* Fate of sulfonamide resistance genes in estuary environment and effect of anthropogenic activities. *Science of The Total Environment* **527–528**, 429–438 (2015).
- 554. Jia, J. *et al.* Occurrence and distribution of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in Ba River, China. *Science of The Total Environment* **642**, 1136–1144 (2018).
- 555. Proia, L. *et al.* Antibiotic resistance along an urban river impacted by treated wastewaters. *Science of The Total Environment* **628–629**, 453–466 (2018).
- 556. Wang, G. *et al.* Occurrence, distribution, and source track of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in the main rivers of Chongqing city, southwest China. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **389**, 122110 (2020).
- 557. Rice, E. W., Wang, P., Smith, A. L. & Stadler, L. B. Determining Hosts of Antibiotic Resistance Genes: A Review of Methodological Advances. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* **7**, 282–291 (2020).

- Stanczak-Mrozek, K. I., Laing, K. G. & Lindsay, J. A. Resistance gene transfer: induction of transducing phage by subinhibitory concentrations of antimicrobials is not correlated to induction of lytic phage. J Antimicrob Chemother 72, 1624–1631 (2017).
- 559. Alleyne, K., Cotton, M., Purcell, E., Courson, D. & Oludiran, A. Characterizing the Activity of Antimicrobial Peptides Against the Pathogenic Bacterium *Clostridium difficile* in an Anaerobic Environment. *Undergraduate Research Symposium* (2020).
- 560. Casciaro, B., Cappiello, F., Verrusio, W., Cacciafesta, M. & Mangoni, M. L. Antimicrobial Peptides and their Multiple Effects at Sub-Inhibitory Concentrations. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry* **20**, 1264–1273 (2020).
- Chittò, M., Berger, M., Klotz, L. & Dobrindt, U. Sub-Inhibitory concentrations of SOS-Response inducing antibiotics stimulate integrase expression and excision of pathogenicity islands in uropathogenic Escherichia coli strain 536. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology* **310**, 151361 (2020).
- 562. Deng, C. *et al.* Temporal dynamics of antibiotic resistant genes and their association with the bacterial community in a water-sediment mesocosm under selection by 14 antibiotics. *Environment International* **137**, 105554 (2020).
- Hershkovits, A. S., Pozdnyakov, I., Meir, O. & Mor, A. Sub-inhibitory membrane damage undermines Staphylococcus aureus virulence. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* 1861, 1172–1179 (2019).
- 564. Jin, Y. *et al.* Subinhibitory Concentrations of Mupirocin Stimulate Staphylococcus aureus Biofilm Formation by Upregulating cidA. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **64**, (2020).
- 565. Khan, F., Lee, J.-W., Javaid, A., Park, S.-K. & Kim, Y.-M. Inhibition of biofilm and virulence properties of Pseudomonas aeruginosa by sub-inhibitory concentrations of aminoglycosides. *Microbial Pathogenesis* **146**, 104249 (2020).
- 566. Voumard, M. *et al.* Adaptation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa to constant sub-inhibitory concentrations of quaternary ammonium compounds. *Environ. Sci.: Water Res. Technol.* **6**, 1139–1152 (2020).
- 567. Sandegren, L. Selection of antibiotic resistance at very low antibiotic concentrations. *Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences* **119**, 103–107 (2014).
- Turchi, B., Mancini, S., Pistelli, L., Najar, B. & Fratini, F. Sub-inhibitory concentration of essential oils induces antibiotic resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Natural Product Research* 33, 1509–1513 (2019).
- 569. Xing, Y., Wu, S. & Men, Y. Exposure to environmental level pesticides stimulates and diversifies evolution in Escherichia coli towards greater antibiotic resistance. *bioRxiv* 665273 (2019) doi:10.1101/665273.
- 570. Bergsveinson, J. *et al.* Metatranscriptomic Insights Into the Response of River Biofilm Communities to Ionic and Nano-Zinc Oxide Exposures. *Front. Microbiol.* **11**, (2020).
- 571. Ram, B. & Kumar, M. Correlation appraisal of antibiotic resistance with fecal, metal and microplastic contamination in a tropical Indian river, lakes and sewage. *npj Clean Water* **3**, 1–12 (2020).
- 572. Kavvas, E. S. *et al.* Machine learning and structural analysis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis pan-genome identifies genetic signatures of antibiotic resistance. *Nature Communications* **9**, 4306 (2018).
- 573. Kim, J. *et al.* VAMPr: VAriant Mapping and Prediction of antibiotic resistance via explainable features and machine learning. *PLOS Computational Biology* **16**, e1007511 (2020).
- 574. Stokes, J. M. et al. A Deep Learning Approach to Antibiotic Discovery. Cell 180, 688-702.e13 (2020).
- 575. Lewin-Epstein, O., Baruch, S., Hadany, L., Stein, G. & Obolski, U. Predicting antibiotic resistance in hospitalized patients by applying machine learning to electronic medical records. *medRxiv* 2020.06.03.20120535 (2020) doi:10.1101/2020.06.03.20120535.
- Didelot, X. & Pouwels, K. B. Machine-learning-assisted selection of antibiotic prescription. *Nature Medicine* 25, 1033– 1034 (2019).
- Comar, M. *et al.* Introduction of NGS in Environmental Surveillance for Healthcare-Associated Infection Control. 7, "-"-' (2019).
- 578. Git, A. *et al.* Systematic comparison of microarray profiling, real-time PCR, and next-generation sequencing technologies for measuring differential microRNA expression. *RNA* **16**, 991–1006 (2010).
- 579. Manageiro, V. & Caniça, M. Next Generation Sequencing as a tool to detect antibiotic resistance mechanisms. 6th Bioinformatics Open Days 2017, Universidade do Minho, 23-24 February 2017 (2017).
- 580. Rehman, K., Jabeen, K., Chohan, T. A. & Akash, M. S. H. Databases, multiplexed PCR, and next-generation sequencing technologies for tracking AMR genes in the environment. in *Antibiotics and Antimicrobial Resistance Genes in the Environment* (ed. Hashmi, M. Z.) vol. 1 223–233 (Elsevier, 2020).
- Taylor, S. C. *et al.* The Ultimate qPCR Experiment: Producing Publication Quality, Reproducible Data the First Time. *Trends in Biotechnology* **37**, 761–774 (2019).
- Cui, Q., Huang, Y., Wang, H. & Fang, T. Diversity and abundance of bacterial pathogens in urban rivers impacted by domestic sewage. *Environmental Pollution* 249, 24–35 (2019).
- Narayanan, K. *et al.* Pooling RT-PCR or NGS samples has the potential to cost-effectively generate estimates of COVID-19 prevalence in resource limited environments. *medRxiv* 2020.04.03.20051995 (2020) doi:10.1101/2020.04.03.20051995.
- 584. Cheng, Y.-W., Stefaniuk, C. & Jakubowski, M. A. Real-time PCR and targeted next-generation sequencing in the detection of low level EGFR mutations: Instructive case analyses. *Respiratory Medicine Case Reports* **28**, 100901 (2019).
- 585. Hernández, I., Sant, C., Martínez, R. & Fernández, C. Design of Bacterial Strain-Specific qPCR Assays Using NGS Data and Publicly Available Resources and Its Application to Track Biocontrol Strains. *Front Microbiol* **11**, (2020).
- 586. Elbehery, A. H. A., Aziz, R. K. & Siam, R. Antibiotic Resistome: Improving Detection and Quantification Accuracy for Comparative Metagenomics. *OMICS: A Journal of Integrative Biology* **20**, 229–238 (2016).
- Piña, B. *et al.* On the contribution of reclaimed wastewater irrigation to the potential exposure of humans to antibiotics, antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes – NEREUS COST Action ES1403 position paper. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering* 8, 102131 (2020).
- 588. Nnadozie, C. F. & Odume, O. N. Freshwater environments as reservoirs of antibiotic resistant bacteria and their role in the dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes. *Environmental Pollution* **254**, 113067 (2019).
- 589. Lyimo, B., Buza, J., Subbiah, M., Smith, W. & Call, D. R. Comparison of antibiotic resistant Escherichia coli obtained from drinking water sources in northern Tanzania: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Microbiol* **16**, 254 (2016).

- O'Flaherty, E. & Cummins, E. Antibiotic resistance in surface water ecosystems: Presence in the aquatic environment, prevention strategies, and risk assessment. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal* 23, 299– 322 (2017).
- Salazar, D., Ginn, O., Brown, J., Soria, F. & Garvizu, C. Assessment of antibiotic resistant coliforms from bioaerosol samples collected above a sewage-polluted river in La Paz, Bolivia. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 228, 113494 (2020).
- 592. Solo-Gabriele, H. M. *et al.* Beach sand and the potential for infectious disease transmission: observations and recommendations. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **96**, 101–120 (2016).
- 593. Fernandes, M. R. *et al.* Colistin-Resistant mcr-1-Positive Escherichia coli on Public Beaches, an Infectious Threat Emerging in Recreational Waters. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **61**, (2017).
- 594. Akanbi, O. E., Njom, H. A., Fri, J., Otigbu, A. C. & Clarke, A. M. Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Staphylococcus aureus Isolated from Recreational Waters and Beach Sand in Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 14, 1001 (2017).
- 595. Leonard, A. F. C. *et al.* Exposure to and colonisation by antibiotic-resistant E. coli in UK coastal water users: Environmental surveillance, exposure assessment, and epidemiological study (Beach Bum Survey). *Environment International* **114**, 326–333 (2018).
- 596. Fang, T., Wang, H., Cui, Q., Rogers, M. & Dong, P. Diversity of potential antibiotic-resistant bacterial pathogens and the effect of suspended particles on the spread of antibiotic resistance in urban recreational water. *Water Research* **145**, 541–551 (2018).
- 597. Almakki, A., Jumas-Bilak, E., Marchandin, H. & Licznar-Fajardo, P. Antibiotic resistance in urban runoff. *Science of The Total Environment* **667**, 64–76 (2019).
- 598. Bartley, P. S. *et al.* Antibiotic Resistance in Enterobacteriaceae from Surface Waters in Urban Brazil Highlights the Risks of Poor Sanitation. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **100**, 1369–1377 (2019).
- 599. Goff, D. A. *et al.* A global call from five countries to collaborate in antibiotic stewardship: united we succeed, divided we might fail. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* **17**, e56–e63 (2017).
- 600. Gitaka, J. *et al.* Combating antibiotic resistance using guidelines and enhanced stewardship in Kenya: a protocol for an implementation science approach. *BMJ Open* **10**, e030823 (2020).
- Munthe, C., Nijsingh, N., Licht, K. de F. & Larsson, D. G. J. Health-related Research Ethics and Social Value: Antibiotic Resistance Intervention Research and Pragmatic Risks. *Bioethics* 33, 335–342 (2019).
- 602. Liu, C., Liu, C., Wang, D. & Zhang, X. Knowledge, Attitudes and Intentions to Prescribe Antibiotics: A Structural Equation Modeling Study of Primary Care Institutions in Hubei, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* **16**, 2385 (2019).
- Didelot, X. & Pouwels, K. B. Machine-learning-assisted selection of antibiotic prescription. *Nature Medicine* 25, 1033– 1034 (2019).
- Sukumar, S., Martin, F. E., Hughes, T. E. & Adler, C. J. Think before you prescribe: how dentistry contributes to antibiotic resistance. *Australian Dental Journal* 65, 21–29 (2020).

8. Scientific Achievements and Contributions

8.1. List of Peer-Reviewed Publications

- **Paulus, G. K.,** Hornstra, L. M., Alygizakis, N., Slobodnik, J., Thomaidis, N., & Medema, G. (2019). The impact of on-site hospital wastewater treatment on the downstream communal wastewater system in terms of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes. International journal of hygiene and environmental health, 222(4), 635-644.
- **Paulus, G. K.,** Hornstra, L. M., & Medema, G. (2020). International tempo-spatial study of antibiotic resistance genes across the Rhine river using newly developed multiplex qPCR assays. Science of The Total Environment, 706, 135733.
- Alygizakis, N. A., Besselink, H., **Paulus, G. K.,** Oswald, P., Hornstra, L. M., Oswaldova, M., & Slobodnik, J. (2019). Characterization of wastewater effluents in the Danube River Basin with chemical screening, in vitro bioassays and antibiotic resistant genes analysis. Environment international, 127, 420-429.

8.2. List of Awards and Fellowships

- Marie-Skłodowska-Curie Fellowship (H2020, 2016 2019)
- CSF Award Winner 2018 Best contribution (for oral presentation at international HEARD conference, awarded by ETH Zurich)
- Recipient of the Elsevier Atlas award (for published peer-reviewed research)

8.3. International Conference Contributions

------ only contributions with role as main presenter shown ------

POSTER PRESENTATION

• "The Benefits of Multiplex qPCR Assays in the Field of Environmental Antibiotic Resistance", 4th International Symposium on the Environmental Dimensions of Antibiotic Resistance (EDAR), Lansing , USA, August 2017

ORAL PRESENTATION

- "The Effects of on-site Hospital WW Treatment on ARG Prevalence", Halting Antimicrobial Resistance Dissemination in Aquatic Environments (HEARD2018), Ascona, Switzerland, September 2018
- "Environmental ARG pollution monitoring across the Rhine River A tempo-spatial study", Challenges and Solutions related to Xenobiotics and Antimicrobial Resistance in the Framework of Urban Wastewater Reuse: Towards a Blue Circle Society (XENOWAC II), Limassol, Cyprus, October 2018
- "The Impact of Different Molecular Methods on Antibiotic Resistance Gene (ARG) Quantification Comparing qPCR to Next Generation Sequencing", ", 5th International Symposium on the environmental dimension of antibiotic resistance (EDAR 2019), Hong Kong, Hong Kong, June 2019

151

9. About the Author

The author was born in Darmstadt, Germany in 1989, on a beautiful, sunny winter morning. She finished highschool in summer of 2008 and enrolled at the University of Hohenheim in Stuttgart, Germany for studies in Biotechnology in 2009 where she graduated in 2012 with a Bachelor of Science degree. After a one-year creative break and many travels, she started a 6-months internship at the pharmaceutical company Merck in 2013. The author then enrolled at the Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Germany in 2014. She developed a deep passion for programming, in addition to research, and obtained a Master of Science degree in Pharmacology and Toxicology in 2016. A few days later, Gabriela started her position as PhD Candidate and Marie-Sklodowska-Curie-Fellow at KWR and at TU Delft under the supervision of Gertjan Medema (TU Delft) and Luc Hornstra (KWR).

The new challenge was to help advance the fight against antibiotic resistance.

...Rumor has it, she never skipped a day at the gym while working at her PhD.

10. Acknowledgements

A PhD title is awarded to a single person, but a myriad of people and institutions are really behind the success of any such work. Be it through cooperation, constructive criticism, academic guidance, provision of a healthy, organized work environment or simple emotional support. These people are nearly as crucial to the successful finalization as the awardee. In this section, I would like to thank all the people who have been central to the present work in such a way.

To all my collegues at KWR: thank you for providing a healthy, open, stimulating work environment and creating a workplace that I thoroughly enjoyed coming to day after day (...or every other day during writing phases). A few people have to be emphazised, especially:

José van Lieshout from the HR team at KWR: thank you for helping me steer through the maze of contracts and Dutch regulations, and for helping make the large number of international research stays possible for me by always finding a solution to the many regulatory hurdles.

To the microbiology lab team at KWR: thank you for providing guidance and one of the most organized labs, I had the chance to work in. After several research stays in other labs, I realize the monumental task it is to keep a lab of such size well coordinated. Always having the right materials and tools available greatly helped getting all my necessary work done quickly and efficiently. You helped me stay in a place of minimal (to non-existant) frustration during my PhD, which as I quickly realized, is not the norm in many other companies and labs.

A special thanks needs to go to **Daniëlle van der Linde** and **Goffe Elsinga**:

Thank you both for your extensive help and constant support in any issues I encountered in the lab. Without you and your experience, the pratical part of this PhD work would have (without a doubt) taken significantly longer. I am still tremendously impressed by your patience with all my questions and your willingness to provide help and guidance in an instance. **Daniëlle**, thank you additionally for making me feel at home in the lab and for the many interesting conversations, which made the time in the lab fly by and very enjoyable!

To **Norbert Kreuzinger, Nicolas Ashbolt** and **Celia Manaia**: thank you for opening your laboratories to me and allowing me to conduct a part of my research within your groups. Research at its best is a collaborative, international endeavour and being a visiting researcher in so many structurally and culturally different, excellent research institutes broadened my experience as a researcher tremendously.

A big, happy thanks goes to my supervisors **Gertjan** and **Luc**! I will call them the dreamteam of Phd supervision. Two very accomplished scientists; they complemented each other perfectly to guide me through the highs and lows of this work. They also allowed me the space to grow as an independent scientist, which not only means providing a near perfect environment for discussing exciting and non-conventional research questions and ideas, but also letting me experiment with possibilities and allowing me to make a mistake or two along the way (which can be the best way to learn and grow).

Luc, I will never forget one of our talks during the middle of my second year, I was not (...am still not and will likely never be) used to not being able to easily juggle my workload, even temporarily. You told me that sometimes it is ok and even important for success to prioritize. So prioritize I did and it has been a complete game changer. Your constant positive support helped to put upcoming difficulties into perspective and made it very easy to take necessary academic risks.

Gertjan, your constructive criticism has been key to becoming an independent and confident researcher. I remember my first conference abstract. I sent you a draft and after not even 30 minutes, I received an email back: "This is not a good abstract." were the only words. Another 2 minutes later, I received a follow-up with a list of things I needed to do better. I implemented the changes and my abstract was accepted without a problem. I just re-read the un-edited abstract in question and have to whole-heartedly agree: it was not a good abstract! © Your way of providing efficient, to-the-point feedback has significantly helped me being critical with my own work, in the best way.

Both of you helped me taking off my "training wheels" confidently, safely and...fast! I cannot overstate the importance of your guidance and support throughout the years and cannot imagine two people who would have been better suited to guide me through this process. I hope you will supervise many more young researchers together and help them grow with this very special combination of freedom and support, but also exigency of academic excellence and independence.

My biggest thank you goes to **my family**: words cannot describe the gratitude I feel for each and every one of you (well, most of the time anyways...). **Mamá**, esta es la tesis doctoral que tu hubieses tenido que hacer. Igual que mio, este trabajo es tuyo.